BODY

# SECTION BL BODY, LOCK & SECURITY SYSTEM

## CONTENTS

SERVICE INFORMATION4	Component Parts a
DTC INDEX       4         INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT U1000 - U1010       4         INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT B2013       4         INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT B2551 - B2563       4         INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT B2590       5         ECM P1610 - P1614       5         BCM B2192 - B2194       5	System Description CAN Communicatio CAN Communicatio Schematic Wiring Diagram - D, Terminal and Refer Work Flow
PRECAUTIONS6	CONSULT-III Funct
Precaution for Supplemental Restraint System (SRS) "AIR BAG" and "SEAT BELT PRE-TEN- SIONER"	Power Supply and ( BCM Check Door Lock a Check Door Lock A Check Door Lock A Check Door Lock A Check Door Lock A
PREPARATION	Check Fuel Lid Ope Door Key Cylinder S
Commercial Service Tool8	INTELLIGENT KEY
SQUEAK AND RATTLE TROUBLE DIAGNO- SIS	Component Parts a tion System Description CAN Communication CAN Communication Schematic
HOOD	Wiring Diagram - I/ł Terminal and Refer Unit Terminal and Refer Terminal and Refer
RADIATOR CORE SUPPORT21 Removal and Installation21	CONSULT-III Funct
FRONT FENDER	KEY) CONSULT-III Funct Trouble Diagnosis \$
POWER DOOR LOCK SYSTEM24	Check CAN Comm

Component Parts and Harness Connector Loca-	F
tion24	
System Description24	
CAN Communication System Description26	G
CAN Communication Unit27	
Schematic	
Wiring Diagram - D/LOCK	
Terminal and Reference Value for BCM	H
Work Flow	
CONSULT-III Function (BCM-DOOR LOCK)	
Trouble Diagnosis Chart by Symptom 33	ΒL
Power Supply and Ground Circuit Inspection for	
BCM 34	
Check Door Lock and Unlock Switch 35	
Check Door Lock Actuator/Driver Side	J
Check Door Lock Actuator/Driver Side	
Check Door Lock Actuator/Passenger Side	
Check Door Lock Actuator/Rear DH	K
Check Door Lock Actuator/Rear RH	
Check Fuel Lid Opener Actuator	
Door Key Cylinder Switch Check40	
TELLIGENT KEY SYSTEM42	
Component Parts and Harness Connector Loca-	
tion	N/
System Description	IV
CAN Communication System Description	
CAN Communication Unit 55	
Schematic 56	Ν
Wiring Diagram - I/KEY- 58	
Terminal and Reference Value for Intelligent Key	
	0
Terminal and Peteranaa Value for PCM	0
Terminal and Reference Value for IDDM E/D	
Terminal and Reference value for IPDIVI E/R	
Trouble Diagnosis Procedure	Ρ
CONSULT-III FUNCTIONS (INTELLIGENT KEY)	
CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-INTELLIGENT	
KEY)	
CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-PANIC ALARM)79	
Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart80	
Check CAN Communication System85	

А

В

С

D

Е

Check Key Slot	87
Check Door Switch	88
Check Trunk Room Lamp Switch	90
Check Door Request Switch	92
Check Trunk Opener Request Switch	94
Check Unlock Sensor	95
Check Intelligent Key Warning Buzzer	97
Check Outside Key Antenna (Driver Side and	
Passenger Side)	98
Check Outside Key Antenna (Trunk Room)	100
Check Inside Key Antenna	101
Check Transmission Range Switch	103
Check Ignition Switch Position	105
Check Remote Keyless Entry Receiver	106
Check Trunk Lid Opener Cancel Switch	109
Check Key Slot Illumination	111
Check Horn Function	112
Check Combination Meter Display Function	112
Check Warning Chime Function	113
Removal and Installation of Intelligent Key Unit	113
Intelligent Key Battery Replacement	113
INTELLIGENT KET STSTEW/ENGINE	
START FUNCTION	115
Component Parts and Harness Connector Loca	-
	115
System Description	116
Operation Description	117
CAN Communication System Description	119

CAN Communication Unit .....119 Schematic ......120 Wiring Diagram - ENG/ST - ......122 Terminal and Reference Value for Intelligent Key Terminal and Reference Value for Steering Lock Terminal and Reference Value for BCM ......136 Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R ......136 Terminal and Reference Value for PDU ......137 CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY) .....139

CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-INTELLIGENT

KEY) ......144 B2013 STRG COMM 1 .....144 B2551 STEERING LOCK UNIT ......147 B2552 INTELLIGENT KEY .....150 B2553 IGN POWER CIRCUIT ......150 B2554 ACC POWER CIRCUIT ......151 B2555 STOP LAMP CIRCUIT ......153 B2556 ENG START SW ......154 B2557 VEHICLE SPEED ......155 B2558 SHIFT POSITION .....157 B2559 PDU .....159 B2560 START POW SUP CIRC ......160 B2562 LOW VOLTAGE .....161 B2563 HI VOLTAGE .....162 B2590 DISCORD BCM-I-KEY ......163

94	Check Remote Keyless Entry Receiver	. 168
)5	Check Key Switch Built in Key Slot	. 169
7	Check NATS Antenna Amp. Built in Key Slot	. 170
	DOOR	172
8	Fitting Adjustment	172
00	Removal and Installation of Front Door	173
)1	Removal and Installation of Rear Door	174
)3	Deer Weetherstrip	. 174
)5		. 175
)6 10	FRONT DOOR LOCK	.177
19	Component Structure	. 177
1 2	Removal and Installation	. 177
2		181
3	Component Structure	191
3	Pemoval and Installation	101
3		. 101
	TRUNK LID	.184
	Fitting Adjustment	. 184
5	Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Assembly	. 185
	Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Stay	. 186
5	Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Lock	. 186
6	Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Striker	. 187
7	Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Weather-	
9	strip	. 188
9	·	
20	TRUNK LID OPENER	.189
22	Component Parts and Harness Connector Loca-	
	tion	. 189
31	System Description	. 189
	Wiring Diagram - TLID	. 191
5	Terminal and Reference Value for BCM	. 193
6	CONSULT-III Function (BCM-TRUNK)	. 193
6	Trouble Diagnosis	. 193
57	5	
8	VEHICLE SECURITY (THEFT WARNING)	
9	SYSTEM	.197
-	Component Parts and Harness Connector Loca-	
4	tion	. 197
4	System Description	. 198
7	CAN Communication System Description	. 201
50	CAN Communication Unit	. 201
;0 ;0	Schematic	. 202
.1	Wiring Diagram - VEHSEC	. 203
20 20	Terminal and Reference Value for BCM	. 209
· 4	Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R	. 209
94 • <del>-</del>	CONSULT-III Function (BCM-THEFT ALM)	209
5	Trouble Diagnosis Work Flow	211
o/	Preliminary Check	211
9	Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart	212
50	Diagnosis Procedure 1	212
51	Diagnosis Procedure 2	212
62	Diagnosis Procedure 2	. 217
63	Diagnosis Procedure 4	. 218
63	Diagnosis Procedure 4	. 218
<b>;</b> 4	มลฐาเบราร ศายแลนแล ว	. 219
DI	_0	
DL	2000 M34	5/1/1/

Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart 3 ..... 164 Check CAN Communication System ...... 164 Check Push-Button Ignition Switch ...... 165 Check Inside Key Antenna ...... 166

<b>Diagnosis Procedure 6</b>	
<b>Diagnosis Procedure 7</b>	

### IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYS-

ГЕМ-NATS)220	0
Component Parts and Harness Connector Loca-	
tion	0
System Description	1
Operation Description222	2
ECM Re-Communicating Function 224	4
Schematic	5
Wiring Diagram - NATS	7
Terminal and Reference Value for Intelligent Key	
Unit	5
Terminal and Reference Value for Steering Lock	
Unit	7
Terminal and Reference Value for BCM238	8
Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R 238	8
Terminal and Reference Value for PDU239	9
CONSULT-III Functions (ECM)240	0
CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)240	0
CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY) 24	1
Work Flow24	1
Symptom Chart for Security Indicator243	3

Check Security Indicator Harness	A
P1614 CHAIN OF IMMU-KEY246 Removal and Installation of Key Slot248	
INTEGRATED HOMELINK TRANSMITTER 249	С
Wiring Diagram - TRNSCV249 Trouble Diagnosis249	
BODY REPAIR252	D
BODY REPAIR	D
BODY REPAIR	
BODY REPAIR252Body Exterior Paint Color252Body Component Parts253Corrosion Protection256	E
BODY REPAIR252Body Exterior Paint Color252Body Component Parts253Corrosion Protection256Body Sealing258	E
BODY REPAIR252Body Exterior Paint Color252Body Component Parts253Corrosion Protection256Body Sealing258Body Construction262	E
BODY REPAIR252Body Exterior Paint Color252Body Component Parts253Corrosion Protection256Body Sealing258Body Construction262Body Alignment262	E
BODY REPAIR252Body Exterior Paint Color252Body Component Parts253Corrosion Protection256Body Sealing258Body Construction262Body Alignment262Handling Precaution for Plastics273Precaution in Repairing High Strength Steel276Foam Repair279	E

Н

ΒL

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## SERVICE INFORMATION DTC INDEX

## INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT U1000 - U1010

INFOID:000000004159294

CONSULT display	Description	Action to take/Reference page
U1000: CAN COMM CIRCUIT	Malfunction is detected in CAN communication.	<u>BL-85</u>
U1010: CONTROL UNIT	Malfunction is detected in CAN communication caused by Intelli- gent Key unit internal malfunction.	<u>BL-85</u>

## **INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT B2013**

CONSULT displayDescriptionAction to take/Reference<br/>pageB2013: STRG COMM 1Malfunction is detected in communication of Intelligent Key unit<br/>and steering lock unitBL-144

## INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT B2551 - B2563

INFOID:000000004159296

INFOID:000000004159295

CONSULT display	Description	Action to take/Reference page
B2551: STEERING LOCK UNIT	Even if the communication with steering lock unit is normally per- formed, the steering lock is malfunctioning.	BL-147
B2552: INTELLIGENT KEY	Internal malfunction is detected in Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-150</u>
B2553: IGN POWER CIRCUIT	It continues for 2 seconds or more that ON power supply input to In- telligent Key unit is excessively low when the power supply position is in ON position.	BL-150
B2554: ACC POWER CIRCUIT	It continues for 2 seconds or more that ON power supply input to In- telligent Key unit is excessively low when the power supply position is in Acc or ON position.	BL-151
B2555: STOP LAMP CIRCUIT	5V or less is detected at both the stop lamp switch signal input circuit that is input to Intelligent Key unit and the monitor input before stop lamp switch.	BL-153
B2556: ENG START SW	Condition that push-button ignition switch is pushed is detected con- tinuously for 100 seconds or more.	BL-154
B2557: VEHICLE SPEED	Some differences occur on one or more vehicle speed input of Intel- ligent Key unit.	BL-155
B2558: SHIFT POSITION	<ul> <li>There is a difference between the shift position input via CAN communication and the P position input by detente switch.</li> <li>Vehicle speed (5 km/h or more) is detected continuously for 10 seconds of more even if the shift position is detected in P position when the power supply position is in ON position.</li> </ul>	BL-157
B2559: PDU	Internal malfunction is detected in PDU.	<u>BL-159</u>
B2560: START POW SUP CIRC	Though the engine start operation is not performed, starter relay in IPDM E/R is on.	BL-160
B2562: LOW VOLTAGE	Battery power supply input to Intelligent Key unit (8.8V or less) is de- tected continuously for 1.5 seconds or more.	BL-161
B2563: HI VOLTAGE	Battery power supply input to Intelligent Key unit (18V or more) is de- tected continuously for 90 seconds or more.	BL-162

## **DTC INDEX**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## **INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT B2590**

INFOID:000000004159297

INFOID:000000004159298

А

В

С

CONSULT display	Description	Action to take/Reference page
B2590: NATS MALFUNCTION	Malfunction is detected in immobilizer system.	<u>BL-241</u>

## ECM P1610 - P1614

CONSULT display	Description	Action to take/Reference page	D
P1610: LOCK MODE	<ul> <li>When the starting operation is carried out 5 or more times consecutively under the following conditions, IVIS(NATS) will shift the mode to prevent the engine start.</li> <li>unregistered ignition key is used (without intelligent key system)</li> <li>BCM or ECM malfunctioning</li> </ul>	<u>BL-246</u>	E
P1611: ID DISCORD, IMM-ECM	P1611 has the same meaning as B2192.	<u>BL-245</u>	F
P1612: CHAIN OF ECM-IMMU	P1612 has the same meaning as B2193.	<u>BL-244</u>	
P1614: CHAIN OF IMMU-KEY	BCM cannot receive the key ID signal.	<u>BL-246</u>	
			G

## BCM B2192 - B2194

INFOID:000000004159299

CONSULT display	Description	Action to take/Reference page	F
B2192: ID DISCORD BCM-ECM	The ID verification results between BCM and ECM are NG. The reg- istration is necessary.	<u>BL-245</u>	BL
B2193: CHAIN OF BCM-ECM	Inactive communication between BCM and ECM.	<u>BL-244</u>	
B2194: DISCORD BCM-I-KEY	B2194 has the same meaning as B2590.	<u>BL-245</u>	

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

J

Н

## PRECAUTIONS

## Precaution for Supplemental Restraint System (SRS) "AIR BAG" and "SEAT BELT PRE-TENSIONER"

INEOID:000000005213748

The Supplemental Restraint System such as "AIR BAG" and "SEAT BELT PRE-TENSIONER", used along with a front seat belt, helps to reduce the risk or severity of injury to the driver and front passenger for certain types of collision. This system includes seat belt switch inputs and dual stage front air bag modules. The SRS system uses the seat belt switches to determine the front air bag deployment, and may only deploy one front air bag, depending on the severity of a collision and whether the front occupants are belted or unbelted. Information necessary to service the system safely is included in the "SUPPLEMENTAL RESTRAINT SYS-TEM" and "SEAT BELTS" of this Service Manual.

#### WARNING:

- To avoid rendering the SRS inoperative, which could increase the risk of personal injury or death in the event of a collision which would result in air bag inflation, all maintenance must be performed by an authorized NISSAN/INFINITI dealer.
- Improper maintenance, including incorrect removal and installation of the SRS, can lead to personal injury caused by unintentional activation of the system. For removal of Spiral Cable and Air Bag Module, see the "SUPPLEMENTAL RESTRAINT SYSTEM".
- Do not use electrical test equipment on any circuit related to the SRS unless instructed to in this Service Manual. SRS wiring harnesses can be identified by yellow and/or orange harnesses or harness connectors.

PRECAUTIONS WHEN USING POWER TOOLS (AIR OR ELECTRIC) AND HAMMERS

#### WARNING:

- When working near the Air Bag Diagnosis Sensor Unit or other Air Bag System sensors with the ignition ON or engine running, DO NOT use air or electric power tools or strike near the sensor(s) with a hammer. Heavy vibration could activate the sensor(s) and deploy the air bag(s), possibly causing serious injury.
- When using air or electric power tools or hammers, always switch the ignition OFF, disconnect the battery, and wait at least 3 minutes before performing any service.

#### Precaution for Procedure without Cowl Top Cover

INFOID:000000004493257

When performing the procedure after removing cowl top cover, cover the lower end of windshield with urethane, etc.

## $\langle \mathcal{A} \rangle$ PIIB3706

#### Precaution Necessary for Steering Wheel Rotation after Battery Disconnect

INFOID:000000004468830

#### NOTE:

- Before removing and installing any control units, first turn the push-button ignition switch to the LOCK position, then disconnect both battery cables.
- After finishing work, confirm that all control unit connectors are connected properly, then re-connect both battery cables.
- Always use CONSULT-III to perform self-diagnosis as a part of each function inspection after finishing work. If a DTC is detected, perform trouble diagnosis according to self-diagnosis results.

For vehicle with steering lock unit, if the battery is disconnected or discharged, the steering wheel will lock and cannot be turned.

If turning the steering wheel is required with the battery disconnected or discharged, follow the operation procedure below before starting the repair operation.

## PRECAUTIONS

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **OPERATION PROCEDURE**

- Connect both battery cables.
   NOTE: Supply power using jumper cables if battery is discharged.
- 2. Turn the push-button ignition switch to ACC position. (At this time, the steering lock will be released.)
- 3. Disconnect both battery cables. The steering lock will remain released with both battery cables disconnected and the steering wheel can be turned.
- 4. Perform the necessary repair operation.
- 5. When the repair work is completed, re-connect both battery cables. With the brake pedal released, turn the push-button ignition switch from ACC position to ON position, then to LOCK position. (The steering wheel will lock when the push-button ignition switch is turned to LOCK position.)
- 6. Perform self-diagnosis check of all control units using CONSULT-III.

#### Precaution for Work

- After removing and installing the opening/closing parts, be sure to carry out fitting adjustments to check their operational.
- Check the lubrication level, damage, and wear of each part. If necessary, grease or replace it.

А

В

С

Ε

F

INFOID:000000004159303

ΒL

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ρ

## PREPARATION

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## PREPARATION

## Special Service Tool

INFOID:000000004159304

The actual shapes of Kent-Moore tools may differ from those of special service tools illustrated here.

To (K To	ool number Kent-Moore No.) ool name		Description
(J. Cł	-39570) hassis ear	SIIA0993E	Locating the noise
(J- NI tle	-43980) ISSAN Squeak and Rat- e Kit	SIIA0994E	Repairing the cause of noise
Com	mercial Service Tool		INFOID:000000004159305
То	ool name		Description
Er	ngine ear	SIIA0995E	Locating the noise
Re	emover tool	PIB7923J	Remove the clips, pawls, and metal clips
Pc	ower tool	PIIB1407E	

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## SQUEAK AND RATTLE TROUBLE DIAGNOSIS

#### Work Flow



#### CUSTOMER INTERVIEW

Interview the customer if possible, to determine the conditions that exist when the noise occurs. Use the Diagnostic Worksheet during the interview to document the facts and conditions when the noise occurs and any of customer's comments; refer to <u>BL-13</u>, "<u>Diagnostic Worksheet</u>". This information is necessary to duplicate the conditions that exist when the noise occurs.

- The customer may not be able to provide a detailed description or the location of the noise. Attempt to obtain all the facts and conditions that exist when the noise occurs (or does not occur).
- If there is more than one noise in the vehicle, perform a diagnosis and repair the noise that the customer is
  concerned about. This can be accomplished by performing a cruise test on the vehicle with the customer.
- After identifying the type of noise, isolate the noise in terms of its characteristics. The noise characteristics are provided so the customer, service adviser and technician are all speaking the same language when defining the noise.
- Squeak (Like tennis shoes on a clean floor)
   Squeak characteristics include the light contact/fast movement/brought on by road conditions/hard surfaces
   higher pitch noise/softer surfaces = lower pitch noises/edge to surface = chirping
- Creak (Like walking on an old wooden floor)
   Creak characteristics include firm contact/slow movement/twisting with a rotational movement/pitch dependent on materials/often brought on by activity.
- Rattle (Like shaking a baby rattle) Rattle characteristics include the fast repeated contact/vibration or similar movement/loose parts/missing clip or fastener/incorrect clearance.
- Knock (Like a knock on a door)
   Knock characteristics include hollow sounding/sometimes repeating/often brought on by driver action.
- Tick (Like a clock second hand)
   Tick characteristics include gentle contacting of light materials/loose components/can be caused by driver action or road conditions.
- Thump (Heavy, muffled knock noise) Thump characteristics include softer knock/dead sound often brought on by activity.
- Buzz (Like a bumblebee)
   Buzz characteristics include high frequency rattle/firm contact.
- Often the degree of acceptable noise level will vary depending up on the person. A noise that you may judge as acceptable may be very irritating to the customer.
- Weather conditions, especially humidity and temperature, may have a great effect on noise level.

#### DUPLICATE THE NOISE AND TEST DRIVE

If possible, drive the vehicle with the customer until the noise is duplicated. Note any additional information on the Diagnostic Worksheet regarding the conditions or location of the noise. This information can be used to duplicate the same conditions when you confirm the repair.

А

E

ΒL

Ν

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

If the noise can be duplicated easily during the test drive, to help identify the source of the noise, try to duplicate the noise with the vehicle stopped by doing one or all of the following:

- 1) Close a door.
- 2) Tap or push/pull around the area where the noise appears to be coming from.
- 3) Rev the engine.
- 4) Use a floor jack to recreate vehicle "twist".
- 5) At idle, apply engine load (electrical load, half-clutch on M/T models, drive position on A/T models).
- 6) Raise the vehicle on a hoist and hit a tire with a rubber hammer.
- Drive the vehicle and attempt to duplicate the conditions the customer states exist when the noise occurs.
- If it is difficult to duplicate the noise, drive the vehicle slowly on an undulating or rough road to stress the vehicle body.

#### CHECK RELATED SERVICE BULLETINS

After verifying the customer concern or symptom, check ASIST for Technical Service Bulletins (TSBs) related to that concern or symptom.

If a TSB relates to the symptom, follow the procedure to repair the noise.

#### LOCATE THE NOISE AND IDENTIFY THE ROOT CAUSE

- 1. Narrow down the noise to a general area. To help pinpoint the source of the noise, use a listening tool (Chassis Ear: J-39570, Engine Ear and mechanics stethoscope).
- 2. Narrow down the noise to a more specific area and identify the cause of the noise by:
- Removing the components in the area that you suspect the noise is coming from. Do not use too much force when removing clips and fasteners, otherwise clips and fastener can be broken or lost during the repair, resulting in the creation of new noise.
- Tapping or pushing/pulling the component that you suspect is causing the noise.
   Do not tap or push/pull the component with excessive force, otherwise the noise will be eliminated only temporarily.
- Feeling for a vibration with your hand by touching the component(s) that you suspect is (are) causing the noise.
- Placing a piece of paper between components that you suspect are causing the noise.
- Looking for loose components and contact marks.

Refer to <u>BL-11, "Inspection Procedure"</u>.

#### REPAIR THE CAUSE

- If the cause is a loose component, tighten the component securely.
- If the cause is insufficient clearance between components:
- Separate components by repositioning or loosening and retightening the component, if possible.
- Insulate components with a suitable insulator such as urethane pads, foam blocks, felt cloth tape or urethane tape. A Nissan Squeak and Rattle Kit (J-43980) is available through your authorized Nissan Parts Department.

#### CAUTION:

## Do not use excessive force as many components are constructed of plastic and may be damaged. NOTE:

Always check with the Parts Department for the latest parts information.

The following materials are contained in the Nissan Squeak and Rattle Kit (J-43980). Each item can be ordered separately as needed.

URETHANE PADS [1.5 mm (0.059 in) thick]

Insulates connectors, harness, etc.

76268-9E005: 100  $\times$  135 mm (3.94  $\times$  5.31 in)/76884-71L01: 60  $\times$  85 mm (2.36  $\times$  3.35 in)/76884-71L02:15  $\times$  25 mm (0.59  $\times$  0.98 in)

INSULATOR (Foam blocks)

Insulates components from contact. Can be used to fill space behind a panel.

73982-9E000: 45 mm (1.77 in) thick,  $50 \times 50$  mm (1.97  $\times$  1.97 in)/73982-

50Y00: 10 mm (0.39 in) thick,  $50 \times 50$  mm (1.97  $\times$  1.97 in)

INSULATOR (Light foam block)

80845-71L00: 30 mm (1.18 in) thick,  $30 \times 50$  mm (1.18  $\times$  1.97in)

FELT CLOTHTAPE

Used to insulate where movement does not occur. Ideal for instrument panel applications. 68370-4B000: 15  $\times$  25 mm (0.59  $\times$  0.98 in) pad/68239-13E00: 5 mm (0.20 in) wide tape roll The following materials, not found in the kit, can also be used to repair squeaks and rattles.

UHMW (TEFLON) TAPE

< S	ERVICE INFORMATION >	
Ins	ulates where slight movement is present. Ideal for instrument panel applications.	٨
Use	ed in place of UHMW tape that will be visible or not fit. Will only last a few months. ICONE SPRAY	A
Use	e when grease cannot be applied.	В
Use	e to eliminate movement.	
СС	NFIRM THE REPAIR	0
Cor cor	nfirm that the cause of a noise is repaired by test driving the vehicle.Operate the vehicle under the same aditions as when the noise originally occurred. Refer to the notes on the Diagnostic Worksheet.	C
Ins	spection Procedure	D
Re	fer to Table of Contents for specific component removal and installationinformation.	
INS	STRUMENT PANEL	Ε
Мо	st incidents are caused by contact and movement between:	
1.	The cluster lid A and instrument panel	
2.	Acrylic lens and combination meter housing	F
3.	Instrument panel to front pillar garnish	
4.	Instrument panel to windshield	0
5.	Instrument panel mounting pins	G
6.	Wiring harnesses behind the combination meter	
7.	A/C defroster duct and duct joint	Н
	These incidents can usually be located by tapping or moving the components to duplicate the noise or by	
	pressing on the components while driving to stop the noise. Most of these incidents can be repaired by applying felt cloth tape or silicon spray (in hard to reach areas). Urethane pads can be used to insulate	
	wiring harness.	BL
	Do not use silicone spray to isolate a squeak or rattle. If you saturate the area with silicone, you will not be able to receive the remain	
~-		J
CE	NTER CONSOLE	
Co	mponents to pay attention to include:	V
1.	Shifter assembly cover to finisher	n
2.	A/C control unit and cluster lid C	
3.	Wiring harnesses behind audio and A/C control unit	I
The	e instrument panel repair and isolation procedures also apply to thecenter console.	
DO	ORS	
Pay	/ attention to the:	M
1.	Finisher and inner panel making a slapping noise	
2.	Inside handle escutcheon to door finisher	
3.	Wiring harnesses tapping	N
4.	Door striker out of alignment causing a popping noise on startsand stops	
Tap ma the	pping or moving the components or pressing on them while driving to duplicate the conditions can isolate ny of these incidents. You can usually insulate the areas with felt cloth tape or insulator foam blocks from Nissan Squeak and Rattle Kit (J-43980) to repair the noise.	0
TR	UNK	
Tru In a	nk noises are often caused by a loose jack or loose items put intothe trunk by the owner. addition look for:	Ρ
1.	Trunk lid dumpers out of adjustment	

- 3. The trunk lid torsion bars knocking together
- 4. A loose license plate or bracket

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Most of these incidents can be repaired by adjusting, securing or insulating the item(s) or component(s) causing the noise.

#### SUNROOF/HEADLINING

Noises in the sunroof/headlining area can often be traced to one of the following:

- 1. Sunroof lid, rail, linkage or seals making a rattle or light knockingnoise
- 2. Sunvisor shaft shaking in the holder
- 3. Front or rear windshield touching headlining and squeaking

Again, pressing on the components to stop the noise while duplicating the conditions can isolate most of these incidents. Repairs usually consist insulating with felt cloth tape.

#### SEATS

When isolating seat noise it's important to note the position the seatis in and the load placed on the seat when the noise is present. These conditions hould be duplicated when verifying and isolating the cause of the noise.

Cause of seat noise include:

- 1. Headrest rods and holder
- 2. A squeak between the seat pad cushion and frame
- 3. The rear seatback lock and bracket

These noises can be isolated by moving or pressing on the suspected components while duplicating the conditions under which the noise occurs. Most of these incidents can be repaired by repositioning the component orapplying urethane tape to the contact area.

#### **UNDERHOOD**

Some interior noise may be caused by components under the hood or on the engine wall. The noise is then transmitted into the passenger compartment.

Causes of transmitted underhood noise include:

- 1. Any component mounted to the engine wall
- 2. Components that pass through the engine wall
- 3. Engine wall mounts and connectors
- 4. Loose radiator mounting pins
- 5. Hood bumpers out of adjustment
- 6. Hood striker out of adjustment

These noises can be difficult to isolate since they cannot be reached from the interior of the vehicle. The best method is to secure, move or insulate one component at a time and test drive the vehicle. Also, engine RPM or load can be changed to isolate the noise. Repairs can usually be made by moving, adjusting, securing, or insulating the component causing the noise.

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

**Diagnostic Worksheet** 



**SQUEAK & RATTLE DIAGNOSTIC WORKSHEET** 

#### Dear Infiniti Customer:

We are concerned about your satisfaction with your Infiniti vehicle. Repairing a squeak or rattle sometimes can be very difficult. To help us fix your Infiniti right the first time, please take a moment to note the area of the vehicle where the squeak or rattle occurs and under what conditions. You may be asked to take a test drive with a service consultant or technician to ensure we confirm the noise you are hearing.

#### I. WHERE DOES THE NOISE COME FROM? (circle the area of the vehicle)

The illustrations are for reference only, and may not reflect the actual configuration of your vehicle.



Continue to page 2 of the worksheet and briefly describe the location of the noise or rattle. In addition, please indicate the conditions which are present when the noise occurs.

PIIB8741E

INFOID:000000004159308

А

В

D

Е

F

Н

ΒL

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### SQUEAK & RATTLE DIAGNOSTIC WORKSHEET - page 2

Briefly describe the location where the noise occurs:

II. WHEN DOES IT OCCUR? (please check the boxes that apply)				
<ul> <li>anytime</li> <li>1st time in the morning</li> <li>anytime it is cald outside</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>after sitting out in the rain</li> <li>when it is raining or wet</li> <li>drugs dusty conditions</li> </ul>			
only when it is hot outside	other:			
III. WHEN DRIVING:	IV. WHAT TYPE OF NOISE			
<ul> <li>through driveways</li> <li>over rough roads</li> <li>over speed bumps</li> <li>only about mph</li> <li>on acceleration</li> <li>coming to a stop</li> <li>on turns: left, right or either (circle)</li> <li>with passengers or cargo</li> <li>other:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>squeak (like tennis shoes on a clean floor)</li> <li>creak (like walking on an old wooden floor)</li> <li>rattle (like shaking a baby rattle)</li> <li>knock (like a knock at the door)</li> <li>tick (like a clock second hand)</li> <li>thump (heavy, muffled knock noise)</li> <li>buzz (like a bumble bee)</li> </ul>			
after driving miles or minu	tes			

#### TO BE COMPLETED BY DEALERSHIP PERSONNEL

**Test Drive Notes:** 

	YES	NO	Initials of person performing
Vehicle test driven with customer - Noise verified on test drive - Noise source located and repaired - Follow up test drive performed to confirm repair			
VIN: Cus	tomer Na	me:	

## < SERVICE INFORMATION > HOOD

## **Fitting Adjustment**

INFOID:000000004159309

А



1. Check the clearance and the surface height between the hood and each part by visual and tactile feeling. (Fitting standard dimension in the table below should be satisfied.)

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	Parts		Standard	Right/left clearance (MAX)
A A	Е	Clearance	0.5 – 1.2 (0.002 - 0.047)	_
A-A	F	Surface height	0.5 – 2.5 (0.002 - 0.098)	_
D D	G	Clearance	1.5 – 5.5 (0.059 – 0.217)	2.5 (0.098)
D-D	Н	Surface height	-1.0 - 3.0 (-0.039 - 0.118)	2.0 (0.079)
0.0	I	Clearance	1.5 – 5.5 (0.059 – 0.217)	2.0 (0.079)
0-0	J	Surface height	-1.0 - 3.0 (-0.039 - 0.118)	2.0 (0.079)
D_D	K	Clearance	2.0 - 5.0 (0.079 - 0.197)	1.5 (0.059)
0-0	L	Surface height	-1.0 - 1.0 (-0.04 - 0.04)	1.5 (0.059)

\* Unit: mm (in)

- 2. In case out of specification, adjust them according to the procedures shown below.
- 3. Remove the hood lock and adjust the height by rotating the bumper rubber until the hood becomes 1.0 to1.5 mm (0.039 to 0.059 in) lower than the fender.



- 4. Temporarily tighten the hood lock, and position by engaging it with the hood striker. Check the lock and striker for looseness and adjust the clearance and evenness by the striker to satisfy the specification.
- 5. Adjust A and B shown in the figure to the following value with hood's own weight by dropping it from approx. 200 mm (7.874 in) height or the hood pressed lightly (approx. 29 N (3 kg)).



3.

Secondary striker

1. Hood striker

- 2. Primary latch
- 4. Secondary latch

```
A : 20 mm (0.787 in)
B : 6.8 mm (0.268 in)
```

6. After adjustment tighten lock bolts to the specified torque.

#### HOOD

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## Removal and Installation of Hood Assembly

INFOID:000000004159310

А

В

D

Ε

F

Н

ΒL

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν



1. Hood stay

Hood insulator

Hood hinge

Hood front sealing rubber

- 3. Hood assembly
- 6. Hood lock assembly

Refer to GI-9, "Component" for symbols in the figure.

#### REMOVAL

4.

Support the hood lock assembly with a proper material to pre-1. vent it from falling.

#### WARNING:

Body injury may occur if no supporting rod is holding the hood open when removing the hood stay.

5.

- JMKIA1923ZZ
- 2. Remove stud balls on the hood stays at the hood side.
- Remove the hinge mounting nuts on the hood to remove the 3. hood assembly. **CAUTION:**

Operate with two workers, because of its heavy weight.



INSTALLETION

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

Install in the reverse order of removal.

#### CAUTION:

- Before installing hood hinge, apply anticorrosive agent onto the mounting surface of the vehicle body.
- After installing, perform hood fitting adjustment. Refer to <u>BL-15, "Fitting Adjustment"</u>.

Removal and Installation of Hood Lock Control

INFOID:000000004159311



1. Hood lock cable

2. Hood lock assembly

3. Hood ledge reinforcement

4. Clip

#### REMOVAL

- 1. Remove the front grill. Refer to EI-28.
- 2. Remove the fender protector. Refer to EI-32.
- 3. Disconnect hood lock switch harness connector.







## HOOD

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

5. Disconnect the hood lock cable from the hood lock, and clip it from the hood ledge.



- 6. Remove the mounting screws with power tool, and remove the hood opener.
- Remove the grommet on the dash board, and pull the hood lock cable toward the passenger compartment. CAUTION:

#### While pulling, be careful not to damage (peeling) the outside of the hood lock cable.

#### INSTALLATION

Pull the hood lock cable through the panel hole to the engine compartment.
 CAUTION:
 Be careful not to bend the cable too much, keeping the

radius 100 mm (3.937 in) or more.

- 2. Check that the cable is not offset from the positioning grommet, and push the grommet into the panel hole securely.
- 3. Apply the sealant to the grommet (at \* mark) properly.



4. Install while pulling hood lock cable.

Hood Lock Control Inspection

- 5. Install the hood lock cable securely to the lock.
- Install hood lock assembly. CAUTION:
  - After installing, hood fitting adjustment. Refer to <u>BL-15,</u> <u>"Fitting Adjustment"</u>.
  - After installing, the check the hood lock control inspection Refer to <u>BL-19, "Hood Lock Control Inspection"</u>.



INFOID:000000004159312

#### CAUTION:

#### If the hood lock cable is bent or deformed, replace it.

1. Check that the secondary latch is properly engaged with the secondary striker (B: 6.8 mm (0.268 in) shown in the figure) with hood's own weight.

Ρ

А

В

D

Е

F

Н

ΒL

J

### HOOD

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



2. Primary latch 3. Secondary striker

4. Secondary latch

1.

- 2. While operating the hood opener, carefully check that the front end of the hood is raised by approx. 20 mm (0.787 in). Also check that the hood opener returns to the original position.
- 3. Check that the hood opener operating is 294 N (30 kg) or below.
- 4. Install as static closing face of hood is 392 – 441 N·m (35– 44 kg-m).
- 5. Check the hood lock lubrication condition. If necessary, apply "body grease" to the points shown in the figure.



#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## RADIATOR CORE SUPPORT

## **Removal and Installation**

INFOID:000000004159313

А

В

D

F

Н

ΒL

Κ

L

Μ

Ν



- Headlamp (RH) 1.
- Air guide (RH) 4.
- 7. Radiator core support side (LH)
- 10. Radiator core support center
- 13. Power steering tube assembly
- 5. Horn (High)
- 8. Horn (Low)
- 11. Upper radiator bracket (LH)
- 6. Air guide (LH)
- 9. Headlamp (LH)
- 12. Upper radiator bracket (RH)

Ρ

- REMOVAL
- Remove air duct. Refer to EM-17, "Removal and Installation" (VQ35HR models) or EM-172, "Removal 1. and Installation" (VK45DE models).
- Remove front bumper and bumper reinforcement. Refer to EI-14. "STANDARD TYPE : Removal and 2. Installation" (STANDARD TYPE) or EI-18. "SPORTS TYPE : Removal and Installation" (SPORTS TYPE).
- Remove headlamp (LH/RH). Refer to LT-33, "Removal and Installation" (FOR USA) or LT-64, "Removal 3. and Installation" (FOR CANADA).
- 4. Remove hood lock assembly, then remove hood lock cable. Refer to <u>BL-18</u>, "Removal and Installation of Hood Lock Control".
- Remove washer tank. Refer to WW-35, "Removal and Installation of Washer Tank". 5.
- 6. Remove ambient sensor. Refer to ATC-110, "Removal and Installation".

## **RADIATOR CORE SUPPORT**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- 7. Remove crash zone sensor. Refer to SRS-42. "Removal and Installation".
- 8. Remove air guide (LH/RH).
- 9. Remove power steering tube assembly. Refer to <u>PS-36, "Removal and Installation"</u>.
- 10. Remove horn (High/Low). Refer to WW-42, "Removal and Installation".
- 11. Remove mounting harness clip on radiator core support assembly, the harness is separate.
- 12. Remove ICC sensor integrated unit. Refer to ACS-70, "ICC Sensor Integrated Unit".
- 13. Remove upper radiator bracket (LH/RH) with power tool.
- 14. Remove radiator core support side with power tool.







15. Remove radiator core support side (LH/RH) with power tool.

Put a wooden block under the radiator assembly to prevent

INSTALLATION Install in the reverse order of removal.

16. Remove radiator core support center.

the radiator assembly from falling.

**CAUTION:** 

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## FRONT FENDER

## Removal and Installation

А



- Ρ

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

## POWER DOOR LOCK SYSTEM

## **Component Parts and Harness Connector Location**

INFOID:000000004159315



- BCM M1, M2, M3 (View with instru-1. ment lower panel RH removed)
- Power window main switch (door lock 5. 4. and unlock switch) D10, D11
- Front door switch (driver side) B11 7.

## 8.

- Front door lock actuator (Driver side) D14
- Fuel lid lock actuator B477
- Rear door switch LH B53
- Rear door lock actuator LH D59 3.
- Unified meter and A/C amp. M65 6.
- A/T assembly F42 9.

INFOID:000000004159316

System Description

Power is supplied at all times

• through 50A fusible link (letter **F**, located in the fuse and fusible link box).

2.

- to BCM terminal 55,
- through 10A fuse [No. 21, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- to BCM terminal 42.
- When ignition switch is in ACC or ON position, power is supplied
- through 10A fuse [No. 6, located in fuse block (J/B)]
- to BCM terminal 11.
- When ignition switch is in ON or START position, power is supplied
- through 15A fuse [No. 1, located in fuse block (J/B)]
- to BCM terminal 38.

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Ground is supplied	
• to BCM terminal 52	A
<ul> <li>Inrough body grounds M16 and M70.</li> <li>When the deer is leaked or unleaked with newer window main switch (deer leak and unleak switch), ground is</li> </ul>	
supplied	
• to CPU of power window main switch	В
<ul> <li>through nower window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 17</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>through power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 17</li> <li>through grounds M16 and M70</li> </ul>	
Then power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) operation signal is sent	C
<ul> <li>to BCM terminal 22</li> </ul>	0
<ul> <li>from power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 14</li> </ul>	
When the door is locked or unlocked with power window sub-switch (front passenger side) (door lock and	_
unlock switch), ground is supplied	D
• to CPU of power window sub-switch	
<ul> <li>through power window sub-switch (front passenger side) (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 11</li> </ul>	
• through grounds M16 and M70.	Ε
Then power window sub-switch (front passenger side) (door lock and unlock switch) operation signal is sent	
to BCM terminal 22	
<ul> <li>from power window sub-switch (front passenger side) (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 16.</li> </ul>	F
When the door is locked with front door key cylinder switch (driver side), ground is supplied	1
<ul> <li>to CPU of power window main switch</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>through power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 4</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>through front door key cylinder switch (driver side) terminals 6 and 4</li> </ul>	G
<ul> <li>through grounds M16 and M70.</li> </ul>	
Then front door key cylinder switch (driver side) operation signal (lock) is sent	
to BCM terminal 22	Н
<ul> <li>from power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 14</li> </ul>	
When the door is unlocked with front door key cylinder switch (driver side), ground is supplied	
• to CPU of power window main switch	RI
• through power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 6	DL
• through front door key cylinder switch (driver side) terminals 5 and 4	
<ul> <li>Inrough grounds M16 and M70.</li> <li>Then front door key evided a writeb (driver eide) energation eignel (unlock) is cont.</li> </ul>	
a to DCM terminal 22	J
<ul> <li>IO BOW terminal 22</li> <li>from power window main switch (deer look and unlook switch) terminal 14</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Itom power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 14</li> <li>PCM is connected to power window main switch and power window sub switch as sorial link.</li> </ul>	
Down's connected to power window main switch and power window sub-switch as senal link.	Κ
DOOR LOCK ACTUATOR OPERATION	
When door is locked with door lock and unlock switch, all door lock actuator is locked. Ground is supplied	
to BCM terminal 50	I.
<ul> <li>through each door lock actuator terminals 2 and 1</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>through BCM terminals 44 (driver side), 70 (passenger side) and 51 (rear door).</li> </ul>	
When door is unlocked with door lock and unlock switch, all door lock actuator is unlocked. Ground is supplied	
<ul> <li>to BCM terminals 44 (driver side), 70 (passenger side) and 51 (rear door)</li> </ul>	M
<ul> <li>through each door lock actuator terminals 1 and 2</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>through BCM terminal 50.</li> </ul>	
ΕΙΕΙ ΤΙΟ OPERATION	Ν
When dear is lacked with dear lack and unlack switch, fuel lid lack actuator is lacked. Ground is supplied	
• to BCM terminal 60	
<ul> <li>through fuel lid lock actuator terminals 2 and 1</li> </ul>	$\bigcirc$
through RCM terminal 44	0
When door is unlocked with door lock and unlock switch fuel lid lock actuator is unlocked. Ground is supplied	
• to BCM terminal 44	
<ul> <li>through fuel lid lock actuator terminals 1 and 2</li> </ul>	Ρ
• through BCM terminal 69.	
In this condition, fuel lid can be opened if it is pushed.	
UU I LINE	

Functions Available by Operating the Door Lock and Unlock Switches on Driver's Door and Passenger's Door

• Interlocked with the locking operation of door lock and unlock switch, door lock actuators of all doors and fuel lid lock actuator are locked.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

• Interlocked with the unlocking operation of door lock and unlock switch, door lock actuators of all doors and fuel lid lock actuator are unlocked.

Functions Available by Operating the Key Cylinder Switch on Driver's Door

• Interlocked with the locking operation of door key cylinder, door lock actuators of all doors and fuel lid lock actuator are locked.

Selective Unlock Operation

- When door key cylinder is unlocked, door lock actuator driver side and fuel lid lock actuator are unlocked.
- When door key cylinder is unlocked for the second time within 5 seconds after the first operation, door lock actuators on all doors are unlocked.

Select unlock operation mode can be changed using "SELECTIVE UNLOCK FUNCTION" mode in "WORK SUPPORT". Refer to <u>BL-74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)"</u>.

Key Reminder Door System Refer to <u>BL-44, "System Description"</u>.

#### AUTOMATIC DOOR LOCK/UNLOCK FUNCTION (LOCK OPERATION)

Vehicle Speed Sensing Auto Door Lock

All doors are locked when the vehicle speed reaches 15 MPH (24 km/h) or more.

BCM outputs the lock signal to all door lock actuators when it detects that the ignition switch is turned ON, all doors are closed and the vehicle speed received from the unified meter and A/C amp. via CAN communication becomes 24 km/h (15 miles) or more.

Setting change of Automatic Door Lock/Unlock Function

The automatic door lock function ON/OFF can be switched by performing the following operation.

- 1. Close all doors (door switch OFF)
- 2. Turn ignition switch ON
- 3. Press and hold the door lock and unlock switch for 5 seconds or more in the lock direction within 20 seconds after turning the ignition switch ON.
- 4. The switching is completed when the hazard lamp blinks.

#### AUTOMATIC DOOR LOCK/UNLOCK FUNCTION (UNLOCK OPERATION)

IGN OFF Interlock Door Unlock

All doors are unlocked when the power supply position is changed from ON to OFF.

BCM outputs the unlock signal to all door lock actuators when it detects that the power supply position is changed from ignition switch ON to OFF.

Setting change of Automatic Door Lock/Unlock Function

The automatic door unlock function ON/OFF can be switched by performing the following operation.

- 1. Close all doors below (door switch OFF)
- 2. Turn ignition switch ON
- 3. Press and hold the door lock and unlock switch for 5 seconds or more in the unlock direction within 20 seconds after turning the power supply position ON.
- 4. The switching is completed when the hazard lamp blinks.

 $OFF \rightarrow ON$  : 2 blinks  $ON \rightarrow OFF$  : 1 blink

#### CAN Communication System Description

INFOID:000000004159317

CAN (Controller Area Network) is a serial communication line for real time application. It is an on-vehicle multiplex communication line with high data communication speed and excellent error detection ability. Many electronic control units are equipped onto a vehicle, and each control unit shares information and links with other control units during operation (not independent). In CAN communication, control units are connected with 2 communication lines (CAN H line, CAN L line) allowing a high rate of information transmission with less wiring. Each control unit transmits/receives data but selectively reads required data only.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## **CAN Communication Unit**

Refer to LAN-29, "CAN System Specification Chart"

## Schematic



INFOID:000000004159318

А

В

С

D

Е

F

Н

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

Wiring Diagram - D/LOCK -



M1, M2, M3 -ELECTRICAL UNITS

TIWT3133E

INFOID:000000004159320

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3134E

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3135E

< SERVICE INFORMATION >



Condition

Ignition switch is in ACC position

Door open (ON)  $\rightarrow$  Close (OFF)

Door open (ON)  $\rightarrow$  Close (OFF)

Door lock / unlock switch

Door lock / unlock switch

(Free  $\rightarrow$  Unlock)

(Free  $\rightarrow$  Unlock)

Signal

Input/

Output

Input

Input

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Wire

color

V

Р

Termi-

nal

11

12

13

22

38

39

40

42

44

50

51

52 55

62

63

69

70

R/G

V

G

#### Terminal and Reference Value for BCM

Ignition switch (ACC)

Item

Front door switch passenger

	Side			
O/L	Rear door switch RH	Input	Door open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
G	Power window serial link	Input	Ignition switch ON	(V) 15 10 5 0 
W	Ignition switch (ON)	Input	Ignition switch is in ON or START po- sition	Battery voltage
L	CAN H	Input/ Output	_	_
Ρ	CAN L	Input/ Output	_	_
Р	Battery source (Fuse)	Input	_	Battery voltage
GR	Driver door lock actuator (unlock) signal	Output	Door lock / unlock switch (Free $\rightarrow$ Unlock)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage \rightarrow 0$
V	Door lock actuator (lock) sig- nal	Output	Door lock / unlock switch (Free $\rightarrow$ Lock)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage \rightarrow 0$
G	Rear doors lock actuator signal	Output	Door lock / unlock switch (Free $\rightarrow$ Unlock)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage \rightarrow 0$
В	Ground	_	—	0
W	Power source (Fusible link)	Input		Battery voltage
V	Front door switch driver side	Input	Door open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$

#### Work Flow

INFOID:000000004159322

 $0 \rightarrow$  Battery voltage

 $0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$ 

 $0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$ 

INFOID:000000004159321

PIIA2344J

Voltage (V)

(Approx.)

Battery voltage

 $0 \rightarrow$  Battery voltage

Check the symptom and customer's requests. 1.

Rear door switch LH

signal

fuel lid lock actuator (unlock)

(passenger side) lock signal

Front door lock actuator

Understand the outline of system. Refer to <u>BL-24, "System Description"</u>. 2.

Input

Output

Output

- According to the trouble diagnosis chart by symptom, repair or replace the cause of the malfunction. 3. Refer to <u>BL-33</u>, "Trouble Diagnosis Chart by Symptom".
- Does power door lock system operate normally? 4. YES: GO TO 5. NO: GO TO 3.
- INSPECTION END 5.

## CONSULT-III Function (BCM-DOOR LOCK)

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes shown following.

#### Revision: 2009 Novemver

#### **BL-32**

INFOID:000000004159323

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Diagnosis mode	Function Description	A
WORK SUPPORT	Changes the setting for each system function.	
DATA MONITOR	The BCM input/output signals are displayed.	
ACTIVE TEST	The signals used to activate each device are forcibly supplied from BCM.	В

#### Data Monitor

Monitor item	Content	
IGN ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.	
KEY ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.	[
CDL LOCK SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of lock signal from door lock and unlock switch.	
CDL UNLOCK SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door lock and unlock switch.	E
KEY CYL LK-SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of lock signal from key cylinder.	
KEY CYL UN-SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from key cylinder.	
DOOR SW-DR	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of front door switch driver side.	F
DOOR SW-AS	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of front door switch passenger side.	
DOOR SW-RR	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of rear door switch RH.	
DOOR SW-RL	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of rear door switch LH.	
BACK DOOR SW	This is displayed even if it is not equipped.	
I -KEY LOCK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of lock signal from Intelligent Key.	F
I - KEY UNLOCK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from Intelligent Key.	
ACC ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.	
I - KEY DR UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door request switch (driver side)	— BL
I - KEY AS UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door request switch (passenger side)	

#### Active Test

Test item in "DOOR LOCK"	Content	
ALL LOCK	This test is able to check all door lock actuators lock operation. These actuators lock when "ALL LOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	K
DR UNLOCK	This test is able to check door lock actuator (driver side) unlock operation. This actuator unlock when "DR UNLOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	L
OTHER UNLOCK	This test is able to check all door lock actuators (except driver side) unlock operation. These actuators unlock when "OTHER UNLOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	
ALL UNLOCK	This test is able to check all door lock actuators unlock operation. These actuators unlock when "ALL UNLOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	N
AS UNLOCK	This test is able to check door lock actuator (passenger side) unlock operation. This actuator unlock when "AS UNLOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	N

## Trouble Diagnosis Chart by Symptom

#### Always check the "Work Flow" before troubleshooting. Refer to <u>BL-32, "Work Flow"</u>.

INFOID:000000004159324
------------------------

×.	
~	~

Symptom	Diagnoses service procedure		Reference page
	1.	Power supply and ground circuit check of BCM.	<u>BL-34</u>
Power door lock does not operate with door lock and unlock switch.	2.	Check door lock and unlock switch.	<u>BL-35</u>
	1. Power supply and ground circuit check of BCM.       BL-3         2. Check door lock and unlock switch.       BL-3         3. Check door lock actuator (driver side)       BL-3	<u>BL-36</u>	
	4.	Replace BCM.	BCS-14

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Symptom	Diagnoses service procedure			Reference page
Power door lock does not operate with door key cylinder operation.	1.	Check front door key cylinde	er switch.	<u>BL-40</u>
(Power door lock operate properly with door lock and unlock switch.)	2.	Replace power window mai	n switch.	-
			Driver side	<u>BL-36</u>
Specific door lock actuator does not operate.		Chock door look actuator	Passenger side	<u>BL-37</u>
	1.		Rear LH	<u>BL-38</u>
			Rear RH	<u>BL-39</u>
		Replace BCM.	BCS-14	
Selective unlock operation does not operate.		Check select unlock mode. Select unlock mode can be First check select unlock mode	<u>BL-74</u>	
	2.	Replace BCM.	BCS-14	
Fuel lid opener actuator does not operate. (All door lock actuators operates properly.)	Check fuel lid lock actuator.		<u>BL-39</u>	
	1.	Check vehicle speed signal	<u>DI-3</u>	
Automatic door lock/unlock function does not operate	2.	Check BCM.		BCS-2
(All other power door lock system is "OK".)	3.	Check TCM.		<u>AT-8(</u> 5AT) <u>AT-</u> <u>475</u> (7AT)

## Power Supply and Ground Circuit Inspection for BCM

INFOID:000000004159325

## 1.CHECK FUSE

Check the following fuse and fusible link.

• 50A fusible link (letter F, located in the fuse and fusible link box)

• 10A fuse [No.21, located in the fuse block (J/B)]

- 10A fuse [No.6, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- 15A fuse [No.1, located in the fuse block (J/B)]

#### NOTE:

Refer to BL-24, "Component Parts and Harness Connector Location".

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> If fuse is blown, be sure to eliminate cause of malfunction before installing new fuse, refer to PG-<u>4</u>.

2. CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect BCM connectors.
- 3. Check voltage between BCM and ground.

o. Oncok volkag	Oneok voltage between Dow and ground.					
Terminals			Condition			
(+)			of ignition switch po-	Voltage (V) (Approx.)		
BCM connector	Terminal	()	sition		<u>11, 38, 42, 55</u>	
M2	11		ACC		(PA)	i
IVIS	38	Ground	ON	Pottony voltago		
M2	42	Ground		Battery voltage	(Acc)	
IVIZ	55		OIT			PIIB6296E

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace BCM power supply circuit.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## 3. CHECK GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between BCM harness connector and ground.

BCM connector	Terminal		Continuity
M2	52	Ground	Yes

#### OK or NG

OK >> Power supply and ground circuit are OK.

NG >> Repair or replace BCM ground circuit.

## Check Door Lock and Unlock Switch

#### 1.CHECK POWER WINDOW SWITCH OUTPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check ("CDL LOCK SW ", "CDL UNLOCK SW") in DATA MONITOR mode with CONSULT-III.

Monitor item	Condition		
CDL LOCK SW	LOCK	: ON	
	UNLOCK	: OFF	
	LOCK	: OFF	
CDL UNLOCK 3W	UNLOCK	: ON	

#### Without CONSULT-III

- Remove key from ignition switch, and the door of driver side and passenger side is closed. 1.
- Check signal between BCM connector and ground with oscilloscope when door lock and unlock switch 2. (driver side and passenger side) is turned "LOCK" or "UNLOCK".
- 3. Make sure signals which are shown in the figure below can be detected during 10 second just after door lock and unlock switch (driver side and passenger side) is turned "LOCK" or "UNLOCK".



OK or NG

OK >> Door lock and unlock switch is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

## **2.**CHECK POWER WINDOW SWITCH GROUND

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Disconnect power window main switch and front power window switch (passenger side) connector.

3. Check continuity between power window main switch connector and ground. INFOID:000000004159326

PIIB5935E

E 2 ) (( 🕵 🖬



Н

А

В

D

F

J

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Power window main switch connector	Terminal		Continuity
D11	17 Ground		Yes



Check continuity between power window sub-switch (front passenger side) connector and ground. 4.

Power window sub-switch (front passenger side) connector	Terminal		Continuity
D46	11	Ground	Yes

- OK >> GO TO 3.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

## 3. CHECK POWER WINDOW SERIAL LINK CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect BCM connector.
- Check continuity between BCM connector and power window main switch connector. 2.

	А		В				В
_	BCM connector	Terminal	Power window main switch connector	Terminal	Continuity	A	
	M1	22	D10	14	Yes		$\exists$

Check continuity between BCM connector and power window sub-switch (front passenger side) connec-3. tor.

A		В		
BCM connector	Terminal	Power window sub- switch (front passenger side) connector	Terminal	Continuity
M1	22	D46	16	Yes
OK or NG				

OK >> Replace power window main switch.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

Check Door Lock Actuator/Driver Side

1. CHECK OUTPUT SIGNAL



Ω



PIIB5941E

PIIB5958E

Revision: 2009 Novemver
### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

2. Check continuity between BCM connector and front door lock actuator passenger side.

А		В		
BCM connector	Terminal	Door lock actu- ator connector	Terminal	Continuity
M2	50	D44	2	Voc
М3	70	044	1	162

3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.

	Continuity		
BCM connector	Terr	Continuity	
M2	50	No	
M3	70	Ground	NO

### OK or NG

- OK >> Replace front door lock actuator (passenger side).
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

### Check Door Lock Actuator/Rear LH

### 1. CHECK DOOR LOCK ACTUATOR SIGNAL

Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.

Terminals			Condition of	
(+)		(_)	door lock and	(Approx.)
BCM connector	Terminal	(-)	UNIOCK SWITCH	
M2	50	Ground	Lock	$0 \rightarrow \text{Battery voltage} \rightarrow 0$
1012	51	Clound	Unlock	$0 \rightarrow \text{Battery voltage} \rightarrow 0$

### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> Replace BCM.

## 2. CHECK DOOR LOCK ACTUATOR CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect BCM and rear door lock actuator LH connectors.
- Check continuity between BCM connector and rear door lock actuator LH connectors.

А				
BCM connector	Terminal	Terminal Door lock actu- ator connector		Continuity
M2	50	D59	2	Vos
IVIZ	51	539	1	163

3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.

	Continuity		
BCM connector	Terr	Continuity	
MO	50	Ground	No
IVIZ	51	Ground	INU





INFOID:000000004159329





#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- OK >> Replace door lock actuator/rear LH.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

### Check Door Lock Actuator/Rear RH

### 1. CHECK DOOR LOCK ACTUATOR SIGNAL

#### Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.

Terminals			Condition of		
(+)		(_)	door lock and	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	50 51
BCM connector	Terminal	(-)	unlock switch		50, 51
50		Ground	Lock	$0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$	
IVIZ	51	Unlock		$0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$	

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> Replace BCM.

## 2. CHECK DOOR LOCK ACTUATOR CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect BCM and rear door lock actuator RH connectors.
- 2. Check continuity between BCM connector and rear door lock actuator RH connectors.

А				
BCM connector	Terminal	Door lock actu- ator connector	Terminal	Continuity
M2	50	D79	2	Vos
1012	51	075	1	163

Check continuity between BCM connector and ground. 3.

	Continuity		
BCM connector	Terr	Continuity	
MO	50	Ground	No
IVIZ	51	Ground	INO

#### OK or NG

OK >> Replace door lock actuator/rear RH.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

### **Check Fuel Lid Opener Actuator**

## 1.CHECK FUEL LID OPENER ACTUATOR CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect BCM and fuel lid lock actuator connector.
- 3. Check continuity between BCM connector and fuel lid lock actuator connector.

	4		В	
BCM connector	Terminal	Fuel lid lock ac- tuator connec- tor	Terminal	Continuity
M2	44	B477	1	Ves
M3	69	2-111	2	100



50 51 |1|250, 51 2 PIIB6383E

50, 51

L

Κ

А

В

D

Е

F

Н

ΒL

INFOID:000000004159330

PIIB6064E

INFOID:000000004159331

Ν

Ρ

Μ

Revision: 2009 Novemver



2009 M35/M45

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### 4. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.

	Continuity		
BCM connector	Terr	Continuity	
M2	44 Ground		No
M3	69	Ground	

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Replace fuel lid lock actuator.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

Door Key Cylinder Switch Check

INFOID:000000004159332

### **1.**CHECK DOOR KEY CYLINDER SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check ("KEY CYL LK-SW", "KEY CYL UN-SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode for "POWER DOOR ROCK SYS-TEM" with CONSULT-III.

Monitor item	Condition		
	Lock	: ON	
REFORE ER-SW	Neutral / Unlock	: OFF	
	Unlock	: ON	
	Neutral / Lock	: OFF	

#### Without CONSULT-III

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check voltage between power window main switch connector and ground.

Terminals					
(+)				Voltage (V)	
Power window main switch connector	Terminal	()	Key position	(Approx.)	
D10 6	1	4 Ground	Lock	0	
	4		Neutral / Unlock	5	
	6		Unlock	0	
		Neutral / Lock	5	PIIB5956E	

### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Key cylinder switch circuit is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY

1. Disconnect power window main switch and front door key lock assembly (driver side) connector.

2. Check continuity between power window main switch connector and front door lock assembly (driver side) connector.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

А		В		
Power window main switch connector	Terminal	Front door lock as- sembly (driver side) connector	Terminal	Continuity
D10	4	D14	6	Vos
DIO	6	410	5	163



### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

 ${\it 3.}$  check door key cylinder switch ground



OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

## **4.**CHECK DOOR KEY CYLINDER SWITCH

Check front door lock assembly (driver side).

lerm	linal						
Front door lo (driver)	ck assembly side)	Key position Continuity					
F		Unlock	Yes				
5	4	Neutral / Lock	No				
6	4	Lock	Yes				
0		Neutral / Unlock	No				



### OK or NG

OK >> INSPECTION END

NG >> Replace front door key cylinder (driver side) switch. Μ

Н

PIIB5974E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## INTELLIGENT KEY SYSTEM

### **Component Parts and Harness Connector Location**

INFOID:000000004159333



- 1. Fuse block (J/B) fuse layout
- 4. IPDM E/R E9
- 7. Unified meter and A/C amp. M64, M65 8.
- 10. Rear door switch LH B53
- 2. Fuse and fusible link box
- 5. Push-button ignition switch M27 (Push switch)

11. Front door lock assembly D14

(Unlock sensor)

Trunk opener cancel switch M99

- 3. BCM M1, M2, M3 (View with instrument lower panel RH removed)
- 6. Combination meter M52
- 9. Front door switch (Driver side) B11
- 12. Trunk lid lock assembly T106 (Trunk room lamp switch)

**BL-42** 

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



L Μ Ν Ο

Ρ

Revision: 2009 Novemver

2009 M35/M45

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



- 1. Intelligent Key warning buzzer E37
- 4. Key slot M14

System Description

- a: Request switch (Front outside handle LH) D15
   b: Outside key antenna D15
- 10. Trunk opener request switch T107
- Remote keyless entry receiver M89 3. (View with instrument lower panel RH removed)
- 5. Inside key antenna M83 (Instrument center)
- 8. Inside key antenna B45 (Rear seat)
- 11. Outside key antenna B121 (Trunk room)

- Intelligent key unit M32, M33 (View with dash side finisher LH removed)
- 6. Inside key antenna M142 (Console)
- 9. Inside key antenna B473 (Trunk room)

INFOID:000000004159334

 The Intelligent Key system is a system that makes it possible to lock and unlock the door locks (door lock/ unlock function), open the trunk (trunk open function), and start the engine (engine start function) by carrying around the Intelligent Key (without some key operation), which operates based on the results of electronic ID verification using two-way communications between the Intelligent Key and the vehicle (Intelligent Key unit).
 CAUTION:

#### The driver should always carry the Intelligent Key

- Operation of the remote controller buttons on the Intelligent Key also provides the same functions as the remote controller entry system. (Remote keyless entry functions)
- If an action that does not meet the operating conditions of the Intelligent Key system is taken, the buzzer goes off to inform the driver. (Warning chime functions)
- When a door lock is locked, unlocked or trunk open with request switch or remote controller button operation, the hazard lamps flash and the Intelligent Key warning buzzer or horn sounds (Hazard and buzzer/horn reminder function).
- Even if the Intelligent Key battery is completely discharged, the door locks can be locked and unlocked with the mechanical key built into the Intelligent Key, and then initiates engine by inserting Intelligent Key into key slot.
- The settings for each function can be changed with the CONSULT-III.
- If an Intelligent Key is lost, a new Intelligent Key can be registered. A maximum of 4 Intelligent Keys can be registered.
- It has been made possible to diagnose the system and register an Intelligent Key with the CONSULT-III.

### DOOR LOCK/UNLOCK/TRUNK OPEN FUNCTION

### **BL-44**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Only when pressing the request switch, it is possible to lock and unlock the door and open the trunk by carrying around the Intelligent Key (without some key operation).

#### System Diagram



Operation Description/Door Lock/Unlock

- When the Intelligent Key unit detects that each door request switch is pressed, it starts the outside key antenna and inside key antenna corresponding to the pressed door request switch and sends the request signal to the Intelligent Key. And then, make sure that the Intelligent Key is near the door.
- If the Intelligent Key is within the outside key antenna detection area, it receives the request signal and sends the key ID signal to the Intelligent Key unit via remote keyless entry receiver.
- Intelligent Key unit receives the key ID signal and compares it with the registered key ID.
- If the key ID check result is OK, the Intelligent Key unit sends the door lock/unlock request signal to BCM (Body control module) via CAN communication line.
- Intelligent Key unit sends the door lock/unlock signal and sounds Intelligent Key buzzer warning (lock: 1 time, unlock: 2 times) at the same time.
- When BCM receives the door lock/unlock signal, it operates door lock actuator and flashes the hazard lamp (lock: 1 time, unlock: 2 times) at the same time as a reminder.

Operation Description/Trunk Open

- When the Intelligent Key unit detects that trunk open request switch is pressed, it starts the outside key antenna (trunk room) and inside key antenna corresponding to the pressed trunk open request switch and sends the request signal to the Intelligent Key. And then, make sure that the Intelligent Key is near the trunk.
- If the Intelligent Key is within the outside key antenna (trunk room) detection area, it receives the request signal and sends the key ID signal to the Intelligent Key unit via remote keyless entry receiver.
- Intelligent Key unit receives the key ID signal and compares it with the registered key ID.
- If the key ID check result is OK, the Intelligent Key unit sends trunk open request signal to BCM (Body control module) via CAN communication line.
- Intelligent Key unit sends the trunk open request signal and sounds Intelligent Key warning buzzer 4 times at the same time.
- When BCM receives the trunk open request signal, it operates the trunk lid opener actuator and opens the trunk.

**Operation Condition** 

If the following conditions are not satisfied, door lock/unlock or trunk open operations are not performed even if the request switch is operated.

Each request switch operation	Operation condition	
Lock operation	<ul> <li>All doors are closed</li> <li>Ignition switch is in OFF position</li> <li>Intelligent Key is out of key slot</li> <li>Intelligent Key is outside the vehicle</li> <li>Intelligent Key is within outside key antenna detection area</li> </ul>	

А

Н

ΒL

Κ

Ν

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Each request switch operation	Operation condition
Unlock Operation	<ul> <li>Intelligent Key is outside the vehicle</li> <li>Intelligent Key is within outside key antenna detection area *</li> </ul>
Trunk open operation	<ul> <li>Intelligent Key is within outside key antenna (trunk room) detection area*</li> <li>Trunk cancel switch is ON</li> <li>Key reminder functions operate (trunk)</li> </ul>

\*: Even with a registered Intelligent Key remain inside the vehicle, door locks can be unlock from outside of the vehicle with a spare Intelligent Key as long as key IDs are different.

#### Outside Key Antenna Detection Area

The outside key antenna detection area of door lock/unlock function is in the range of approximately 80 cm (31.50 in) surrounding the driver and passenger door handles (1). The outside key antenna detection area of trunk open function is in the range of approximately 80 cm (31.50 in) surrounding Trunk opener request switch (2). However, this operating range depends on the ambient conditions.



#### Key Reminder Function

Key reminder functions have the following 3 functions.

Key remainder function	Operation condition	Operation
Driver door close*	<ul> <li>Right after driver side door is closed under the following conditions</li> <li>Door lock operation is performed</li> <li>Driver side door is opened</li> <li>Driver side door is in unlock state</li> </ul>	All doors unlock
Door is open or closed	<ul> <li>Right after all doors are closed under the following conditions</li> <li>Intelligent Key is inside the vehicle</li> <li>Any door is opened</li> <li>All doors are locked by door lock and unlock switch or door lock knob</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>All doors unlock</li> <li>Honk Intelligent Key warning buzzer</li> </ul>
Trunk is closed	<ul> <li>Right after trunk is closed under the following conditions</li> <li>Intelligent Key is inside trunk room</li> <li>all doors are closed</li> <li>all doors are locked</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Trunk open</li> <li>Honk Intelligent Key warning buzzer</li> </ul>

\*: If the door closing impact shocks the door lock knob, or contacts against baggage with the door lock knob might activate the door locks accidentally but unlock operation will be perform at these cases.

#### **CAUTION:**

- The above function operates when the Intelligent Key is inside the vehicle. However, there may be times when the Intelligent Key cannot be detected, and this function will not operate when the Intelligent Key is on the instrument panel, rear parcel shelf, or in the glove box. Also, this system sometimes does not operate if the Intelligent Key is in the door pocket for the open door.
- When the key reminder function is operated when the trunk is open/closed and the buzzers sound, if the following operations are performed, the key reminder function is cleared and buzzer sounds are stopped.
- Remote controller door lock button operation of Intelligent Key
- Remote controller door unlock button operation of Intelligent Key
- When the trunk is closed, the Intelligent Key is not inside the vehicle
- When any door is open

#### Selective Unlock Function

When an LOCK signal is sent from door request switch (driver side or passenger side), all doors will be locked. When an UNLOCK signal is sent from door request switch (driver side or passenger side) once, driver's door will be unlocked.

Then, if an UNLOCK signal is sent from door request switch (driver side and passenger side) again within 5 seconds, all other door will be unlocked.

Hazard and Buzzer Reminder Function

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

During lock, unlock, or trunk opening operation by each request switch, the hazard warning lamps and Intelligent Key warning buzzer will flashes or honk as a reminder.

When doors are locked, unlocked or trunk open by each request switch, Intelligent Key unit honks Intelligent Key warning buzzer as a reminder and sends hazard request signal to BCM via CAN communication line. BCM flashes hazard warning lamps as a reminder.

Operation	Hazard warning lamp flash	Intelligent Key warning buzzer honk
Unlock	Once	Once
Lock	Twice	Twice
Trunk open	-	Fourth

#### How to change hazard and buzzer reminder mode

#### With CONSULT-III

Hazard and buzzer reminder can be changed using "HAZARD ANSWER BACK", "ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY LOCK" and "ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY UNLOCK" mode in "WORK SUPPORT".Refer to <u>BL-74</u>, <u>"CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)"</u>.

#### Auto Door Lock Function

When all doors are locked, ignition switch is in OFF position and key switch is OFF (Intelligent Key is not inserted in key slot), doors are unlocked with door request switch

When Intelligent Key unit does not receive the following signals within 60 seconds, all doors are locked.

- Door switch is ON (door is opened)
- Door is locked
- Ignition switch is ON (ignition switch is pressed)
- Key switch is ON (Intelligent Key is inserted in key slot)

Auto door lock mode can be changed by "AUTO RELOCK TIMER" mode in "WORK SUPPORT". Refer to <u>BL-</u> 74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)".

#### Room Lamp Operation

When the following conditions are met:

Condition of interior lamp switch is in DOOR position

Door switch OFF (all the doors are closed)

Intelligent Key system turns on interior lamp (for 30 seconds) by receiving UNLOCK signal from door request switch. For detailed description, refer to <u>LT-202</u>, "System Description".

#### List of Operation Related Parts

Parts marked with  $\times$  are the parts related to operation.

Door lock/trunk open function	Intelligent Key	Key slot	Remote keyless entry receiver	Door switch	Trunk room lamp switch	Door request switch (Driver, Passenger)	Trunk opener request switch	Door lock actuator	Trunk lid opener actuator	Inside key antenna	Outside key antenna (Driver, Passenger)	Outside key antenna (Trunk)	Intelligent Key warning buzzer	Intelligent Key unit	CAN communication system	BCM	Hazard warning lamp	Trunk lid opener cancel switch	Push-button ignition switch
Door lock/unlock function by request switch	×	×	×	×		×		×		×	×			×	×	×			
Trunk open function by the trunk opener request switch		×	×		×		×		×	×		×		×	×	×		×	
Hazard and buzzer reminder function for door lock/unlock operation													×	×	×	×	×		
Buzzer reminder for trunk open operation													×	×	×	×			
Key reminder function	×	×	×	×		×		×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		

#### Revision: 2009 Novemver

А

В

D

Н

ΒL

Κ

L

M

Ν

P

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Door lock/trunk open function	Intelligent Key	Key slot	Remote keyless entry receiver	Door switch	Trunk room lamp switch	Door request switch (Driver, Passenger)	Trunk opener request switch	Door lock actuator	Trunk lid opener actuator	Inside key antenna	Outside key antenna (Driver, Passenger)	Outside key antenna (Trunk)	Intelligent Key warning buzzer	Intelligent Key unit	CAN communication system	BCM	Hazard warning lamp	Trunk lid opener cancel switch	Push-button ignition switch
Selective unlock function by request switch (Driver side)						×		×		×	×			×	×	×			
Selective unlock function by request switch (Passenger side)						×		×		×	×			×	×	×			
Auto door lock function	×	×		×		×		×						×	×	×			×

### REMOTE KEYLESS ENTRY FUNCTIONS

The Intelligent Key has the same functions as the remote control entry system. Therefore, it can be used in the same manner as the remote controller by operating the door lock/unlock button and trunk open button.

#### System Diagram



Operation Description/Door Lock/Unlock Function

- When door lock/unlock button of the Intelligent Key is pressed, lock signal or unlock signal is sent from Intelligent Key to Intelligent Key unit via remote keyless entry receiver.
- Intelligent Key unit sends the door lock/unlock request signal to BCM via CAN communication line.
- Intelligent Key unit sends the door lock/unlock signal to BCM.
- When BCM receives the door lock/unlock signal, it operates door lock actuator, flashes the hazard lamp (lock: 1 time, unlock: 2 times) and horn chirp signal to IPDM E/R at the same time as a reminder.
- IPDM E/R honks horn (lock: 1 time) as a reminder

#### **Operation Description/Trunk Open Function**

- When trunk button of the Intelligent Key is pressed, the trunk open signal is sent from the Intelligent Key to the Intelligent Key unit via remote keyless entry receiver.
- Intelligent Key unit sends trunk open request signal to BCM via CAN communication line.
- When BCM receives the trunk open request signal, it operates the trunk lid opener actuator and opens the trunk.

**Operation Condition** 

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Remote controller operation	Operation condition	Operation	
Lock	All doors closed	All doors lock	-
Unlock	Intelligent Key is out of key slot	All doors unlock	-
Trunk open	Press and hold the trunk open button for 0.5 second or more	Trunk open	_

**Operation Area** 

Operating Range

• To ensure the Intelligent Key works effectively, use within 100 cm range of each doors, however the operable range might be differ by surroundings.

Selective Unlock Function

When an LOCK signal is sent from Intelligent Key, all doors will be locked.

When an UNLOCK signal is sent from Intelligent Key once, driver's door will be unlocked.

Then, if an UNLOCK signal is sent from Intelligent Key again within 5 seconds, all other door will be unlocked.

Hazard and Horn Reminder Function

When doors are locked or unlocked by Intelligent Key, Intelligent Key unit sends hazard and horn request signal to BCM via CAN communication line.

BCM flashes hazard warning lamps as a reminder and sends horn chirp signal to IPDM E/R. IPDM E/R sounds horn as a reminder.

The hazard and horn reminder has a horn chirp mode (C mode) and a non-horn chirp mode (S mode).

Operating function of hazard and horn reminder

		C mode		S mode							
Intelligent Key operation	Lock	Unlock	Trunk open	Lock	Unlock	Trunk open					
Hazard warning lamp flash	Twice	Once		Twice	_	_					
Horn sound	Once		_	—	_						

Hazard and horn reminder does not operate if any door switch is ON (any door is OPEN). How to change hazard and horn reminder mode

### With CONSULT-III

Hazard and horn reminder can be changed using "HORN WITH KEYLESS LOCK" and "HAZARD ANSWER BACK" mode in "WORK SUPPORT".Refer to <u>BL-74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)"</u>.

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

When LOCK and UNLOCK signals are sent from the Intelligent Key for more than 2 seconds at the same time, the hazard and horn reminder mode is changed and hazard warning lamp flashes and horn sounds as follows:



#### Auto Door Lock Function

When all doors are locked, ignition switch is OFF (ignition switch is not pressed) and key switch is OFF (Intelligent Key is not inserted in key slot), doors are unlocked with Intelligent Key button. When Intelligent Key unit does not receive the following signals within 30 seconds, all doors are locked.

- Door switch is ON (door is opened)
- Door is locked
- Ignition switch is ON
- Key switch is ON (Intelligent Key is inserted in key slot)

Auto door lock mode can be changed by "AUTO RELOCK TIMER" mode in "WORK SUPPORT". Refer to <u>BL-</u> 74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)".

Panic Alarm Function

D

Е

Н

ΒL

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

When ignition switch is OFF (ignition switch is not pressed) and key switch is OFF (Intelligent Key is not inserted in key slot), Intelligent Key unit receives PANIC ALARM signal from Intelligent Key.

Intelligent Key unit sends alarm request signal to BCM via CAN communication line.

BCM turns on and off headlamp intermittently and sends theft warning horn signal to IPDM E/R. Then, IPDM E/R turns on and off horn intermittently.

The headlamp flashes and the horn sounds intermittently.

The alarm automatically turns off:

After 25 seconds

• When Intelligent Key unit receives any signal from Intelligent Key

• When door request switch is pressed (Intelligent Key is within the outside key antenna detection area) Panic alarm function mode can be changed by "PANIC ALARM DELAY" mode in "WORK SUPPORT". Refer to <u>BL-74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)"</u>.

Keyless Power Window Down (Open) Function

All power windows open when the unlock button on Intelligent Key is activated and kept pressed for more than 3 seconds with the ignition switch OFF. The windows keep opening if the unlock button is continuously pressed.

The power window opening stops when the following operations are performed:

• When the unlock button is kept pressed more than 15 seconds.

• When the ignition switch is turned ON while the power window opening is operated.

• When the unlock button is released.

While retained power operation activate, Keyless power window down (open) Function cannot be operated. Keyless power window down operation mode can be changed by "P/W DOWN DELAY" mode in "WORK SUP-PORT". Refer to <u>BL-74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)"</u>.

#### Room Lamp Illumination Operation

When the following conditions are met:

• Condition of interior lamp switch is in DOOR position

• Door switch OFF (all the doors are closed)

Intelligent Key system turns on interior lamp (for 30 seconds) by receiving UNLOCK signal from Intelligent Key. For detailed description, refer to <u>LT-202, "System Description"</u>.

List of Operation Related Parts

Parts marked with  $\times$  are the parts related to operation.

Remote keyless entry functions		Key slot	Door request switch (Driver, Passenger)	Door switch	Trunk room lamp switch	Door lock actuator	Trunk lid opener actuator	Intelligent Key warning buzzer	Intelligent Key unit	CAN communication system	BCM	Combination meter	Hazard warning lamp	Horn	IPDM E/R	Head lamp
Door lock/unlock function by remote control button	×	×		×		×			×	×	×					
Trunk open function by remote control button	×	×			×		×		×	×	×					
Hazard and horn reminder function	×							×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
Selective unlock function				×		×			×	×	×					
Keyless power window down (open) function		×							×	×	×					
Auto door lock function		×		×					×	×	×					
Panic alarm function	×		×						×	×	×			×	×	×

ENGINE START FUNCTION Refer to BL-115.

WARNING FUNCTION

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **Operation Description**

The warning function are as follows and are given to the user as warning information and warnings using combinations of Intelligent Key warning buzzer, KEY warning lamp, key slot illumination and combination meter display in combination meter.

- Intelligent Key system malfunction
- OFF position warning
- P position warning
- ACC warning
- Take away warning
- Door lock operation warning
- Key warning
- Intelligent Key insert information
- Engine start information
- Steering lock information
- Intelligent key low battery warning
- Key ID warning

#### **Operation Condition**

Once the following condition from below is established, alert or warning will be executed.

Warning/Inform	nation functions	Operation procedure							
Intelligent Key system mal	function	When a malfunction is detected on Intelligent Key unit, "KEY" warning lamp will illuminates.	G						
	For internal	<ul><li>Ignition switch: ACC position.</li><li>Door switch (driver side): ON (Door is open).</li></ul>							
OFF position warning	For external	OFF position warning (For internal) is in active mode, driver side door has been closed. <b>NOTE:</b> OFF position (For external) active only when each of the sequence has occurred as below: P position warning $\rightarrow$ ACC warning $\rightarrow$ OFF position warning (For internal) $\rightarrow$ OFF position warning (For internal)	BL						
P position warning		<ul><li>Shift position: Except P position</li><li>Engine is running to stopped (Ignition switch is ON to ACC)</li></ul>	J						
ACC warning		<ul> <li>During P position warning is in active mode, shift position has changed P position.</li> <li>Ignition switch: Except OFF position.</li> </ul>	K						
	Door is open to close	<ul> <li>Ignition switch: Except OFF position.</li> <li>Door switch: ON to OFF (Door is open to close).</li> <li>Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle.</li> </ul>	L						
	Door is open	<ul> <li>Door switch: ON (Door is open)</li> <li>Key ID vilification every 5 seconds when registered Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle.</li> </ul>	М						
Take away warning	Push-ignition switch oper- ation	<ul> <li>Ignition switch: Except OFF position.</li> <li>Press ignition switch.</li> <li>Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle.</li> </ul>							
	Take away through win- dow	<ul> <li>Engine is running.</li> <li>Key ID vilification every 30 seconds when registered Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle.</li> <li>After vehicle speed verification, the registered Intelligent Key can not be detect inside the vehicle.</li> </ul>	N 0						
	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot	• When Intelligent Key is removed from key slot, Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle.	P						
	Request switch operation	<ul> <li>When request switch is pushed (lock operation) under the following conditions.</li> <li>Door switch: ON (Any door is open).</li> <li>Intelligent Key is inside vehicle.</li> </ul>							
ing	Intelligent Key button op- eration	<ul> <li>When Intelligent Key bottom is pushed (lock operation) under the following conditions.</li> <li>Door switch: ON (Any door is open).</li> <li>For 3 seconds after Intelligent Key is removed from key slot.</li> </ul>							

В

С

D

Ε

F

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Warning/Inform	mation functions	Operation procedure
Key warning		<ul> <li>Ignition switch is OFF position.</li> <li>Driver side door switch: ON (Driver side door is open).</li> <li>Intelligent Key is inserted in key slot.</li> </ul>
Intelligent Key insert inforr	nation	<ul> <li>Door switch: ON to OFF (Door is open to close).</li> <li>Ignition switch: OFF to ON position.</li> <li>Intelligent Key is out of key slot.</li> <li>Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle.</li> </ul>
	Ignition switch is ON posi- tion	<ul><li> Ignition switch: ON position.</li><li> Shift position: P position</li><li> Engine is stopped</li></ul>
Engine start information	Ignition switch is except ON position	<ul> <li>Ignition switch: Except ON position.</li> <li>Shift position: P position</li> <li>Intelligent Key is inserted in key slot.</li> <li>Intelligent Key can be detected inside the vehicle.</li> </ul>
Steering lock information	•	When steering lock can not be released after ignition switch is turned ON.
Intelligent Key low battery	warning	When Intelligent Key is low battery, Intelligent Key unit is detected after ignition switch is turned ON.
Key ID warning		When registered Intelligent Key can not be detected inside the vehicle after ig- nition switch is turned ON.

#### Warning Method

The following table shows the alarm or warning methods with chime. Meter display, "KEY" indicator or key slot illumination when the warning conditions are met.

					Warning chime			
Warning/Informa	tion functions	"KEY" warn- ing lamp	Combination meter display	Key slot il- lumination	Combination meter buzzer	Intelligent Key warning buzzer		
Intelligent Key syster	m malfunction	Illuminate	—	—	—	—		
OFF position warn-	For internal	_	_	_	Activate			
ing	For external	—	—	—	—	Activate		
P position warning			<b>PIB4765J</b>	_	Activate			
ACC warning		_	PIIB4766J	_	Activate			

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Manual and the second terms from the second					Warning	g chime		
Warning/Informa	ation functions	"KEY" warn- ing lamp	Combination meter display	Key slot il- lumination	Combination meter buzzer	Intelligent Key warning buzzer	A	
	Door is open to close	_		Flash	Activate	Activate	В	
	Door is open	_		Flash		_		
Take away warning	Push-ignition switch operation	_		Flash	Activate	_	С	
	Take away through window	_		Flash	Activate	_	D	
	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot	_	PIIB6452E	Flash	_	_	E	
Door lock operation	Request switch operation	_	_	_	_	Activate		
warning	Intelligent Key operation	_	_	_	_	Activate	F	
							G	
Key warning		_	PIIB4769J	Flash	Activate	_	Η	
Intelligent Key insert	information		PIIB4768J	Flash		_	BL J K	
Engine start infor-	Ignition switch is ON position		BRAKE DEP			_	L	
mation							Ν	
	Ignition switch is except ON posi- tion	_	BRAKE DIIB4770J		_	_	0	
	<u> </u>						Р	
Steering lock informa	ation	_	PIB4772J			_		

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

				Warning chime			
Warning/Information functions	"KEY" warn- ing lamp	Combination meter display	Key slot il- lumination	Combination meter buzzer	Intelligent Keywarning buzzer		
Intelligent Key low battery warning		FEE PIB4774J	_				
Key ID warning	_	KEY ID : NO PIIB4773J	_	_	_		

List of Operation Related Parts

Parts marked with  $\times$  are the parts related to operation.

Warning function			Key slot	Ignition switch	Door switch	Door request switch	Inside key antenna	Outside key antenna	Intelligent Key warning buzzer	Combination meter warning buzzer	Intelligent Key unit	CAN communication system	BCM	Combination meter display	Key slot illumination	Transmission range switch	"KEY" warning lamp
Intelligent Key system ma	lfunction										×	×					×
OFF position warning	For internal				×					×	×	×	×				
	For external				×				×		×	×	×				
P position warning				×						×	×	×		×		×	
ACC warning				×						×	×	×		×		×	
	Door is open or close	×			×		×		×	×	×	×	×	×	х		
	Door is open	×			×		×				×	×	×	×	×		
Take away warning	Push-ignition switch op- eration	×		×			×			×	×	×		×	×		
	Take away through win- dow	×					×			×	×	×		×	×		
Intelligent Key is re- moved from key slot		×	×				×				×	×		×	×		
Door lock operation warni	ng	×	×		×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×				
Key warning		×	×		×					×	×	×	×	×	×		
Intelligent Key insert information		×	×	×	×		×				×	×	×	×	×		
Engine start information	Ignition switch is ON po- sition	×	×	×			×				×	×		×		×	
Engine start mormation	Ignition switch is except ON position	×	×	×			×				×	×		×			

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Warning function	Intelligent Key	Key slot	Ignition switch	Door switch	Door request switch	Inside key antenna	Outside key antenna	Intelligent Key warning buzzer	Combination meter warning buzzer	Intelligent Key unit	CAN communication system	BCM	Combination meter display	Key slot illumination	Transmission range switch	"KEY" warning lamp	A B C
Steering lock information			×							×	×		×				
Intelligent Key low battery warning	×					×				×	×		×				_
Key ID warning	×	×	×			×				×	×		×				E
CHANGE SETTINGS FUNCTION The settings for each function can be chang Changing Settings Using CONSULT-III	ed v	vith	the (	CON	ISUL	T-III.								o			F
Refer to <u>BL-74</u> , <u>"CONSULT-III Functions (IN</u> <b>NOTE:</b> Once a function setting is changed, it will ref	incti I <u>TEL</u> mair	ons . <u>LIG</u> n effe	can <u>ENT</u> ectiv	be c <u>KE</u> e ev	chan <u>Y)"</u> . ren i	iged f the	usir batt	ig C tery	ONS	scor	-III	(WO ted.	RK	SUF	POI	<b>≺</b> ⊺).	G
INTELLIGENT KEY REGISTRATION Intelligent Key-ID registration is performed u CAUTION:	ising	the	со	NSL	JLT-I	11.											Η
<ul> <li>After a new Intelligent Key-ID is registe</li> <li>When registering an additional Intellig Intelligent Keys for any other vehicles of CONSULT-III can be used to check and delo</li> </ul>	red, ent out o ete li	be Key of th ntell	sure -ID, ie ve igen	to ( take hic t Ke	cheo e an le be y-ID	ck th iy Ir efor s.	ne fu ntelli e sta	inct igen artin	ion. t Ke g.	eys :	alre	ady	reg	iste	red	and	BL
STEERING LOCK UNIT REGISTRATIO	N N	۱.															J
Steering Lock Unit ID Registration		•.													•		Κ
<ul> <li>The method for registering a steering lock unit ID depends on the status of the steering lock unit and Intelligent Key unit (new or old unit).</li> <li>After registration is completed, press ignition switch with an Intelligent Key in the vehicle so that it can be turned, and confirm that it cannot be turned even when ignition switch is pressed without an Intelligent Key in the vehicle.</li> </ul>								L									
CAN Communication System Description																	
CAN (Controller Area Network) is a serial communication line for real time application. It is an on-vehicle mul- tiplex communication line with high data communication speed and excellent error detection ability. Many elec- tronic control units are equipped onto a vehicle, and each control unit shares information and links with other								Ν									
control units during operation (not independent). In CAN communication, control units are connected with 2 communication lines (CAN H line, CAN L line) allowing a high rate of information transmission with less wiring. Each control unit transmits/receives data but selectively reads required data only.									0								

CAN Communication Unit

Refer to LAN-29, "CAN System Specification Chart"

INFOID:000000004159336

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### Schematic





TIWT3137E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



< SERVICE INFORMATION >

## Wiring Diagram - I/KEY-





TIWT2604E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3138E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

BL-I/KEY-03



TIWT2606E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >





Ρ

А

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

BL-I/KEY-05



TIWT1909E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3139E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

BL-I/KEY-08

А



#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3140E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT2610E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

BL-I/KEY-11





TIWT3141E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# Terminal and Reference Value for Intelligent Key Unit

INFOID:000000004159339

А

			Signal		Condition	
Termi- nal	Wire Color	ltem	Input/ Output	Ignition Switch Position	Operation or Conditions	Voltage (V) Approx.
1	SB	Power source (Fuse)	Input	_	—	Battery voltage
2	GR	Door request switch	Input	_	Press door request switch (driver side).	0
					Other than above	5
					When Intelligent Key is in vehicle, press push-button ignition switch	0
4	B/Y	Remote keyless entry receiver RSSI signal	Input/ Output	LOCK	Other than above	(V) 6 4 2 0 •••0.2s PIB5657J
	DAM	Remote keyless entry	Input/		Waiting state	(V) 6 4 0 • • • 0.2s • • 0.2s • • 0.2s
5	B/W	receiver signal	Output	LOCK	Any operation using Intelligent Key	(V) 4 2 0 + 0.2s 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6	В	Remote keyless entry receiver ground			—	0
7	B/R	Remote keyless entry receiver power supply	Output	LOCK	_	(V) 6 2 0 • • 0.2s 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11	LG	Outside key antenna (+) signal (passenger side)				(V) 15 10
12	G	Outside key antenna (-) signal (passenger side)	Output	LOCK	Press door request switch (pas- senger side).	5 0 10 μs SIIA1910.J

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

		e .	Signal	Condition		
Termi- nal	Wire Color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Ignition Switch Position	Operation or Conditions	Voltage (V) Approx.
10		Key slot illumination	Output		Insert Intelligent Key into key slot and driver side door is open.	Illuminate: Battery voltage Does not illuminate: 0
15	LG/B	signal	Output	LOOK	Remove Intelligent Key from key slot.	0
17	O/B	Outside key antenna (+) signal (Trunk room)				(V) 15 10
18	L	Outside key antenna (-) signal (Trunk room)	Output	LOCK switch.		<sup>3</sup> 0 10 μs SIIA1910J
					Insert Intelligent Key into key slot.	0
19	BR/Y	Key switch signal	Input	LOCK	Remove Intelligent Key from key slot.	Battery voltage
20	В	Ground		ON	—	0
22	0	Door request switch	Input	_	Press door request switch (passenger side).	0
		(passenger side)	-		Other than above	5
22	P	Trunk lid opener can-	Input		Trunk lid opener cancel switch is ON	0
23	Б	cel switch	input	—	Trunk lid opener cancel switch is OFF (cancel)	5
24	O/L	Outside key antenna (+) signal (driver side)				
25	Y	Outside key antenna (-) signal (driver side)	Output	LOCK	Press door request switch (driver side).	5 0 10μ 10μs SIIA1910J
26	BR/M	Unlock sensor	Input		Door (driver side) is locked.	Battery voltage
20	DIVV	(driver side)	mput		Door (driver side) is unlocked.	0
27	V	P range switch	Innut		Selector lever is in "P" position.	0
			mpar		Other than above	Battery voltage
30	L/W	Ignition switch (ACC)	Input	ACC	—	Battery voltage
31	GR	Ignition switch (ON)	Input	ON	—	Battery voltage
35	LG	Vehicle speed signal	Input	ON	At speedometer operation (vehi- cle speed approx. 40 km/h)	(V) 15 10 5 0 • • • 20ms PKIA1935E
37	Р	CAN-L	Input/ Output		_	
38	L	CAN-H	Input/ Output	_	_	_

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

			0:		Condition							
Termi- nal	Wire Color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Ignition Switch Position	Operation or Co	onditions	Voltage (V) Approx.	A				
39	BR/W	Push-button ignition	Input		Press push-button ig	gnition switch	0	В				
	DIVV	switch signal	input		Other than above		Battery voltage					
40	В	Ground		ON	—		0	С				
41	Y	Power source (Fuse)	Input		—		—				Battery voltage	
47	LG	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Instrument center)					(V) 15 10	D				
48	V	Inside key antenna (-) signal (Instrument center)	Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ al	l door close	5 0 10 μs SIIA1910J	E				
49	В	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Console)					(V) 15	F				
50	W	Inside key antenna (-) signal (Console)	Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ al	l door close	$\begin{array}{c} 5\\ 0\\ 0\\ \hline \\ $	G				
51	R/L	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Rear seat)					(V) 15 10	BL				
52	R/W	Inside key antenna (-) signal (Rear seat)	Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ al	l door closed	0 10 μs SilA1910J	J				
53	G/W	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Trunk room)					(V) 15 10	K				
54	LG	Inside key antenna (-) signal (Trunk room)	Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ al	l door close		L				
						Buzzer	SilA1910J	M				
55	Р	Intelligent Key warn- ing buzzer	Output	LOCK	Operate door re- quest switch.	OFF Sound	0	N				
56	В	Ground		ON		SALLOI	0					
57	L	Power source (Fuse)	Input	_			Battery voltage	0				
		(			Wake-up state (Open drive side door)		Battery voltage	0				
58	Ο	A/T shift selector pow- er supply	Output	LOCK	Sleep state (After 30 seconds or more since all doors are closed under the condition that the igni- tion switch is in the LOCK posi- tion)		0	Ρ				

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Tarrasi		ltem	Signal Input/ Output		Condition	
Termi- nal	Wire Color			Ignition Switch Position	Operation or Conditions	Voltage (V) Approx.
61	GR/R	Trunk opener request	Input	_	Press trunk opener request switch.	0
		Switch			Other than above	5
72	В	Ground		ON		0

Terminal and Reference Value for BCM

INFOID:000000004159340

Termi- nal	Wire Color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Condition	Voltage (V) Approx.
11	V	Ignition switch (ACC)	Input	Ignition switch is in ACC or ON position	Battery voltage
12	Р	Front door switch passenger side	Input	Door open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow 8$
13	O/L	Rear door switch RH	Input	Door open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
		Kov owitch signal	loput	Insert Intelligent Key into key slot.	Battery voltage
37	LG	Key switch signal	input	Remove Intelligent Key from key slot.	0
38	W	Ignition switch (ON)	Input	Ignition switch is in ON or START posi- tion.	Battery voltage
39	L	CAN-H	Input/ Output	_	_
40	Р	CAN-L	Input/ Output	_	_
42	Р	Power supply (fuse)	Input	_	Battery voltage
52	В	Ground	_	—	0
55	W	Power supply (Fusible link)	Input	—	Battery voltage
57	SB	Trunk room lamp switch	Input	Trunk lid open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
62	V	Front door switch driver side	Input	Door open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
63	R/G	Rear door switch LH	Input	Door open (ON) $\rightarrow$ Close (OFF)	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$

\*1: In the state that hazard reminder operates.

\*2: In the state that room lamp switch is in "DOOR" position.

## Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R

INFOID:000000004159341

Terminal	Wire Color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Condition	Voltag Appr	e (V) ox.
/8	G/B	Horn relay	Output	Press panic alarm bottom	Horn sounds.	0
40	0/0	G/B Hom relay Output			Horn does not sound.	Battery voltage
49	L	CAN-H	Input/ Output	_	_	-
50	P CAN-L Input/ Output		_	_		

Trouble Diagnosis Procedure

1.CHECK IN

INFOID:000000004159342
< SERVICE INFORMATION >	
CHECK IN.	
	А
2 GET SYMPTOMS	
	В
NOTE:	
If customer reports a "No start" condition, request all Intelligent Keys to be brought to the dealer in case of Intelligent Key system malfunction.	С
Intelligent Key service request>>Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual. Intelligent Key system is malfunctioning>>GO TO 3.	D
<b>3.</b> PERFORM SELF-DIAGNOSIS	
Perform self-diagnosis of Intelligent Key system with CONSULT-III.	Ε
"SELF-DIAG RESULTS" are displayed>>Refer to <u>BL-74, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)"</u> . "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" are not displayed>>GO TO 4.	F
4. CHECK FUNCTION OF INTELLIGENT KEY SYSTEM	
Does all function of Intelligent Key system operate?	G
All function of Intelligent Key system does not operate>>Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom</u> Chart".	Н
Specific function of Intelligent Key system does not operate>>GO TO 5.	
<b>5.</b> CHECK POWER DOOR LOCK OPERATION	
Does door lock/unlock operation by door lock and unlock switch operate?	BL
<u>OK or NG</u>	
OK >> GO TO 6.	J
6 CHECK DOOR REQUEST SWITCH OPERATION	
Does door lock/uplock operation by door request switch operate?	k
OK or NG	N.
OK >> GO TO 7.	
NG >> Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u> .	L
I.CHECK TRUNK OPEN OPERATION	
Does the trunk open operation by the trunk opener switch operate?	M
OK or NG	
NG >> Refer to BL-189.	
8. CHECK TRUNK OPENER REQUEST SWITCH OPERATION	Ν
Does the trunk open operation by the trunk opener request switch operate?	
<u>OK or NG</u>	0
OK >> GO TO 9.	
NG $\rightarrow$ Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u> .	Ρ
<ul> <li>Does the following operation by the Intelligent Key remote control button operate?</li> <li>Door lock/unlock function</li> <li>Trunk open function</li> <li>Panic alarm function</li> </ul>	
OK or NG	
OK >> GO TO 10.	

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

NG >> Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u>.

10. CHECK POWER WINDOW OPERATION

Does power window operation by power window main switch operate?

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 11.

NG >> Refer to  $\underline{GW-14}$ .

**11.**CHECK POWER WINDOW DOWN FUNCTION

Does power window down function by Intelligent Key remote control button operate?

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 12.

NG >> Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u>.

12. CHECK HAZARD AND BUZZER REMINDER FUNCTION BY REQUEST SWITCH

Does hazard and buzzer reminder function by the following switches operate?

• Door request switches

• Trunk opener request switch

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 13.

NG >> Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u>.

13. CHECK HAZARD AND HORN REMINDER FUNCTION BY INTELLIGENT KEY BUTTON

Does hazard and horn reminder function by Intelligent Key button operate?

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 14.

NG >> Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u>.

**14.**CHECK WARNING FUNCTION

Does warning function operate? Refer to <u>BL-44, "System Description"</u>.

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 15.

NG >> Refer to <u>BL-80, "Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart"</u>.

15. снеск оит

CHECK OUT.

>> INSPECTION END

CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)

INFOID:000000004159343

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes as shown below.

Part to be diagnosed	Test item, Diagnosis mode	Description
	WORK SUPPORT	Changes settings for each function.
	SELF-DIAG RESULTS	Intelligent Key unit performs CAN communication diagnosis.
	DATA MONITOR	Displays Intelligent Key unit input data in real time.
Intelligent Key	CAN DIAGNOSTIC SUPPORT MONITOR	The results of transmit/receive diagnosis of CAN Communication can be read.
	ACTIVE TEST	Operation of electrical loads can be checked by sending driving signal to then.
	ECU PART NUMBER	Displays Intelligent Key unit part No.

SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Suspect Systems [DTC]	Diagnostic item is detected when	Repair work	Reference page
CAN COMM CIRCUIT [U1000]	Malfunction is detected in CAN communication	Perform CAN communi- cation system inspection	<u>BL-85</u>
CONTROL UNIT (CAN) [U1010]	Malfunction is detected in CAN communication caused by Intelligent Key unit internal malfunction	Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-85</u>
STRG COMM 1 [B2013]	Communication malfunction with steering lock unit is detected	Check steering lock unit	<u>BL-144</u>
STEERING LOCK UNIT [B2551]	Even if the communication with steering lock unit is nor- mally performed, the steering lock is malfunctioning	Replace steering lock unit	<u>BL-147</u>
INTELLIGENT KEY [B2552]	Internal malfunction is detected in Intelligent Key unit	Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-150</u>
IGN POWER CIRCUIT [B2553]	It continues for 2 seconds or more that ON power sup- ply input to Intelligent Key unit is excessively low when the power supply position is in ON position	Check Intelligent Key unit ON power supply input	<u>BL-150</u>
ACC POWER CIRCUIT [B2554]	It continues for 2 seconds or more that ACC power sup- ply input to Intelligent Key unit is excessively low when the power supply position is in ACC or ON position	Check Intelligent Key unit ACC power supply input	<u>BL-151</u>
STOP LAMP CIRCUIT [B2555]	5V or less is detected at both the stop lamp switch sig- nal input circuit that is input to Intelligent Key unit and the monitor input before stop lamp switch	Check stop lamp switch	<u>BL-153</u>
ENG START SW [B2556]	Condition that push-button ignition switch is pushed is detected continuously for 100 seconds or more	Check push-button igni- tion switch	<u>BL-154</u>
VEHICLE SPEED [B2557]	Some differences occur on one or more vehicle speed inputs of Intelligent Key unit	Check vehicle speed sig- nal	<u>BL-155</u>
SHIFT POSITION [B2558]	<ul> <li>There is a difference between the shift position input via CAN communication and the P position input by detente switch</li> <li>Vehicle speed (5 km/h or more) is detected continuously for 10 seconds or more even if the shift position is detected in P position when the power supply position is in ON position</li> </ul>	Check shift position input	BL-157
PDU [B2559]	Internal malfunction is detected in PDU	Replace PDU	<u>BL-159</u>
START POW SUP CIRC [B2560]	Though the engine start operation is not performed, starter relay in IPDM E/R is ON	Check starter power sup- ply	<u>BL-160</u>
LOW VOLTAGE [B2562]	Battery power supply input to Intelligent Key unit (8.8V or less) is detected continuously for 1.5 seconds or more	Check battery low volt- age	<u>BL-161</u>
HI VOLTAGE [B2563]	Battery power supply input to Intelligent Key unit (18V or more) is detected continuously for 90 seconds or more	Check for battery high voltage	<u>BL-162</u>
NATS MALFUNCTION [B2590]	Malfunction is detected in immobilizer system	Check (IVIS) NATS trou- ble diagnosis procedure	<u>BL-220</u>

#### **CAUTION:**

When CAN COMM [U1000] and CONTROL UNIT (CAN) [U1010] are displayed, give priority to performing trouble diagnosis.

#### DATA MONITOR

Monitor item	Content	P
DR REQ SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door request switch (driver side).	
AS REQ SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door request switch (passenger side).	
BD/TR REQ SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk opener request switch.	
ON POS	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.	
ACC POS	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.	

Ο

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item	Content
DOOR STAT SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door unlock sensor.
STOP LAMP SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of stop lamp switch.
P RANGE SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of transmission range switch.
TR CANCEL SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk cancel switch.
DOOR LOCK SIG	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door lock signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.
DOOR UNLOCK SIG	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door unlock signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.
KEYLESS TRUNK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk open signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.
KEYLESS PANIC	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of panic alarm signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.
DOOR SW DR	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of front door switch driver side from BCM via CAN communica- tion line.
DOOR SW AS	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of front door switch passenger side from BCM via CAN commu- nication line.
DOOR SW RR	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of rear door switch LH from BCM via CAN communication line.
DOOR SW RL	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of rear door switch RH from BCM via CAN communication line.
DOOR BK SW	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of back door switch from BCM via CAN communication line.
TRUNK SW	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of trunk room lamp switch from BCM via CAN communication line.
FOB IN FLAG	Indicates [SET/RESET] of passenger room detection status for registered Intelligent Key.
ID OK FLAG	Indicates [SET/RESET] condition of key ID.
PRMT ENG STAT	Indicates [SET/RESET] of passenger room detection status for registered Intelligent Key.
BCM OK FLAG	This is displayed even if it is not equipped.
RMOT ENG STAT	This is displayed even if it is not equipped.
VEHICLE SPEED	Indicates [km/h] condition of vehicle speed.
STLK STAT SW1	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition that is judged by steering lock status switch.
STLK STAT SW2	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition that is judged by steering lock status switch.
ENGINE SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of push-button ignition switch.
PNP RENGE SIG	Indicates [P position(ON)/other than P position(OFF)] condition that is judged by transmission range switch.
CARD IN	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.
ACC POWER F/B	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.
IGN POWER F/B	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.
STLK POWER F/B	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of steering lock output power supply.
VHCL SPEED 2	Indicates [km/h] condition of vehicle speed.

### WORK SUPPORT

Monitor item	Description
CONFIRM KEY FOB ID	It can be checked whether Intelligent Key ID code is registered or not in this mode.
SHORT CRANKING OUTPUT	Starter motor can operate during the times below. • 70 mses • 100 mses • 200 mses
TAKE OUT FROM WINDOW WARN	Take away warning chime (from window) mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
LOW BAT OF KEY FOB WARN	Intelligent Key low battery warning mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item	Description	
ANSWER BACK FUNCTION	Hazard and buzzer reminder function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	A
SELECTIVE UNLOCK FUNC- TION	Selective unlock function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	В
ANTI KEY LOCK IN FUNCTION	Key reminder function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	С
HORN WITH KEYLESS LOCK	Horn reminder function mode by Intelligent Key button can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CON- SULT-III screen is touched.	D
HAZARD ANSWER BACK	<ul> <li>Hazard reminder function mode can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>LOCK ONLY: Door lock operation only</li> <li>UNLOCK ONLY: Door unlock operation only</li> <li>LOCK/UNLOCK: Lock/Unlock operation</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>	E
ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY LOCK	<ul> <li>Buzzer reminder function (lock operation) mode by door request switch (driver side and passenger side) can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>HORN CHIRP: Sound horn</li> <li>BUZZER: Sound Intelligent Key warning buzzer</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>	G
ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY UN- LOCK	Buzzer reminder function (unlock operation) mode by door request switch can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode.	Η
AUTO RELOCK TIMER	<ul> <li>Auto door lock timer mode can select the following with this mode.</li> <li>1 min</li> <li>5 min</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>	BL
PANIC ALARM DELAY	<ul> <li>Panic alarm button's pressing time on Intelligent Key remote control button can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>0.5 sec</li> <li>1.5 sec</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>	J
TRUNK/GLASS HATCH OPEN	Buzzer reminder function mode by trunk opener request switch can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	L
TRUNK OPEN DELAY	Trunk button's pressing time on Intelligent Key button can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched. • 0.5 sec • 1.5 sec • OFF: Non-operation	М
P/W DOWN DELAY	Unlock button's pressing time on Intelligent Key button can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched. • 3 sec • 5 sec • OFF: Non-operation	N
ENGINE START BY I-KEY	Engine start function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	Ρ
LOCK/UNLOCK BY I-KEY	Door lock/unlock function by door request switch (driver side, passenger side and trunk) mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	

### ACTIVE TEST

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Test item	Description
DOOR LOCK/UNLOCK	<ul> <li>This test is able to check door lock/unlock operation.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are locked when "LOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are unlocked when "ALL UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (driver side) is unlocked when "DR UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The trunk lid opener actuator is open when "TRUNK OPEN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>
ANTENNA	<ul> <li>This test is able to check Intelligent Key antenna operation.</li> <li>When the following conditions are met, hazard warning lamps flash.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (Instrument center) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT1" on CON-SULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (Center console) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT2" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (rear seat) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT3" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (rear seat) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT3" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (Trunk room) detects Intelligent Key, when "LAG ANT1" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Outside key antenna (Driver side) detects Intelligent Key, when "DRIVER ANT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Outside key antenna (Passenger side) detects Intelligent Key, when "ASSIST ANT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Outside key antenna (Passenger side) detects Intelligent Key, when "BD/TR ANT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>
OUTSIDE BUZZER	This test is able to check Intelligent Key warning buzzer operation. Intelligent Key warning buzzer sounds when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
INSIDE BUZZER	<ul> <li>This test is able to check warning chime into combination meter operation.</li> <li>Take away warning chime sounds when "TAKE OUT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Key warning chime sounds when "KEY WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>P position warning chime sounds when "P RNG WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>ACC warning chime sounds when "ACC WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>This test is able to check warning lamp operation.</li> <li>"KEY" Warning lamp illuminates when "KEY IND ON" on CONSULT screen is touched.</li> </ul>
	"KEY" Warning lamp flashes when "KEY IND FSH" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
LCD	<ul> <li>This test is able to check meter display information</li> <li>Engine start information displays when "BRAKE/P" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Engine start information displays when "BRAKE/P/ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Key ID warning displays when "KEY ID NG" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Steering lock information displays when "STLCK RELES" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>P position warning displays when "P RNG IND" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Intelligent Key insert information displays when "INSERT KEY" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Intelligent Key low battery warning displays when "KEY BAT LOW" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Take away through window warning displays when "TK AWAY WDW" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Take away warning display when "TAKE AWAY" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>OFF position warning display when "IGN OFF WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>
P RANGE	This test is able to check A/T shift selector power supply A/T shift selector power is supplied when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
ENGINE SW ILLUMI	This test is able to check push-ignition switch illumination operation. Push-ignition switch illumination illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
LOCK INDCATOR	This test is able to check LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch operation. LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
ACC INDCATOR	This test is able to check ACC indicator in push-ignition switch operation. LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

Revision: 2009 Novemver

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Test item	Description	0
IGNITION ON IND	This test is able to check INGITION ON indicator in push-ignition switch operation. LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	P
KEY SLOT ILLUMI	This test is able to check key slot illumination operation. Key slot illumination flash when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	E

# CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-INTELLIGENT KEY)

INFOID:000000004399661

С

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes as shown below.

Part to be diagnosed	Test item, Diagnosis mode	Description	[
	DATA MONITOR	Displays Intelligent Key unit input data in real time.	
Intelligent Key	ACTIVE TEST	Operation of electrical loads can be checked by sending driving signal to then.	E

#### DATA MONITOR

Monitor item	Content	F
IGN ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.	
ACC ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.	G
KEY ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.	
I-KEY UNLOCK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from Intelligent Key.	
IKEY TRNK/HAT	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk lid open signal from Intelligent Key.	H
I-KEY DR UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door request switch (driver side)	
I-KEY AS UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door request switch (passenger side)	BI
I-KEY PANIC	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of panic button of intelligent Key.	
I-KEY PW DWN	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of PW down signal from intelligent Key.	
ENGINE START	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of push-button ignition switch.	J

#### ACTIVE TEST

Test item	Description	N
DOOR LOCK	<ul> <li>This test is able to check door lock/unlock operation.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are locked when "LOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are unlocked when "ALL UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (driver side) is unlocked when "DR UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The trunk lid opener actuator is open when "TRUNK OPEN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	L
INT LAMP	This test is able to check interior lamp operation. This interior room lamp will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	Ν
TRUNK/GLASS HATCH	This test is able to check trunk lid opener actuator open operation. This actuator opens when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	
POWER WINDOW DOWN	This test is able to check power window down operation. This power window down will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	0
FLASHER	This test is able to check security hazard lamp operation. This hazard lamps will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	Ρ
HORN	This test is able to check horn operation. This horn will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	

# CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-PANIC ALARM)

INFOID:000000004399662

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes as shown below.

#### Revision: 2009 Novemver

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Part to be diagnosed	Test item, Diagnosis mode	Description
Panic alarm	ACTIVE TEST	Operation of electrical loads can be checked by sending driving signal to then.

#### ACTIVE TEST

Test item	Description
VEHICLE SECURITY HORN	This test is able to check vehicle security horn operation. The horns will be activated for 0.5 seconds after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
HEAD LAMP (HI)	This test is able to check vehicle security lamp operation. The headlamps will be activated for 0.5 seconds after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

#### Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart

INFOID:000000004159345

# ALL FUNCTIONS OF INTELLIGENT KEY SYSTEM DOES NOT OPERATE **NOTE**:

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72</u>, <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis, and check each symptom.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

#### Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

• "ENGINE START BY I-KEY" and "LOCK/UNLOCK BY I-KEY" are ON when setting on CONSULT-III.

• All doors are closed.

Symptom		Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
	1.	Check Intelligent Key unit power supply and ground circuit.	<u>BL-86</u>
All function of Intelligent Key system dose not	2.	Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>
operate.	3.	Check remote keyless entry receiver.	<u>BL-106</u>
	4.	Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

# DOOR LOCK/UNLOCK FUNCTION MALFUNCTION NOTE:

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72.</u> <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis, and check each symptom.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

#### Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

- "LOCK/UNLOCK BY I-KEY" is ON when setting on CONSULT-III.
- Intelligent Key is out of key slot.
- All doors are closed.

Symptom		Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
	1.	Check Intelligent Key unit power supply and ground circuit.	<u>BL-86</u>
Door lock/unlock do not operate by door request	2.	Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
Switch.	3.	Check key slot.	<u>BL-87</u>
	4.	Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
	1. Check door request switch (driver side).	<u>BL-92</u>
Door lock/unlock does not operate by request switch (driver side)	2. Check outside key antenna (driver side).	<u>BL-98</u>
	3. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	1. Check door request switch (passenger side).	<u>BL-92</u>
Door lock/unlock does not operate by request switch (passenger side).	2. Check outside key antenna (passenger side).	<u>BL-98</u>
	3. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
Selective unlock function does not operate by	<ol> <li>Check "SELECT UNLOCK FUNCTION" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".</li> </ol>	<u>BL-74</u>
door request switch (driver side) (other door lock function operate).	2. Check selective unlock function with a remote control- ler or door key cylinder.	<u>BL-24</u>
	3. Replace BCM.	BCS-14
Selective unlock function does not operate by door request switch (passenger side) (other door lock function operate).	1. Check "SELECT UNLOCK FUNCTION" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
	2. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	<ol> <li>Check "AUTO RELOCK TIMER" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".</li> </ol>	<u>BL-74</u>
Auto lock function does not operate.	2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
	3. Check key slot.	<u>BL-87</u>
	4. Replace BCM.	BCS-14
	<ol> <li>Check "ANTI KEY LOCK IN FUNCTION" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".</li> </ol>	<u>BL-74</u>
Key reminder function does not operate.	2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
	3. Check inside key antenna.	<u>BL-101</u>
	4. Check unlock sensor.	<u>BL-95</u>
	5. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>
	6. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	BL-113

# REMOTE KEYLESS ENTRY FUNCTION MALFUNCTION NOTE:

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72.</u> <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis, and check each symptom.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

- Intelligent Key is out of key slot.
- Ignition switch is not ON position.
- All doors are closed.

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page	0
All of the remote keyless entry functions do	1. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>	
not operate.	2. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>	Р
Selective unlock function does not operate	1. Check "SELECT UNLOCK FUNCTION" setting in "WORK SUP- PORT".	<u>BL-74</u>	
by Intelligent Key.	2. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>	
	3. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>	

Κ

Μ

Ν

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
	1. Check "AUTO RELOCK TIMER" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
Auto lock function does not operate proper-	2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
ly.	3. Check key slot.	<u>BL-87</u>
	4. Replace BCM.	BCS-14
	1. Check "ANTI KEY LOCK IN FUNCTION" setting in "WORK SUP- PORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
	2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
Key reminder function does not operate.	3. Check inside key antenna.	BL-101
	4. Check unlock sensor.	<u>BL-95</u>
	5. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>
	6. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	1. Check "PANIC ALARM DELAY" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
	2. Check theft warning operation.	<u>BL-197</u>
Panic alarm function does not operate.	3. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>
	4. Check key slot.	<u>BL-87</u>
	5. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

#### TRUNK OPEN FUNCTION MALFUNCTION

#### NOTE:

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72</u>, <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis, and check each symptom.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

#### Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

- Intelligent Key is out of key slot.
- All doors are closed.

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
	1. Check trunk opener request switch.	<u>BL-94</u>
Trunk open function does not operate by trunk	2. Check trunk lid opener cancel switch.	<u>BL-109</u>
opener request switch.	3. Check outside key antenna (trunk room).	<u>BL-100</u>
	4. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	1. Check "TRUNK OPEN DELAY" setting in "WORK SUP- PORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
Trunk open function does not operate by Intelli-	2. Check trunk lid opener system.	<u>BL-189</u>
gent Key.	3. Check trunk room lamp switch.	<u>BL-90</u>
	4. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	BL-113
	5. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	1. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
	2. Check trunk room lamp switch.	<u>BL-90</u>
Key reminder function does not operate.	3. Check inside key antenna (trunk room).	<u>BL-101</u>
	4. Check trunk lid opener system.	<u>BL-189</u>
	5. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

# HAZARD AND BUZZER REMINDER FUNCTION MALFUNCTION NOTE:

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72.</u> <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

- "LOCK/UNLOCK BY I-KEY" is ON when setting on CONSULT-III.
- "ANSWER BACK FUNCTION" is ON when setting on CONSULT-III.
- Ignition switch is in OFF position.
- All doors are closed.
- Intelligent Key is out of key slot.

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page	D
Hazard reminder does not operate by request	1. Check "HAZARD ANSWER BACK" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>	
switch. (Horn reminder operate.)	2. Check hazard function with hazard switch.	LT-152	- E
	3. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>	-
Buzzer reminder does not operate by reques	Check "ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY LOCK" or "AN- 1. SWER BACK WITH I-KEY UNLOCK" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>	F
(Hazard reminder operate.)	2. Check Intelligent Key warning buzzer.	<u>BL-97</u>	-
	3. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>	- 0
	1. Check "TRUNK/GLASS HATCH OPEN" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>	H
Buzzer reminder does not operate by trunk opener request switch.	2. Check Intelligent Key warning buzzer.	<u>BL-97</u>	
	3. Check trunk opener lid system.	<u>BL-189</u>	-
	4. Replace Intelligent Key unit	BL-113	BL

# HAZARD AND HORN REMINDER FUNCTION MALFUNCTION NOTE:

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72.</u> <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis, and check each symptom.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

- "ANSWER BACK FUNCTION" is ON when setting on CONSULT-III.
- Ignition switch is in OFF position.
- All doors are closed.

M

J

Κ

L

А

В

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page	•
Hazard reminder does not operate by Intelli-	1. Check "HAZARD ANSWER BACK" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>	N
gent Key button. (Horn reminder operate.)	2. Check hazard function with hazard switch.	<u>LT-152</u>	-
()	3. Replace Intelligent Key	<u>BL-113</u>	0
Horn reminder does not operate by Intelligen	1. Check "HORN WITH KEYLESS LOCK" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>	-
Key button (door lock/unlock button). (Hazard reminder operate.)	2. Check horn function.	<u>BL-112</u>	P
(	3. Replace Intelligent Key unit	<u>BL-113</u>	-

# POWER WINDOW DOWN FUNCTION MALFUNCTION NOTE:

• Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72</u>, <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

• If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnoses/service procedure" column in this order.

Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)

- Ignition switch is in OFF or ACC position.
- Retained power operation does not operate. Refer to <u>GW-14, "System Description"</u>.

Symptom	Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
Power window down function does not op-	1. Check "P/W DOWN DELAY" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
erate.	2. Check Intelligent Key battery inspection.	<u>BL-113</u>

#### WARNING FUNCTION MALFUNCTION

#### NOTE:

- Before performing the diagnosis in the following table, check "Trouble Diagnosis Procedure". Refer to <u>BL-72.</u> <u>"Trouble Diagnosis Procedure"</u>.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis, and check each symptom.
- If the following "symptoms" are detected, check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

#### **Conditions of Vehicle (Operating Conditions)**

Warning chime functions operating condition is extremely complicated, during operating confirmations, reconfirm the list above twice in order to ensure proper operation.

Symptom		Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
	For internal	1. Check ignition switch position.	<u>BL-105</u>
		2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
		3. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
OFF position warn-		4. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
ate.		1. Check ignition switch position.	<u>BL-105</u>
	For oxtornal	2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
		3. Check Intelligent Key warning buzzer.	<u>BL-97</u>
		4. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
I		1. Check Transmission range switch.	<u>BL-103</u>
		2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
P position warning de	os not oporato	3. Check Intelligent Key warning buzzer.	<u>BL-97</u>
r position warning de	les not operate.	4. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
		5. Check combination meter display.	<u>BL-112</u>
		6. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
ACC warning does not operate		1. Check ignition switch position.	<u>BL-105</u>
		2. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
		3. Check combination meter display.	BL-112
		4. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Symptom		Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
		1. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
		2. Check inside key antenna.	BL-101
		3. Check Intelligent Key warning buzzer.	<u>BL-97</u>
	Door open to close	4. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
		5. Check key slot illumination.	<u>BL-111</u>
		6. Check combination meter display.	<u>BL-112</u>
		7. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
		1. Check ignition switch position.	<u>BL-105</u>
		2. Check inside key antenna.	<u>BL-101</u>
	Push-button ignition	3. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
	switch operation	4. Check key slot illumination.	<u>BL-111</u>
Take away warning		5. Check combination meter display.	<u>BL-112</u>
does not operate.		6. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	Door is open	1. Check ignition switch position.	<u>BL-105</u>
		2. Check inside key antenna.	<u>BL-101</u>
		3. Check combination meter display.	<u>BL-112</u>
		4. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
	Take away through window	1. Check "TAKE OUT FROM WINDOW WARN" setting in "WORK SUPPORT".	<u>BL-74</u>
		2. Check inside key antenna.	<u>BL-101</u>
		3. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
		4. Check key slot illumination.	<u>BL-111</u>
		5. Check combination meter display.	<u>BL-112</u>
		6. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
		1. Check key slot.	BL-87
		2. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
		3. Check warning chime function.	<u>BL-113</u>
Key warning chime d	loes not operate.	4. Check key slot illumination.	<u>BL-111</u>
		5. Check combination meter display.	<u>BL-112</u>
		6. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>
		1. Check door switch.	<u>BL-88</u>
		2. Check key slot illumination.	<u>BL-111</u>
Door lock operation w	varning chime does not	3. Check Intelligent Key warning buzzer.	BL-97
operate.		4. Check inside key antenna.	<u>BL-101</u>
		5. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	BL-113

### **Check CAN Communication System**

#### INFOID:000000004159346

Ρ

# 1.CHECK SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

#### **CAUTION:**

If CONSULT-III is used with no connection of CONSULT-III CONVERTER, malfunctions might be detected in self-diagnosis depending on control unit which performs CAN communication.

#### With CONSULT-III

- Connect CONSULT-III, and turn ignition switch ON.
- Touch "INTELLIGENT KEY" on "SELECT SYSTEM" screen.
- Touch "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" on "SELECT DIAG MODE" screen.
- Check display content in self-diagnostic results.

#### **BL-85**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

CONSULT-III display item	DTC code
NO DTC IS DETECTED	_
CAN COMM CIRCUIT	U1000
CONTROL UNIT (CAN)	U1010

#### OK or NG

NO DTC IS DETECTED>> INSPECTION END

CAN COMM CIRCUIT [U1000]>> After printing "SELF-DIAGNOSIS RESULTS", go to "CAN SYSTEM", Refer to LAN-10, "Precautions for Trouble Diagnosis".

CONTROL UNIT (CAN) [U1010]>> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

#### **Check Power Supply and Ground Circuit**

INFOID:000000004159347

## 1.CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit connector.

3. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit harness connector and ground.



# 2. CHECK GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit harness connector and ground.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal		Continuity
Maa	20		
IVI32	40	Ground	Vaa
M22	56		165
	72	-	

#### OK or NG

- OK >> Power supply and ground circuits are OK.
- NG >> Repair or replace the Intelligent Key unit ground circuit.



### **Check Key Slot**

1.CHECK KEY SLOT INPUT SIGNAL



۹ H.S.

ΕĘ,

#### OK

NG >> GO TO 2.

# 2. CHECK KEY SLOT POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect key slot connector.
- 3. Check voltage between slot connector and ground.

(+)		(_)	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	
Key slot connector	Terminal	(-)	X 11 - 7	
M14	1	Ground	Battery voltage	

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace key slot power supply circuit.

# 3. CHECK KEY SLOT

Check key slot.

PIIB6320F

Μ

Ν

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Terminal Key slot		Condition	Continuity
		Condition	
1	з	Intelligent Key inserted	Yes
I	5	Intelligent Key removed	No
<u></u>			

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Replace key slot.

### CHECK KEY SLOT GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between key slot connector and ground.



# 5. CHECK KEY SWITCH CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit connector.
- 2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector 7 and key slot connector.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and harness connector.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and key slot.

### Check Door Switch

INFOID:000000004159349

PIIB6322F

1. CHECK DOOR SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check door switches ("DOOR SW-DR", "DOOR SW-AS", "DOOR SW-RL" and "DOOR SW-RR") in "DATA MONITOR" mode with CONSULT-III.

 Continuity

 Yes

 No

 Understand

 PIBE0321E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item	Condition
DOOR SW-DR	
DOOR SW-AS	
DOOR SW-RL	$- \text{CLOSE} \rightarrow \text{OPEN}. \text{ OPF} \rightarrow \text{ON}$
DOOR SW-RR	

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.

Terminals					H.S. 🕒 🗸 🔇								
(+)			Door condition		Voltage (V)								
BCM connector	Terminal	()	(-)		(Approx.)								
			Front	OPEN	0								
M1	12		passenger side	CLOSE	Battery voltage								
	10	Rear RH	OPEN	0									
	15	Ground	side	CLOSE	Battery voltage								
M3	60							1	Driver eide	Dairea aida	OPEN	0	
	02		Driver side	CLOSE	Battery voltage								
	62		Rear LH	OPEN	0								
	03		side	CLOSE	Battery voltage								

OK >> Door switch circuit is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

# 2. CHECK DOOR SWITCH

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect door switch connector.
- 3. Check door switch.

Terminal		Door switch	Continuity	
Door switch		Door Switch		
2	Ground part of	Pushed	No	
	door switch	Released	Yes	

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Replace malfunction door switch.

# 3. CHECK DOOR SWITCH CIRCUIT

1. Disconnect BCM connector.

2. Check continuity between BCM connector and door switch connector.



12, 13

62,63

F

D

Ε

F

Н

ΒL

J

Ρ

PIIB6324E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

А		В		
BCM connector	Terminal	Door switch connector	Terminal	Continuity
M1	12	B424	- 2	Voc
	13	B403		
Ma	62	B11	2	165
NIS	63	B53		

3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.

А		Continuity	
BCM connector	Terminal	-	Continuity
 M1	12	- Ground	No
IVII	13		
	62	1	INU
INIS	63		

### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> GO TO 4.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness between BCM and door switch.

#### **4.**CHECK BCM OUTPUT SIGNAL

- 1. Connect BCM connector.
- 2. Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.



NG >> Replace BCM.





# Check Trunk Room Lamp Switch

1. CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check ("TRUNK SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode with CONSULT-III.



INFOID:000000004159350

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item		Condition	
TRUNK SW	OPEN	: ON	
INCOME OW	CLOSE	: OFF	

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.

	Terminals	- ·		
(+)		()	I runk condition	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
BCM connector	Terminal	(-)		
M3	M3 57	Ground	OPEN	0
IVIS		Ground	CLOSE	Battery voltage

#### OK or NG

OK >> Trunk room lamp switch circuit is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

# **2.**CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect trunk lid lock assembly connector.
- 3. Check trunk room lamp switch.

Terminal Trunk room lamp switch		Trunk condition	Continuity
1 2	2	OPEN	Yes
	2	CLOSE	No

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Replace trunk room lamp switch.

# **3.**CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect BCM connector.
- 2. Check continuity between BCM connector and trunk lid lock assembly connector.

А			В					N
BCM connector	Terminal	Trunk lid lock sembly connecto	k as- T	Ferminal	Continuity		B	N
M3	57	T106		1	Yes			
3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.				<u>Ω</u>		0		
	А				Continuity		<b>†</b>	
BCM connector	r   T	erminal	Grou	nd	Continuity		PIIB8997E	
M3		57			No			Ρ

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between BCM and trunk room lamp switch.

4.CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH GROUND CIRCUIT



А

В

D

Ε

F

L

PIIB6326E



#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Check continuity between trunk lid lock assembly connector and ground.

Trunk lid sem conn	lock as- hbly ector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity	
T1	06	2		Yes	2
OK or NG					
OK>> GO TO 5.NG>> Repair or replace trunk room lamp switch ground circuit.					

# 5. CHECK BCM OUTPUT SIGNAL

- Connect BCM connector. 1.
- Check voltage between BCM connector and ground. 2.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> Replace BCM.



PIIB8996

### **Check Door Request Switch**

1.CHECK DOOR REQUEST SWITCH

#### (P) With CONSULT-III

Check door request switch ("DR REQ SW" or "AS REQ SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode.

Monitor item	Condition
DR REQ SW	Door request switch is pressed: ON
AS REQ SW	Door request switch is released: OFF

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

Turn ignition switch OFF. 1.

Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit harness connector and ground. 2.

Terminals				Door re-	
	(+)			quest	Voltage (V)
Intel	Intelligent Key unit connector		(-)	Switch Condition	(Approx.)
	Door request switch (driver side)	2	Ground	Pressed	0
M32				Released	5
Do (pas	Door request	22	Giodila	Pressed	0
	switch (passenger side)			Released	5

2, 22 V PIIB6330E

OK or NG

OK >> Door request switch is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

2.CHECK DOOR REQUEST SWITCH CIRCUIT



#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- 1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and front outside handle connector.
- 2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and front outside handle connector.

		В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Front outside handle connector	Terminal	Continuity
Maa	2	D15 (LH)	2	Voc
10132	22	D45 (RH)	3	165

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

	1.S.
<u>2, 22</u>	
Ω	
	PIIB6331E

А

Е

F

Н

ΒL

Κ

Μ

Ν

Ρ

	A		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M32	2		No
1015Z	22		NO

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and front outside handle.

# **3.**CHECK DOOR REQUEST SWITCH OPERATION

Check front outside handle.

Terminal Front outside handle		Door request	Continuity
		switch condition	Continuity
3	Λ	Pressed	Yes
	7	Released	No

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Replace malfunction front outside handle.

### 4. CHECK DOOR REQUEST SWITCH GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between front outside handle connector and ground.

Front outside handle	Terminal		Continuity
connector		Ground	
D15 (LH)	Λ		Vaa
D45 (RH)	4		res

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 5.

NG >> Repair or replace front outside handle ground circuit.

# 5. CHECK INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT OUTPUT SIGNAL

1. Connect Intelligent Key unit connector.

2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.



PIIB6333E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

(+)			Voltage (V)
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	(Approx.)
M32	2	Ground	5
MOZ	22	Ground	5

#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

### Check Trunk Opener Request Switch

# 1. CHECK TRUNK OPENER REQUEST SWITCH

#### (B) With CONSULT-III

Check trunk opener request switch ("BD/TR REQ SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode.

Monitor item	Condition
	Trunk opener request switch is pressed: ON
bb/mmed ow	Trunk opener request switch is released: OFF

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

Terminals			Trunk lid open-	
(-	+)		er request switch condi- tion	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()		
Maa	64	Ground	Pressed	0
IVISS	01	Ground	Released	5



#### OK or NG

OK >> Trunk opener request switch is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

# 2. CHECK TRUNK OPENER REQUEST SWITCH CIRCUIT

1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and trunk opener request switch connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and trunk opener request switch connector.

	A	В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Trunk request switch connector	Terminal	Continuity
M33	61	T107	1	Yes

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M33	61		No



**) ((C**FF

INFOID:000000004159352

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

OK or NG А OK >> GO TO 3. NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and trunk opener request switch. **3.**CHECK TRUNK OPENER REQUEST SWITCH OPERATION В Check trunk opener request switch. Terminal Trunk opener request Continuity switch condition Trunk opener request switch Pressed Yes 1 2 D Released No OK or NG OK >> GO TO 4. Ε NG >> Replace trunk opener request switch. PIIB6336E 4.CHECK TRUNK OPENER REQUEST SWITCH GROUND CIRCUIT F Check continuity between trunk opener request switch connector and ground. Trunk opener request Terminal Continuity switch connector Ground T107 2 Yes Н OK or NG OK >> GO TO 5. >> Repair or replace trunk opener request switch ground NG ΒL circuit. PIIB6337E J 5. CHECK INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT OUTPUT SIGNAL 1. Connect Intelligent Key unit connector. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground. 2. Κ Εþ Terminals L (+) Voltage (V) (Approx.) (-) Intelligent Key unit Terminal connector Μ M33 5 61 Ground OK or NG OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. Ν NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit. PIIB8990F Check Unlock Sensor INFOID:000000004159353 1.CHECK UNLOCK SENSOR POWER SUPPLY

#### With CONSULT-III

Check unlock sensor ("DOOR STAT SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode.

Monitor item	Condition
	Front door lock (driver side) LOCK: ON
DOOR STAT SW	Front door lock (driver side) UNLOCK: OFF

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

	Terminals	Front door		
(+	+)		lock	Voltage (V)
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	(-)	(driver side) condition	(Approx.)
M32	26	Ground	Locked	Battery voltage
10132	20	Ground	Unlocked	0



#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Unlock sensor is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

# 2. CHECK UNLOCK SENSOR CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and front door lock assembly (driver side) connector.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and front door lock assembly (driver side) connector.



OK	٥r	NG	

NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

M32

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and front door lock assembly (driver side).

No

#### ${f 3.}$ CHECK UNLOCK SENSOR GROUND CIRCUIT

26

Check continuity between front door lock assembly (driver side) connector and ground.





### 4. CHECK INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT OUTPUT SIGNAL

1. Connect Intelligent Key unit harness connector.

>> Repair or replace harness.

2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

# < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	Termir	nals			
	(+)			Voltage (V)	
Intelligent Key u connector	nit Termi	nal	(–) (Approx.)		
M32	26		Ground	Battery voltage	
OK or NG OK >> Re NG >> Re	eplace front o eplace Intelli	door lock ass gent Key unit	embly (drive	r side).	PIIB6338E
Check Intel	ligent Key	Warning	Buzzer		INFOID:000000004159354
1.CHECK IN	TELLIGENT	KEY WARNI	NG BUZZER	R	
Check voltage	between Int	elligent Key ι	init connecto	or and ground.	
	Terminals				
(+	)		Warning buz	z- Voltage (V)	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	er operation condition (Approx.)	n (Approx.)	
M33	55	Ground	Ground	0	
	66	Cround	No Battery voltage		
$\begin{array}{rcl} OK & >> In: \\ NG & >> Gi \\ \hline 2.CHECK IN^{-1}. & Turn ignitia \\ 2. & Disconnec \\ 3. & Check vol \end{array}$	telligent Key O TO 2. FELLIGENT on switch OF ct Intelligent I tage betwee	warning buz: KEY WARNII F. Key warning n Intelligent k	zer is OK. NG BUZZER ouzzer conne (ey warning l	R POWER SUPP ector. buzzer connecto	LY CIRCUIT
	Termir	nals			
Intelligent Key warning buzze connector	(+) / r Termi	nal	(-) Voltage (V) (Approx.)		
E37	3		Ground Battery voltage		
OK or NG OK >> G NG >> R Su 3 CHECK IN	O TO 3. epair or repla ipply circuit.	ace Intelligen	t Key warnir	ng buzzer power	PIIB6342E
2. Check cor	ntinuity betwe	een Intelligen	t Key unit co	nnector and Inte	lligent Key warning buzzer connector.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



>> GO TO 4. OK

>> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and Intelligent Key warning buzzer. NG

<b>4.</b> CHECK INTELLIGENT KE	Y WARNING BUZZER	OPERATION
--------------------------------	------------------	-----------

Connect battery power supply to Intelligent Key warning buzzer terminals 1 and 3, and check the operation.

1 (BAT-) - 3 (BAT+)

: the buzzer sounds

#### OK or NG

- OK >> Intelligent Key warning buzzer is OK.
- NG >> Replace Intelligent Key warning buzzer.



# Check Outside Key Antenna (Driver Side and Passenger Side)

INFOID:000000004159355

# 1. CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA FUNCTION

#### (R) With CONSULT-III

- 1. Check the operation with ("ANTENNA") in the ACTIVE TEST.
- 2. Touch "DRIVER ANT" and "ASSIST ANT" on screen.
- 3. Carry the Intelligent Key into the antenna detection area.

Test item	Corresponding antenna
DRIVER ANT	Outside key antenna driver side
ASSIST ANT	Outside key antenna passenger side

#### Does the hazard lamps flash?

Yes >> Outside key antenna (driver side or passenger side) is OK.

No >> GO TO 2.

**2.**CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 1

Turn ignition switch OFF. 1.

Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope. 2.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> GO TO 3.

# **3.**CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA CIRCUIT

- Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and front outside handle connector. 1.
- 2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and front outside handle connector.

A		В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Front outside handle connector	Terminal	Continuity
	24		1	
M32	25	DIS	2	Voc
	11	D45	1	163
	12	545	2	



Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and 3. ground.

Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal		Continuity
	24	Ground	
Maa	25		No
IVI32	11		NU
	12		

# Ν

Ρ

Μ

J

Κ

L

F

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and front outside handle.

### 4. CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 2

- 1. Replace outside key antenna. (New antenna or other antenna)
- 2. Connect Intelligent Key unit and front outside handle connector.
- 3. Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



#### OK or NG

OK >> Replace malfunction front outside handle.

NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

#### Check Outside Key Antenna (Trunk Room)

INFOID:000000004159356

# 1. CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA FUNCTION

#### With CONSULT-III

- 1. Check the operation with ("ANTENNA") in the ACTIVE TEST.
- 2. Touch "BD/TR ANT" on screen.
- 3. Carry the Intelligent Key into the antenna detection area.

Test item	Corresponding antenna
BD/TR ANT	Outside key antenna trunk room

Do the hazard lamps flash?

Yes >> Outside key antenna (trunk room) is OK.

No >> GO TO 2.

# **2.**CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 1

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> GO TO 3.

3.CHECK OUTSIDE KEY ANTENNA CIRCUIT

1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and outside key antenna (trunk room) connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and outside key antenna (trunk room) connector.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Test item	Corresponding antenna
ROOM ANT1	Inside key antenna instrument center
ROOM ANT2	Inside key antenna console

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Test item	Corresponding antenna
ROOM ANT3	Inside key antenna rear seat
LUG ANT1	Inside key antenna trunk room

Do the hazard lamps flash?

Yes >> Inside key antenna is OK.

No >> GO TO 2.

2. CHECK INSIDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 1

#### 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> GO TO 3.

# **3.**CHECK INSIDE KEY ANTENNA CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and inside key antenna connector.
- 2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and inside key antenna connector.

	А			В		
-	Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Inside ke	ey antenna con- nector	Terminal	Continuity
		47	M83	Instrument	1	
		48	1000	center	2	Yee
		49	M4 40	Concelo	1	
	M22	50	101142	CONSOLE	2	
	10133	51	B45 Rear seat	Boor cost	1	165
		52		2		
	53	P472	<b>T</b> . 1	1		
		54	D473		2	



3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	А			
Intelli c	gent Key unit onnector	Terminal		Continuity
	Instrument conter	47		
		48	*	
	Consolo	49	Ground	
M33	Console —	50	-	No
10133	Rear seat	51	Ţ	INU
	itea seat	52		
	Trunk room	53	Ţ	
		54		

<u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and inside key antenna.

**4.**CHECK INDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 2

1. Replace inside key antenna. (New antenna or other antenna)

- 2. Connect Intelligent Key unit and inside key antenna connector.
- 3. Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Replace malfunction inside key antenna.

NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

#### Check Transmission Range Switch

1.CHECK TRANSMISSION RANGE SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check ("P RANGE SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode.

Monitor item	Condition
P RANGE SW	A/T shift selector P position: ON
F RANGE SW	Other than above: OFF

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

INFOID:000000004159358

F

L

Μ

Ν

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	Terminals		Voltage (V)	4	
(+)				A/T shift se-	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	lector position	(Approx.)	
			Р	0	
M32	27	Ground	Other than above	Battery voltage	



#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Transmission range switch circuit is OK. NG >> GO TO 2. 2.CHECK INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT OUTPUT SIGNAL

Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

	Terminals				
(	+)			Voltage (V)	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	Condition	(Approx.)	
			Wake-up state (Open drive side door)	Battery voltage	
M33	58	Ground	Sleep state (After 30 seconds or more since all doors are closed under the condition that the ignition switch is in the LOCK position)	0	PIIB6353E

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

# **3.**CHECK TRANSMISSION RANG SWITCH

1. Disconnect A/T shift selector connector.

2. Check A/T shift selector.

Tern	ninal	A/T shift selector	Continuity	
A/T shift	selector	position	Continuity	
0	10	Р	Yes	
	10	Other than above	No	

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Check A/T shift lock system. Refer to AT-211.



### **4.**CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 1

1. Disconnect A/T shift selector connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and A/T shift selector connector.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



#### OK or NG

OK >> Ignition power supply is OK. NG

Check the following. >>

Repair or replace Intelligent Key unit power supply circuit.

• Check 10A fuse [No. 6, located in the fuse block (J/B)]

# **BL-105**

PIIB6357E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### • Check 10A fuse [No. 12, located in the fuse block (J/B)]

# **Check Remote Keyless Entry Receiver**

INFOID:000000004159360

# 1. CHECK REMOTE KEYLESS ENTRY RECEIVER OUTPUT SIGNAL

#### Turn ignition switch OFF. 1.

Check signal between remote keyless entry receiver connector and ground with oscilloscope. 2.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Remote keyless entry receiver is OK.

>> GO TO 2. NG

### 2. CHECK REMOTE KEYLESS ENTRY RECEIVER POWER SUPPLY

1. Disconnect remote keyless entry receiver connector.

Check signal between remote keyless entry receiver connector and ground with oscilloscope. 2.



#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# Disconnect Intelligent Key unit connector. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit co

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and remote keyless entry receiver connector.

2. Check contin	iuity betwee	en mengem	Key unit com		
A			В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Remote key entry receiv connecto	less /er Termir r	Continuity	
M32	7	M89	4	Yes	
<ol> <li>Check conti ground.</li> </ol>	nuity betwo	een Intelliger	nt Key unit o	connector and	
	А				PIIB6360E
Intelligent Key un connector	nit .	Terminal	Ground	Continuity	
M32		7		No	-
OK or NG	ck the cond	lition of harne	ss and conn	actor	•
A.CHECK REM	OTE KEYL	ce namess be ESS ENTRY emote keyless	RECEIVER (	GROUND CIR	CUIT
Remote keyless er receiver connector	ntry .	Terminal	Ground	Continuity	
M89		1		Yes	
OK or NG					•
OK >> GO NG >> GO	TO 6. TO 5.				
5.CHECK HARI	NESS CON	ITINUITY 2			PIIB6361E
Check continuity	between Ir	ntelligent Key	unit connecte	or and remote	keyless entry receiver connector.
		1	-	1	

A		В			
Intelligent Key unit connector		Remote keyless entry receiver connector	Terminal	Continuity	
M32 6		M89	1	Yes	
OK or NG					
OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.					
NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and remote keyless entry.					



**6.**CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 3

1. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and remote keyless entry receiver connector.

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 7.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and remote keyless entry.

### 7.INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT OUTPUT SIGNAL

#### 1. Connect Intelligent Key unit and remote keyless entry receiver connector.

2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> GO TO 8.

#### **8.**CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 4

1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and remote keyless entry receiver connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and remote keyless entry receiver connector.


### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A B						
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Trunk lid opener cancel switch Terminal connector			Continuity	
M32	23	M99 1			Yes	
3. Check con ground.	nnector and					
	А					
Intelligent Key connector	erminal		Ground	Continuity		
M32 23					No	



### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and trunk lid opener cancel switch.

# $\mathbf{3}.$ Check trunk Lid opener cancel switch operation

Check trunk lid opener cancel switch.

Ter	minal	Trunk lid opener cancel	Continuity
Trunk lid oper	er cancel switch	switch condition	Continuity
1	3	ON	Yes
I	5	OFF (Cancel)	No



# OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Replace trunk lid opener cancel switch.

# 4. CHECK TRUNK LID OPENER CANCEL SWITCH GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between trunk lid opener cancel switch connector and ground.

Trunk lid opener cancel switch connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity	
M99	3		Yes	
OK or NG				
OK >> GO TO 5.				
NG >> Repair or re circuit.	place trun	< lid opener cancel s	witch ground	

# 5. CHECK INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT OUTPUT SIGNAL

1. Connect Intelligent Key unit connector.

2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

PIIB6392E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

(-	+)		Voltage (V)
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	(Approx.)
M32	23	Ground	5

### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

# **Check Key Slot Illumination**

# 1. CHECK KEY SLOT ILLUMINATION OUTPUT SIGNAL

Check voltage between key slot connector and ground.





OK or NG

OK >> Key slot illumination is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

## 2.check harness continuity

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and key slot connector. 2.
- Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and key slot connector. 3.

	_		_			
Α						
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Key slot connector	Terminal	Continuity		
M32	13	M14	3	Yes		

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and 4. ground.

Intelligent Key unit connector	Intelligent Key unit connector		Continuity
M32	13		No



OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and key slot.

 $\mathbf{3}.$ check key slot ground circuit

Check continuity between key slot connector and ground.



INFOID:000000004159362

Ε

F

Н

ΒL

Ρ

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



# **Check Horn Function**

INFOID:000000004159363

First perform the "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" of "BCM" with CONSULT-III, then perform the trouble diagnosis of malfunction system indicated in "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" of "BCM". Refer to <u>BCS-10, "CAN</u> <u>Communication Unit"</u>.

1.CHECK HORN OPERATION

Check if horn sounds with horn switch.

Does horn operate?

Yes >> GO TO 2.

No >> Check horn circuit. Refer to <u>WW-42</u>.

2.CHECK IPDM E/R INPUT SIGNAL

Check voltage between IPDM E/R connector and ground.

(	+)		Voltage (V)
IPDM E/R connector	Terminal	()	(Approx.)
E9	48	Ground	Battery voltage



Ω

### OK or NG

OK >> Replace IPDM E/R.

NG >> GO TO 3.

# 3. CHECK HORN RELAY CIRCUIT

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

2. Disconnect IPDM E/R and horn relay connector.

3. Check continuity between IPDM E/R connector and horn relay connector.

A		В		
IPDM E/R connector	Terminal	Horn relay connector	Terminal	Continuity
E9	48	E20	1	Yes

### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Check harness connection.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.



**1.**CHECK METER DISPLAY

### With CONSULT-III

Check the operation with ("LCD") in the ACTIVE TEST.



INFOID:000000004159364

PIIB6220E

E) 🖣

R

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

Is each warning displayed on meter display?	А
OK or NGOK>> Meter display is OK.NG>> Check combination meter. Refer to DI-17, "Self-Diagnosis Mode of Combination Meter".	В
Check Warning Chime Function	15
1. CHECK WARNING CHIME INTO COMBINATION METER OPERATION	С
<ul> <li>With CONSULT-III</li> <li>Check the operation with "INSIDE BUZZER" in the "ACTIVE TEST".</li> <li>Touch "TAKE OUT", "KEY WARN", "P RNG WARN" or "ACC WARN" on screen.</li> </ul>	D
Does warning buzzer sound?Yes>> Warning buzzer into combination meter is OK.No>> GO TO 2.	E
2. CHECK OTHER WARNING CHIME OPERATION	
Confirm other warning chime function. Refer to DI-56, "System Description".	F
Does other warning chime operate?         Yes       >> Warning buzzer into combination meter is OK         No       >> Check warning chime. Refer to DI-66, "Trouble Diagnosis".	G
Removal and Installation of Intelligent Key Unit	ì6
REMOVAL	Н
<ol> <li>Remove dash side finisher. Refer to <u>EI-49, "Component Parts Location"</u>.</li> <li>Disconnect intelligent key unit connector.</li> </ol>	BL
3. Remove intelligent key unit mounting nuts, and then remove intelligent key unit.	J

### INSTALLATION Installation is in the reverse order of removal.

# Intelligent Key Battery Replacement

# DISASSEMBLY AND ASSEMBLY OF INTELLIGENT KEY

- 1. Release the lock knob at the back of the Intelligent Key and remove the mechanical key.
- Insert a flat-blade screwdriver (A) wrapped with a close into the slit of the corner and twist it to separate the upper part from the lower part.
   CAUTION:
  - Be careful not to touch the circuit board or battery terminal.
  - The key fob is water-resistant. However, if it does get wet, immediately wipe it dry.



a

Ν

0

Ρ

Μ

PIIB5900E

INFOID:000000004159367

Κ

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- 3. Replace the battery with new one.
- Align the tips of the upper and lower parts, and then push them together until it is securely closed.
   CAUTION:
  - When replacing battery, be sure to keep dirt, grease, and other foreign materials off the electrode contact area.
  - After replacing the battery, check to make sure all Intelligent Key functions work normally.



### INTELLIGENT KEY BATTERY INSPECTION

Check by connecting a resistance (approximately  $300\Omega)$  so that the current value becomes about 10 mA.

Standard : Approx. 2.5 - 3.0V



< SERVICE INFORMATION >

# INTELLIGENT KEY SYSTEM/ENGINE START FUNCTION

**Component Parts and Harness Connector Location** 

INFOID:000000004159368

А

В

С

D

Ε

F

Н

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

0



- 1. Fuse block (J/B) fuse layout
- Intelligent key unit (View with dash 4. side finisher LH removed) M32, M33
- ECM (View with instrument lower 7. cover RH removed) M71
- Fuse and fusible link box
- 5. PDU (View with combination meter removed) M30, M31
- Push-button ignition switch M27 8.
- BCM (View with instrument lower panel RH removed) M1, M2
- 6. IPDM E/R (Engine room) E4, E9
- 9. Stop lamp switch E124

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



- 13. Steering lock unit M35 (Steering column)
- 14. Remote keyless entry receiver (View with instrument lower panel RH removed) M89

INFOID:000000004159369

15. Key slot M14

# System Description

The engine start function of Intelligent Key system is a system that makes it possible to start and stop the
engine without removing the key. It verifies the electronic ID using two-way communications when pressing
the push-button ignition switch while carrying the Intelligent Key, which operates based on the results of
electronic ID verification for Intelligent Key using two-way communications between the Intelligent Key and
the vehicle (Intelligent Key unit).

### NOTE:

The driver should always carry the intelligent key at all times.

- Intelligent Key has 2 IDs (for Intelligent Key and for immobilizer). It can perform the door lock/unlock operation and the push-button ignition switch operation when carrying the registered Intelligent Key.
- When the Intelligent Key battery is discharged, it can be used as emergency by inserting the Intelligent Key to the key slot. At that time, perform the immobilizer ID verification. If it is used when carrying the Intelligent Key, perform the Intelligent Key ID verification.
- If the ID is successfully verified, and when push-button ignition switch is pressed, steering lock will be released and initiating the engine will be possible.
- If the door lock/unlock operation is performed when the Intelligent Key battery is discharged, all doors lock/ unlock can be performed by operating the driver door key cylinder using the mechanical key set into the Intelligent Key.
- Intelligent Key can be registered up to 4 keys (Including the standard Intelligent Key) on request from the owner.
  - NOTE:
  - Refer to <u>BL-42</u> for any functions other than engine start function of Intelligent Key system.

### PRECAUTIONS FOR INTELLIGENT KEY SYSTEM

• In the Intelligent Key system of model Y50, the transponder (the chip for immobilizer ID verification) is integrated into the Intelligent Key. (For the conventional models, it is integrated into the mechanical key.) Therefore, the mechanical key cannot perform the ID verification, and thus it cannot start

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

the engine. Instead of it, the immobilizer ID verification can be performed by inserting the Intelligent Key into the key slot, and then it can start the engine.

- When registering the Intelligent Key, 2 registration procedures (immobilizer ID registration and Intelligent Key ID registration) should be performed. The immobilizer ID registration is the procedure that registers the ID stored into the transponder (integrated into Intelligent Key) to the BCM. The Intelligent Key ID registration is the procedure that registers the ID to the Intelligent Key unit. Each registration is a different procedure.
- When performing the Intelligent Key ID registration only, the engine cannot be started by inserting the key into the key slot. When performing the engine immobilizer ID registration only, the engine cannot be started by the operation when carrying the key. The registrations of both systems should be performed.

### Operation Description

D INFOID-000000004159370

А

В

F

Н

Κ

L

М

Ρ

### SYSTEM DIAGRAM



# **OPERATION WHEN INTELLIGENT KEY IS CARRIED**

Description

- When the push-button switch is pressed, the Intelligent Key unit signals the inside key antenna and sends 1. the request signal to the Intelligent Key.
- The Intelligent Key receives the request signal and sends the Intelligent Key ID signal to the Intelligent 2. Key unit via the remote keyless entry receiver.
- The Intelligent Key receives the Intelligent Key ID signal and verifies it with the registered ID. 3
- 4. If the ID is successfully verified, the Intelligent Key unit sends the steering unlock signal to the steering lock unit. Then, it sends each power supply request signal to PDU (Power Distribution Unit) after unlocking the steering lock.
- 5. If the Intelligent Key unit judges that the engine start condition is satisfied, it sends the starter request signal via CAN communication to IPDM E/R and turns the starter motor relay ON.
- The steering lock unit unlocks the steering lock when receiving the signal. PDU starts the power supply 6. Ν distribution according to the push-button ignition switch operation when receiving the signal. If it enters the engine start permission mode, the power supply is supplied from PDU to the starter motor relay and the cranking is started.

CAUTION:

### If a malfunction is detected in the Intelligent Key system, the "KEY" warning lamp in the combination meter illuminates for 15 seconds. At that time, the engine cannot be started.

7. When Intelligent Key unit received feedback signal from ECM acknowledging the engine has been initiated, the Intelligent Key unit sends a stop signal to IPDM E/R and stops the cranking by turning OFF the starter motor relay. (If the engine initiating has failed, the cranking will stop automatically within 5 seconds.)

### CAUTION:

When the Intelligent Key is carried outside of the vehicle (inside key antenna detection area) with the power supply in ACC or ON position, even if the engine start condition\* is satisfied, the engine cannot be started.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

\*: For the engine start condition, refer to "PUSH-BUTTON IGNITION SWITCH OPERATION PROCEDURE".

#### Operation Range

Engine can be started when Intelligent Key is inside the vehicle. However, sometimes engine might not start when Intelligent Key is on instrument panel or in glove box.

### **OPERATION WHEN KEY SLOT IS USED**

When the Intelligent Key battery is discharged, it performs the immobilizer ID verification between the integrated transponder and BCM by inserting the Intelligent Key into the key slot, and then the engine can be started.

For details relating to starting the engine using key slot, refer to <u>BL-220</u>.

### PUSH-BUTTON IGNITION SWITCH OPERATION PROCEDURE

The power supply position changing operation can be performed with the following operation.

- NOTE:
- When an Intelligent Key is within the detection area of inside key antenna and when it is inserted to the key slot, it is equivalent to the operations below.
- When starting the engine, the Intelligent Key unit monitors the engine start conditions (brake pedal operating condition, A/T selector lever position, and vehicle speed).
- Unless each start condition is fulfilled, the engine will not respond regardless of how many times the engine switch is pushed. At that time, illumination repeats the position in the order of LOCK→ACC→ON→LOCK.

Power supply position	Engine start/	stop condition	Push-button ignition switch op-	
	Brake pedal	A/T selector lever position	eration frequency	
$LOCK \rightarrow ACC$	Not depressed (When A/T selector lever is in any position other than P or N, there will be no effect even if it is de- pressed.)	Any position other than P or N (When the brake pedal is not de- pressed, there will be no effect even if the A/T selector lever is in P or N position.)	1	
$LOCK \rightarrow ACC \rightarrow ON$	Not depressed (When A/T selector lever is in any position other than P or N, there will be no effect even if it is de- pressed.)	Any position other than P or N (When the brake pedal is not de- pressed, there will be no effect even if the A/T selector lever is in P or N position.)	2	
$\begin{array}{c} LOCK \to ACC \to ON \to \\ LOCK \end{array}$	Not depressed (When A/T selector lever is in any position other than P or N, there will be no effect even if it is de- pressed.)	Any position other than P or N (When the brake pedal is not de- pressed, there will be no effect even if the A/T selector lever is in P or N position.)	3	
$LOCK \rightarrow START$ ACC $\rightarrow START$ ON $\rightarrow START$ (Engine start)	Depressed	P or N position (*1)	1 [If the switch is pushed once, the engine starts from any pow- er supply position (LOCK, ACC, and ON)]	
Engine is running → LOCK (Engine stop)	_	P position	1	
Engine is running → ACC (Engine stop)	_	Any position other than P (*2)	1	
Engine stall return oper- ation while driving	_	N position	1	

\*1: When the A/T selector lever position is N position, the engine start condition is different according to the vehicle speed.

• At vehicle speed of 5 km/h or less, the engine can start only when the brake pedal is depressed.

• At vehicle speed of 5 km/h or more, the engine can start even if the brake pedal is not depressed. (It is the same as "Engine stall return operation while driving".)

\*2: When the A/T selector lever position is in any position other than P position and when the vehicle speed is 5 km/h or more, the engine stop condition is different.

• Press and hold the push-button ignition switch for 2 seconds or more. (When the push-button ignition switch is pressed for too short a time, the operation may be invalid, so properly press and hold to prevent the incorrect operation.)

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

• Press the push-button ignition switch 3 times or more within 1.5 seconds. (Emergency stop operation)

## CAN Communication System Description

CAN (Controller Area Network) is a serial communication line for real time application. It is an on-vehicle multiplex communication line with high data communication speed and excellent error detection ability. Many electronic control units are equipped onto a vehicle, and each control unit shares information and links with other control units during operation (not independent). In CAN communication, control units are connected with 2 communication lines (CAN H line, CAN L line) allowing a high rate of information transmission with less wiring. Each control unit transmits/receives data but selectively reads required data only.

# CAN Communication Unit

Refer to LAN-29, "CAN System Specification Chart"

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ρ

Н

А

D

Е

F

INFOID:000000004159371

INFOID:000000004159372

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# Schematic

INFOID:000000004159373



TIWT2611E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Ρ



TIWT3143E



Ρ

BL-ENG/ST-03



TIWT2024E



### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3144E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Ρ

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3146E



## **BL-ENG/ST-09**



TIWT3148E

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# Terminal and Reference Value for Intelligent Key Unit

INFOID:000000004159375

А

					Condition			
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Wire Item Signal Input/ Color Output		Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)		
1	SB	Power source (fuse)	Input	_	—	Battery voltage		
3	v	IDDM E/P status signal	Input	START	Engine starting (During cranking)	5		
5	1	IF DIVI E/IX Status Signal	mput	LOCK	Other than above	2		
					Carry the Intelligent Key within the inside key antenna detection area, and then push the push- button ignition switch.	0		
4	B/Y	RSSI signal	Input/ Output	LOCK	Other than above	(V) 6 4 2 0 + 0.2s PIIB5657J		
5	DAM	Remote key less entry	Input/	LOCK	Carry the Intelligent Key within the inside key antenna detection area, and then push the push- button ignition switch. (When receiving the signal from Intelligent Key)	(V) 4 2 0 + 0.2s D D D D D D D D D D D D D		
5	B/W	receiver signal	Output	Output	Juput		Other than above (Signal receiving wait mode)	(V) 6 4 2 0 + 0.25 CCC3879D
6	В	Remote key less entry receiver ground	—	_	_	0		
7	B/R	Remote keyless entry receiver power supply	Output	_	_	(V) 6 4 2 0 + 0.2s CCC3881D		
		Push-button ignition		LOCK	Push-button ignition switch is in LOCK position	0		
8	W	switch LOCK indicator	Output	_	Push-button ignition switch is in any position (Except LOCK position)	1.2		

					Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
				ACC	Push-button ignition switch is in ACC position	0
9	L	Push-button ignition switch ACC indicator	Output		Push-button ignition switch is in any position (Except ACC position)	1.2
		Puch button ignition		ON	Push-button ignition switch is in ON position	0
10	V	switch ON indicator	Output	_	Push-button ignition switch is in any position (Except ON position)	1.2
12		Kou dat illumination	Output	LOCK	Insert Intelligent Key into key slot and driver side door is open.	Battery voltage
13	LG/B	Key slot illumination	Output	LUCK	Remove Intelligent Key from key slot.	0
15	LG	Steering lock unit pow- er source	Output	LOCK	_	Battery voltage
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage
16	P/B	Steering lock unit signal	Input/ Output	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	0
			Output	NO	(Unlocked moment)	0
					Insert Intelligent Key into key slot.	0
19	BR/Y	Key switch signal	Input	LOCK	Remove Intelligent Key from key slot	Battery voltage
20	В	Ground	_		_	0
27	V	A/T shift selector (De-	loout	LOCK	A/T selector lever is in P position	0
27	v	tention switch)	Input	ON	Other than above	Battery voltage
				ON	A/T selector lever is in N or P po- sition	Battery voltage
28	SB	Starter relay	Input	_	Ignition switch position is in LOCK position or A/T selector le- ver is in any position other than N or P position	0
29	V/R	Stop Jamp switch	Innut		Brake pedal depressed	Battery voltage
23	V/IX	Stop lamp switch	mput		Brake pedal released	0
30	L/W	Ignition power supply (ACC)	Input	ACC	Ignition switch position is in ACC or ON position	Battery voltage
31	GR	Ignition power supply (ON)	Input	ON	Ignition switch position is in ON or START position	Battery voltage
33	0	PDI I signal	Input	LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0
- 33	0		input	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	8
34	R	PDU feed back signal	Input	LOCK	Sleep condition (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the igni- tion switch position is in the LOCK position)	1
				—	Wake-up condition (any condition other than above)	0

				Condition			
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	A
35	LG	Vehicle speed signal	Input	ON	At speedometer operation (vehi- cle speed approx. 40 km/h)	(V) 15 10 5 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	C
37	P	CAN-L	Input/			PKIA1935E	E
		0.000	Input/				
38	L	CAN-H	Output		_		F
30	BR/M	Push-button ignition	Innut		Push-button ignition switch is pressed	0	
55	DIVW	switch	input		Push-button ignition switch is re- leased	Battery voltage	G
40	В	Ground	—		_	0	
41	Y	Power source (fuse)	Input		_	Battery voltage	Н
42	Ρ	PDU wake up signal	Output	LOCK	Sleep condition (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the igni- tion switch position is in the LOCK position)	Battery voltage	BL
				_	Wake-up condition (Open driver door)	0	J
40	0	Stortor signal	Output	ON	At starter motor cranking	0	
43	G	Starter signal	Output	_	Any condition other than above	Battery voltage	K
		Steering lock control			Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is inserted	Battery voltage	L
46	V	signal-1	Output	LOCK	Ignition switch position is in LOCK position (Steering lock ac- tivated)	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0 \rightarrow$ Battery voltage (Battery voltage is detected when activating the steering lock)	Μ
47	LG	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Instrument center)	Input/ Output			(V) 15 16	Ν
48	V	Inside key antenna (–) signal (Instrument center)	Input/ Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ closed (Door switch: ON $\rightarrow$ OFF)	5 0 	0
						SIIA1910J	Р

					Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
49	В	Inside key antenna (+) signal (console)	Input/ Output			(V) 15 10
50	W	Inside key antenna (–) signal (console)	Input/ Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ closed (Door switch: ON $\rightarrow$ OFF)	5 0 10 μs SIIA1910J
51	F/L	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Rear seat)	Input/ Output			(V) 15 10
52	R/W	Inside key antenna (–) signal (Rear seat)	Input/ Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ closed (Door switch: ON $\rightarrow$ OFF)	5 0 10 µs SIIA1910J
53	G/W	Inside key antenna (+) signal (Trunk room)	Input/ Output			(V) 15
54	LG	Inside key antenna (–) signal (Trunk room)	Input/ Output	LOCK	Any door open $\rightarrow$ closed (Door switch: ON $\rightarrow$ OFF)	5 0 10μs 10μs
56	В	Ground			_	0
57	L	Power source (fuse)	Input		_	Battery voltage
58	0	A/T shift selector (De- tention switch)	Output	LOCK	At sleep (30 seconds or more af- ter all doors are closed under the condition that the ignition switch position is in the LOCK position)	0
					At wake-up (Open driver door)	Battery voltage
63	Р	Stop lamp switch	Input		Brake pedal depressed	Battery voltage
			•		Brake pedal released	Battery voltage
					Push-button ignition switch illumi- nation is turned on	2.6
64	L/R	Push-button ignition switch illumination	Output		Push-button ignition switch illumi- nation is turned off (15 seconds or more after the driver door is closed)	0
		Changing look wit con		LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0
69	0	dition signal-1	Input	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	Battery voltage
				ON		Battery voltage
		Steering lock unit con-		LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage
70	L/Y	dition signal-2	Input	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	0
				ON		U

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

				Condition			
Termi- nal No.	Termi- nal Wire Item No.		Signal Push- Input/ button Output ignition switch position		Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	
			LOCK	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is inserted	Battery voltage	С	
71	LG	signal-2	Output	ACC	Ignition switch position is in LOCK position (Steering lock ac- tivated)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Battery voltage} \rightarrow 0 \rightarrow \text{Battery} \\ \text{voltage} \\ \text{(Battery voltage is detected} \\ \text{when activating the steering} \\ \text{lock)} \end{array}$	D
72	В	Ground	—	—	—	0	

Terminal and Reference Value for Steering Lock Unit

					Condition		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	G
1	GR	PDU signal	Input	LOCK	Press push-button ignition switch with Intelligent Key in- side vehicle	$0 \rightarrow$ Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$ (Battery voltage is detected when pressing the push-button ignition switch)	BL
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0	
3	3 O Condition signal-1	Output	ACC	Stooring lock: Unlock	Battery voltage	J	
				ON	ON ON	Battery voltage	
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	K
4	P/B	Intelligent Key unit signal	Input/ Output	ACC	Stooring lock: Uplock	0	
				ON	Sieening lock. Officek	0	
5	В	Ground	—		—	0	L
6	В	Ground	—		—	0	
7	LG	Power source	Input	LOCK	—	Battery voltage	М
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	1 1 1
8	L/Y	Condition signal-2 Ou	Output	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	0	
					Sieening lock. Offlock	0	Ν

0

Ρ

INFOID:000000004159376

F

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# Terminal and Reference Value for BCM

INFOID:000000004159377

				Condition		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal In- put/Out- put	Push-but- ton igni- tion switch po- sition	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
23	W/V	Security indicator	Output	LOCK	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot and power supply position is in LOCK position	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$ (Every 2.4 seconds)
37	37 LG Key slot (Key switch signal)		Input	LOCK	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot	0
					Intelligent Key is inserted into key slot	Battery voltage
38	W	Ignition power supply (ON or START)	Input	ON	Power supply position is in ON posi- tion	Battery voltage
39	L	CAN-H	Input/ Output	_	_	_
40	Ρ	CAN-L	Input/ Output	—	_	_
42	Р	Power source (fuse)	Input	—		Battery voltage
52	В	Ground	—	—		0
55	W	Power source (Fusil- lade link)	Input	_		Battery voltage

# Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R

INFOID:000000004159378

			-		Condition	
Ter- minal No.	Wire Color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
4	W/R	Starter motor power supply	Input	LOCK	_	0
7			mput	START	Starter motor is activating	Battery voltage
49	L	CAN H	Input/ Output	_		_
50	Ρ	CAN L	Input/ Output	_		_
				ON	A/T selector lever is in N or P position	Battery voltage
53 GR/F	GR/R	₹/R Shift position signal	Input	LOCK	A/T selector lever is in any po- sition other than P and N posi- tion	0

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# Terminal and Reference Value for PDU

INFOID:000000004159379

А

					Condition					
Ter- minal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	E			
1	Ρ	Wake up signal	Input	LOCK	Sleep condition (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the power supply posi- tion is in the LOCK position)	Battery voltage				
				—	Wake-up condition (Open driver door)	0				
2	G	Starter control signal	Input	ON	At starter motor cranking	0	E			
2	0	Clarter control signal	mput	—	Any condition other than above	Battery voltage				
3	GR	Steering lock unit power source	Output	LOCK	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is in- serted	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage \rightarrow 0$	F			
				—	Any condition other than above	0	0			
		V Steering lock control Inpu signal-1		Steering lock control	Steering lock control		_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is in- serted	Battery voltage	ŀ
6	6 V Steering lock control signal-1		Input	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK po- sition (Steering lock activated)	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0 \rightarrow$ Bat- tery voltage (Battery voltage is detected when activating the steering lock)	Bl			
				_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is in- serted	Battery voltage	C Id			
7	LG	signal-2	Input	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK po- sition (Steering lock activated)	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0 \rightarrow$ Bat- tery voltage (Battery voltage is detected when activating the steering lock)	ľ			
Q	0	Steering lock feed	Output	—	Steering lock: Lock	0				
3	0	back signal	Calput	LOCK	Steering lock: Unlock	8	N			
10	В	Ground	—	—	_	0				
11	Y	IPDM E/R current	Outout	START	At starter motor cranking	5	Ν			
	•	signal	Carpar	LOCK	Any condition other than above	2				
12	R	Feed back signal	Output	LOCK	Sleep condition (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the power supply posi- tion is in the LOCK position)	1	C			
					Wake-up condition (any condition other than above)	0	F			
13	R	Starter relay	Outout	START	At starter motor cranking	Battery voltage				
.0			Capar		Any condition other than above	4				
14	SB	Power source (fuse)	Input	—		Battery voltage				

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

					Condition	
Ter- minal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
15	L	Power source (fus- ible link)	Input	_	_	Battery voltage
17	G	Power source (fus- ible link)	Input		_	Battery voltage

## Work Flow

INFOID:000000004159380

# 1.CHECK IN

Listen to customer complaints or request (Get symptoms).

### NOTE:

In rare case, "CHAIN of ECM-IMMU" might be stored as a self-diagnostic result during key registration procedure, even if the system is not malfunction.

malfunction>> GO TO 2.

Key service request>>Perform Initialization. Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

2.START ENGINE WITH INTELLIGENT KEY

Check if the engine could be started by all registered Intelligent Keys.

Is the inspection result normal?

The engine can be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 3.

The engine cannot be started by some Intelligent Keys>> Perform Initialization. Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

The engine cannot be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 4.

3.START ENGINE WITH INTELLIGENT KEY INTO KEY SLOT

Check if the engine could be started by all Intelligent Keys into key slot.

Is the inspection result normal?

The engine can be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 5.

The engine cannot be started by some Intelligent Keys>> Perform Initialization. Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

The engine cannot be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 4.

**4.**CHECK "KEY" WARNING LAMP ILLUMINATION

1. Intelligent key into key slot.

2. When pushing the push-button ignition switch, check if "KEY" warning lamp in combination meter illuminates.

Does "KEY" warning lamp illuminate?

YES >> GO TO 7.

NO >> Check function of intelligent key system. Refer to <u>BL-44, "System Description"</u>

**5.**CHECK SECURITY INDICATOR LIGHTING

Check security indicator lights up when ignition switch is in ON position.

Does security indicator illuminate?

YES >> GO TO 7.

NO >> GO TO 6.

**6.**CHECK SECURITY INDICATOR OPERATION

Check security indicator blinks when ignition switch is in OFF position.

Is the inspection result normal?

YES >> GO TO 7.

NO >> Repair security indicator. Refer to <u>BL-243, "Symptom Chart for Security Indicator"</u>.

< SERVICE INFORMATION >	
7.INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT SELF DIAGNOSIS	Λ
Perform Intelligent Key unit SELF-DIAGNOSIS using CONSULT-III.	~
Is DTC displayed?	
YES >> GO TO 8.	В
NO >> GO TO 9.	
${\sf 8}.$ PERFORM INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT TROUBLE DIAGNOSIS	
Check Intelligent Key unit self-diagnostic results item chart. Refer to <u>BL-139</u> , "CONSULT-III Functions (INTEL- <u>LIGENT KEY)"</u> .	С
Is the inspection result normal?	D
YES >> GO TO 7.	D
NO >> Perform intelligent key trouble diagnosis again.	
9.BCM SELF DIAGNOSIS	Ε
Perform BCM SELF-DIAGNOSIS using CONSULT-III.	
Is DTC displayed?	
YES >> GO TO 10. NO >> GO TO 11.	F
10.PERFORM BCM TROUBLE DIAGNOSIS	C
Check BCM self-diagnostic results item chart. Refer to <u>BL-240, "CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)"</u> .	G
Is the inspection result normal?	
YES >> GO TO 9.	Н
NO >> Perform BCM trouble diagnosis again.	
I I.ECM SELF DIAGNOSIS	
Perform ECM SELF-DIAGNOSIS using CONSULT-III.	BL
Is DTC displayed?	
P1610-P1615 is displayed>> GO TO 12.	J
No DTC is displayed>> GO TO 2. Another code different from (P1610-P1615) is displayed >>Go to EC section	-
	Κ
Le the inspection result normal?	
	I
NO >> Perform ECM trouble diagnosis again.	
CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEV)	
	M

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes as shown below.

Part to be diagnosed	Test item, Diagnosis mode	Description	Ν
	WORK SUPPORT	Changes settings for each function.	
	SELF-DIAG RESULTS	Intelligent Key unit performs CAN communication diagnosis.	$\cap$
	DATA MONITOR	Displays Intelligent Key unit input data in real time.	0
Intelligent Key	CAN DIAGNOSTIC SUPPORT MONITOR	The results of transmit/receive diagnosis of CAN Communication can be read.	Р
	ACTIVE TEST	Operation of electrical loads can be checked by sending driving signal to then.	
	ECU PART NUMBER	Displays Intelligent Key unit part No.	

SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Suspect Systems [DTC]	Diagnostic item is detected when	Repair work	Reference page
CAN COMM CIRCUIT [U1000]	Malfunction is detected in CAN communication	Perform CAN communi- cation system inspection	<u>BL-85</u>
CONTROL UNIT (CAN) [U1010]	Malfunction is detected in CAN communication caused by Intelligent Key unit internal malfunction	Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-85</u>
STRG COMM 1 [B2013]	Communication malfunction with steering lock unit is detected	Check steering lock unit	<u>BL-144</u>
STEERING LOCK UNIT [B2551]	Even if the communication with steering lock unit is nor- mally performed, the steering lock is malfunctioning	Replace steering lock unit	<u>BL-147</u>
INTELLIGENT KEY [B2552]	Internal malfunction is detected in Intelligent Key unit	Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-150</u>
IGN POWER CIRCUIT [B2553]	It continues for 2 seconds or more that ON power sup- ply input to Intelligent Key unit is excessively low when the power supply position is in ON position	Check Intelligent Key unit ON power supply input	<u>BL-150</u>
ACC POWER CIRCUIT [B2554]	It continues for 2 seconds or more that ACC power sup- ply input to Intelligent Key unit is excessively low when the power supply position is in ACC or ON position	Check Intelligent Key unit ACC power supply input	<u>BL-151</u>
STOP LAMP CIRCUIT [B2555]	5V or less is detected at both the stop lamp switch sig- nal input circuit that is input to Intelligent Key unit and the monitor input before stop lamp switch	Check stop lamp switch	<u>BL-153</u>
ENG START SW [B2556]	Condition that push-button ignition switch is pushed is detected continuously for 100 seconds or more	Check push-button igni- tion switch	<u>BL-154</u>
VEHICLE SPEED [B2557]	Some differences occur on one or more vehicle speed inputs of Intelligent Key unit	Check vehicle speed sig- nal	<u>BL-155</u>
SHIFT POSITION [B2558]	<ul> <li>There is a difference between the shift position input via CAN communication and the P position input by detente switch</li> <li>Vehicle speed (5 km/h or more) is detected continuously for 10 seconds or more even if the shift position is detected in P position when the power supply position is in ON position</li> </ul>	Check shift position input	<u>BL-157</u>
PDU [B2559]	Internal malfunction is detected in PDU	Replace PDU	<u>BL-159</u>
START POW SUP CIRC [B2560]	Though the engine start operation is not performed, starter relay in IPDM E/R is ON	Check starter power sup- ply	<u>BL-160</u>
LOW VOLTAGE [B2562]	Battery power supply input to Intelligent Key unit (8.8V or less) is detected continuously for 1.5 seconds or more	Check battery low volt- age	<u>BL-161</u>
HI VOLTAGE [B2563]	Battery power supply input to Intelligent Key unit (18V or more) is detected continuously for 90 seconds or more	Check for battery high voltage	<u>BL-162</u>
NATS MALFUNCTION [B2590]	Malfunction is detected in immobilizer system	Check (IVIS) NATS trouble diagnosis procedure	<u>BL-220</u>

#### **CAUTION:**

When CAN COMM [U1000] and CONTROL UNIT (CAN) [U1010] are displayed, give priority to performing trouble diagnosis.

### DATA MONITOR

Monitor item	Content
DR REQ SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door request switch (driver side).
AS REQ SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door request switch (passenger side).
BD/TR REQ SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk opener request switch.
ON POS	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.
ACC POS	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item	Content	٨
DOOR STAT SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door unlock sensor.	A
STOP LAMP SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of stop lamp switch.	
P RANGE SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of transmission range switch.	В
TR CANCEL SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk cancel switch.	
DOOR LOCK SIG	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door lock signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.	
DOOR UNLOCK SIG	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of door unlock signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.	С
KEYLESS TRUNK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk open signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.	
KEYLESS PANIC	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of panic alarm signal from Intelligent Key remote controller button.	D
DOOR SW DR	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of front door switch driver side from BCM via CAN communica- tion line.	
DOOR SW AS	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of front door switch passenger side from BCM via CAN commu- nication line.	Ε
DOOR SW RR	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of rear door switch LH from BCM via CAN communication line.	
DOOR SW RL	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of rear door switch RH from BCM via CAN communication line.	F
DOOR BK SW	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of back door switch from BCM via CAN communication line.	
TRUNK SW	Indicates [OPEN/CLOSE] condition of trunk room lamp switch from BCM via CAN communication line.	G
FOB IN FLAG	Indicates [SET/RESET] of passenger room detection status for registered Intelligent Key.	
ID OK FLAG	Indicates [SET/RESET] condition of key ID.	Ц
PRMT ENG STAT	Indicates [SET/RESET] of passenger room detection status for registered Intelligent Key.	11
BCM OK FLAG	This is displayed even if it is not equipped.	
RMOT ENG STAT	This is displayed even if it is not equipped.	BL
VEHICLE SPEED	Indicates [km/h] condition of vehicle speed.	
STLK STAT SW1	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition that is judged by steering lock status switch.	
STLK STAT SW2	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition that is judged by steering lock status switch.	J
ENGINE SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of push-button ignition switch.	
PNP RENGE SIG	Indicates [P position(ON)/other than P position(OFF)] condition that is judged by transmission range switch.	Κ
CARD IN	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.	
ACC POWER F/B	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.	L
IGN POWER F/B	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.	
STLK POWER F/B	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of steering lock output power supply.	в. 4
VHCL SPEED 2	Indicates [km/h] condition of vehicle speed.	IVI

# WORK SUPPORT

Monitor item	Description
CONFIRM KEY FOB ID	It can be checked whether Intelligent Key ID code is registered or not in this mode.
SHORT CRANKING OUTPUT	Starter motor can operate during the times below. • 70 mses • 100 mses • 200 mses
TAKE OUT FROM WINDOW WARN	Take away warning chime (from window) mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
LOW BAT OF KEY FOB WARN	Intelligent Key low battery warning mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

Revision: 2009 Novemver

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item	Description
ANSWER BACK FUNCTION	Hazard and buzzer reminder function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
SELECTIVE UNLOCK FUNC- TION	Selective unlock function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
ANTI KEY LOCK IN FUNCTION	Key reminder function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
HORN WITH KEYLESS LOCK	Horn reminder function mode by Intelligent Key button can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CON-SULT-III screen is touched.
HAZARD ANSWER BACK	<ul> <li>Hazard reminder function mode can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>LOCK ONLY: Door lock operation only</li> <li>UNLOCK ONLY: Door unlock operation only</li> <li>LOCK/UNLOCK: Lock/Unlock operation</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>
ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY LOCK	<ul> <li>Buzzer reminder function (lock operation) mode by door request switch (driver side and passenger side) can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>HORN CHIRP: Sound horn</li> <li>BUZZER: Sound Intelligent Key warning buzzer</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>
ANSWER BACK WITH I-KEY UN- LOCK	Buzzer reminder function (unlock operation) mode by door request switch can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode.
AUTO RELOCK TIMER	Auto door lock timer mode can select the following with this mode. <ul> <li>1 min</li> <li>5 min</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>
PANIC ALARM DELAY	<ul> <li>Panic alarm button's pressing time on Intelligent Key remote control button can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>0.5 sec</li> <li>1.5 sec</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>
TRUNK/GLASS HATCH OPEN	Buzzer reminder function mode by trunk opener request switch can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
TRUNK OPEN DELAY	Trunk button's pressing time on Intelligent Key button can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched. • 0.5 sec • 1.5 sec • OFF: Non-operation
P/W DOWN DELAY	<ul> <li>Unlock button's pressing time on Intelligent Key button can be selected from the following with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>3 sec</li> <li>5 sec</li> <li>OFF: Non-operation</li> </ul>
ENGINE START BY I-KEY	Engine start function mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
LOCK/UNLOCK BY I-KEY	Door lock/unlock function by door request switch (driver side, passenger side and trunk) mode can be changed to operate (ON) or not operate (OFF) with this mode. The operation mode will be changed when "CHANGE SETT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

ACTIVE TEST

Test item	Description	А
DOOR LOCK/UNLOCK	<ul> <li>This test is able to check door lock/unlock operation.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are locked when "LOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are unlocked when "ALL UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (driver side) is unlocked when "DR UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	В
	<ul> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The trunk lid opener actuator is open when "TRUNK OPEN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	С
	<ul> <li>This test is able to check Intelligent Key antenna operation.</li> <li>When the following conditions are met, hazard warning lamps flash.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (Instrument center) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT1" on CON- SULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	D
	<ul> <li>Inside key antenna (Center console) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT2" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Inside key antenna (rear seat) detects Intelligent Key, when "ROOM ANT3" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	E
ANTENNA	<ul> <li>Inside key antenna (Trunk room) detects Intelligent Key, when "LAG ANT1" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Outside key antenna (Driver side) detects Intelligent Key, when "DRIVER ANT" on CONSULT-III</li> </ul>	F
	<ul> <li>III screen is touched.</li> <li>Outside key antenna (Passenger side) detects Intelligent Key, when "ASSIST ANT" on CON-SULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Outside key antenna (Trunk room) detects Intelligent Key, when "BD/TR ANT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	G
OUTSIDE BUZZER	This test is able to check Intelligent Key warning buzzer operation. Intelligent Key warning buzzer sounds when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	Н
INSIDE BUZZER	<ul> <li>This test is able to check warning chime into combination meter operation.</li> <li>Take away warning chime sounds when "TAKE OUT" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Key warning chime sounds when "KEY WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>P position warning chime sounds when "P RNG WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>ACC warning chime sounds when "ACC WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	BL
INDICATOR	<ul> <li>This test is able to check warning lamp operation.</li> <li>"KEY" Warning lamp illuminates when "KEY IND ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>"KEY" Warning lamp flashes when "KEY IND FSH" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	J
LCD	<ul> <li>This test is able to check meter display information</li> <li>Engine start information displays when "BRAKE/P" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Engine start information displays when "BRAKE/P/ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Key ID warning displays when "KEY ID NG" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Steering lock information displays when "STLCK RELES" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>P position warning displays when "P RNG IND" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Intelligent Key insert information displays when "INSERT KEY" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	K
	<ul> <li>Intelligent Key Insert Information displays when "INSERT RETFORCEONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Intelligent Key low battery warning displays when "KEY BAT LOW" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Take away through window warning displays when "TK AWAY WDW" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>Take away warning display when "TAKE AWAY" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>OFF position warning display when "IGN OFF WARN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>	M
P RANGE	This test is able to check A/T shift selector power supply A/T shift selector power is supplied when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	0
ENGINE SW ILLUMI	This test is able to check push-ignition switch illumination operation. Push-ignition switch illumination illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	
LOCK INDCATOR	This test is able to check LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch operation. LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	Ρ
ACC INDCATOR	This test is able to check ACC indicator in push-ignition switch operation. LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Test item	Description
IGNITION ON IND	This test is able to check INGITION ON indicator in push-ignition switch operation. LOCK indicator in push-ignition switch illuminates when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
KEY SLOT ILLUMI	This test is able to check key slot illumination operation. Key slot illumination flash when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

# CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-INTELLIGENT KEY)

INFOID:000000004399777

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes as shown below.

Part to be diagnosed	Test item, Diagnosis mode	Description
Intelligent Key	DATA MONITOR	Displays Intelligent Key unit input data in real time.
	ACTIVE TEST	Operation of electrical loads can be checked by sending driving signal to then.

### DATA MONITOR

Monitor item	Content
IGN ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.
ACC ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.
KEY ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.
I-KEY UNLOCK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from Intelligent Key.
IKEY TRNK/HAT	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk lid open signal from Intelligent Key.
I-KEY DR UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door request switch (driver side)
I-KEY AS UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door request switch (passenger side)
I-KEY PANIC	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of panic button of intelligent Key.
I-KEY PW DWN	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of PW down signal from intelligent Key.
ENGINE START	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of push-button ignition switch.

### ACTIVE TEST

Test item	Description
DOOR LOCK	<ul> <li>This test is able to check door lock/unlock operation.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are locked when "LOCK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The all door lock actuators are unlocked when "ALL UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (driver side) is unlocked when "DR UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The door lock actuator (passenger side) is unlocked when "AS UNLK" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> <li>The trunk lid opener actuator is open when "TRUNK OPEN" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.</li> </ul>
INT LAMP	This test is able to check interior lamp operation. This interior room lamp will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
TRUNK/GLASS HATCH	This test is able to check trunk lid opener actuator open operation. This actuator opens when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
POWER WINDOW DOWN	This test is able to check power window down operation. This power window down will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
FLASHER	This test is able to check security hazard lamp operation. This hazard lamps will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
HORN	This test is able to check horn operation. This horn will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

# B2013 STRG COMM 1

INFOID:000000004159383

### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION
### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

B2013 steering lock communication malfunction monitors the communication condition between Intelligent Key unit and steering lock unit. If the reply from the steering lock unit against the communication from Intelligent Key unit does not come twice continuously, Intelligent Key unit judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code).

### TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT

Termi- nal Wire No.				Condition		
		ltem	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	C
15	LG	Steering lock unit pow- er source	LOCK	_	Battery voltage	
			LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	
16	P/B	Steering lock unit signal	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock (Unlocked moment)	0	

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes	G
B2013	STRG COMM 1	There is no replay from the steering lock unit against the communication from Intelli- gent Key unit.	<ul> <li>Harness and connector (Open or shorted in the circuit between Intelligent Key unit and steering lock unit)</li> <li>Steering lock unit power supply circuit</li> <li>Steering lock unit</li> </ul>	Н

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

# 1. CHECK STEERING LOCK UNIT POWER SUPPLY

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect steering lock unit connector.
- 3. Check voltage between steering lock unit connector and ground.

	Terminals				
(+)	)		Voltage (V)		
Steering lock unit connector	Terminal	(—)	(Approx.)		
M35	7	Ground	Battery voltage		
OK or NG					

# OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> GO TO 2.

# 2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 1

1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and steering lock unit connector.

Р

ΒL

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

PIIB6223E

А

В

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A	N N	В		
Intelligent Key un connector	it Terminal	Steering lock unit connector Terminal		Continuity
M32	15	M35	7	Yes
3. Check cor ground.	ntinuity betwe	en Intelligent Ke	y unit conr	nector and
Δ	L .			
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Cont	inuity L
M32	15		Ν	10



#### OK or NG

- OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

# **3.**CHECK STEERING LOCK UNIT SIGNAL

- 1. Connect steering lock unit connector.
- 2. Check voltage between steering lock unit connector and ground.

	Terminals				
(+)			Condition	Voltage (V)	
Steering lock unit connector	Terminal	(-)		(Approx.)	
M35	4	Ground	When turn igni- tion switch to START with In- telligent Key in the car	Battery voltage ↓ 0 ↓ Battery voltage	

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Replace steering lock unit.

NG >> GO TO 4.

**4.**CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 2

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and steering lock unit connector.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and steering lock unit connector.

		В	А			
Continuity	Terminal	Steering lock unit connector	Intelligent Key unit connector			
Yes	4	M35	16	M32		
	-					

4. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

A				
Intelligent Key unit connector	Intelligent Key unit connector		Continuity	
M32	16		No	



#### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

# **BL-146**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### **B2551 STEERING LOCK UNIT**

INFOID:000000004159384

А

В

С

#### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

Though the communication between the Intelligent Key unit and the steering lock unit is normal, when the steering lock/unlock is not normal, B2551 steering lock unit malfunction judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code)

#### TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE

Intelligent Key Unit

Termi- nal Wire No.			Condition			
		Item	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	
			LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0	
69	69 O	Steering lock unit con- dition signal-1	ACC	ACC Stooring lock: Linlock	Battery voltage	F
			ON Steering lock. Onlock	Steering lock. Unlock	Battery voltage	
			LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	G
70	L/Y	Steering lock unit con- dition signal-2	ACC	<b>2</b>	0	0
			ON	Steering lock. Onlock	0	
71	71 LG PDU	DDLL signal	LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	Н
71		LG PDU signal	ACC	Steering lock: Unlocked moment	0	

PDU (Power Distribution Unit)

				Condition			
Ter- minal No.	Wire color	ltem	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	J K	
3	GR	Steering lock unit pow- er source	LOCK	Push-button ignition switch is pressed un- der the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is inserted	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage \rightarrow 0$	L	
				—	Any condition other than above	0	
		Stooring lock control	_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed un- der the condition that Intelligent Key is in the vehicle or Intelligent Key is inserted	Battery voltage	M	
7 LG	G signal-2	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK position (Steering lock activated)	Battery voltage → 0 → Battery voltage (Battery voltage is detected when activating the steering lock)	Ν		

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes	-
B2551	STEERING LOCK UNIT	Though the communication between the Intelligent Key and the steering lock unit is normal, the steering lock unit condition signal is NG	<ul> <li>Harness and connector (Open or shorted in the circuit between the units)</li> <li>Steering lock unit</li> </ul>	P

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

1.CHECK STEERING LOCK SIGNAL

Check voltage between power distribution unit connector and ground.

ΒL

0

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

le	rminais				
(+)			Condition	Voltage (V)	
Power distribution unit connector	Terminal	()		(Approx.)	
	6		When turn ignition		
	7		with Intelligent Key in the car	Battery voltage	
M30	6	Ground	When turn ignition	Battery voltage	PIIB6227E
	7		switch to OFF (steering lock op- erates)	↓ 0 ↓ Battery voltage	

### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> GO TO 4.

# 2. CHECK POWER DISTRIBUTION UNIT POWER SUPPLY

### Check voltage between power distribution unit connector and ground.

Ter	minals						
(+)		()	Condition	Voltage (V)			
Power distribution unit connector	Terminal	(-)		(, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			
M30	3	Ground	When turn ignition switch to OFF (steering lock oper- ates)	Battery voltage ↓ 0 ↓ Battery voltage			
			Ignition switch OFF	0	( NOCLOC		

### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Check if "B2558 PDU" is displayed on self-diagnosis results. If it is displayed, first perform the diagnosis.

# 3. CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect power distribution unit and steering lock unit connector.
- 3. Check continuity between power distribution unit connector and steering lock unit connector.

A		В			
Power distribution unit connector	Terminal	Steering lock unit connector	Terminal	Continuity	
M30	3	M35	1	Yes	
4 Check continuity between power distribution unit connector and					

Check continuity between power distribution unit connector and ground.

A			1
Power distribution unit connector Terminal		Ground	Continuity
M30	3		No



### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 5.

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

NG >> Repa	ir or replac	e harnes: ON CIRC	s. UIT 1				А
<ol> <li>Turn ignition</li> <li>Disconnect Ir</li> <li>Check contin</li> </ol>	switch OFF ntelligent K uity betwee	<u>-</u> ey unit ar en Intellig	id power c ent Key ur	listributio nit conne	n unit connector and pow	ctor. /er distribution unit connector.	В
A			В				0
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Power di unit co	stribution nnector	Terminal	Continuity		U
M33	46 71	- М	30	6 7	Yes	A	D
4. Check contir ground.	nuity betwe	en Intell	igent Key	unit cor	nnector and	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	E
Α						B	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	G	round	С	ontinuity		F
M33	46 71	-			No		G
OK or NG         OK       >> Check the condition of harness and connector.         NG       >> Repair or replace harness.							
5. CHECK SIGN	AL CIRCUI	т				PIIB6230E	BL
<ol> <li>Connect stee</li> <li>Check contin</li> </ol>	ering lock u uity betwee	nit and po en steerin	ower distril g lock unit	oution un t connect	it connector. or and groun	nd.	J
Ter	rminals						
(+)			Conditie	20	Voltage (V)		K
Steering lock unit connector	Terminal	(-)	Conditio		(Approx.)		L
	3		When turn	igni- B	attery voltage		
M35	8	Ground	START wit telligent Ke the car	to h In- ey in	0		Μ
	3		Ignition sv	vitch:	0	PIIB0231E	N
	8		OFF	B	attery voltage		IN
OK or NG OK >> Repla NG >> GO T	ace steerin O 6.	g lock uni	t.				0

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and steering lock unit connector.
 Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and steering lock unit connector.

Ρ

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A		В			
Intelligent Key unit connector		Steering lock unit connector	Steering lock unit connector		
M33	69	M35	3	Yes	
10133	70	1035	8		



4.	Check	continuity	between	Intelligent	Key	unit	connector	and
	ground							

	A			
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity	
M33	69		No	
MOO	70		NO	

#### OK or NG

- OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

### B2552 INTELLIGENT KEY

#### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

B2552 Intelligent Key unit internal malfunction judges NG by self-detecting the Intelligent Key unit internal malfunction.

If this DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code) is displayed, replace the Intelligent Key unit and perform the specified registration procedure. Refer to the Technical Bulletin.

# **B2553 IGN POWER CIRCUIT**

INFOID:000000004159386

INFOID:000000004159385

### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

Though the power supply switching control to ON position by push-button ignition switch operation is performed normally, if there is no ON power supply input to the Intelligent Key unit, B2553 ignition power supply system judges it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code)

### TERMINAL AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT

	Termi- nal Wire Item No. <sup>Color</sup>			Condition	
Termi- nal No.			Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
31	GR	Ignition power supply (ON)	ON	Power supply position is in ON or START position	Battery voltage

### CONSULT-III DATA MONITOR STANDARD VALUE

Monitor item	Reference value	
	Power supply position is in ON position	ON
	Power supply position is in any position other than ON	OFF

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

### 

DTC	Self-diag	nosis	DTC d	letecting condition		Possible causes	
B2553	IGN POWE CUIT	R CIR- O	hough the changing utton ignition switch N position power su ot supplied	control to ON position operation is perform pply to the Intelligen	on by push- ned normally, nt Key unit is	<ul> <li>10A fuse</li> <li>Harness and connector (Open or shorted in the circuit)</li> </ul>	
DIAGNOSTIC I	PROCEDU	JRE					
<b>1</b> .CHECK POW	/ER SUPPL	Y CIRCL	ЛТ				
With CONSU     Check ("IGN ON	I <b>LT-III</b> ⊢SW") in DA	ATA MON	IITOR mode with	CONSULT-III.			
When ig IGN ON	nition swit SW	ch is turi : O	ned to ON N				
Without CON     Check voltage b	<b>ISULT-III</b> etween Inte	elligent Ke	ey unit connector	and ground.			
Te	erminals				H.S. E		
(+)			Ignition switch	Voltage (V)		W	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	Containen.	(,)			
M32	31	Ground	ON	Battery voltage			
10132	51	Ground	OFF	0			
OK or NG	ck the con	dition of	harness and co	nnector If it is		L B B F F	
OK >> OK OK,	check the	self-diagr	iosis results usin	ig CONSULT-III		PIIB6234E	
agai NG >> Che	n. ck Intelliger	nt Key un	it power supply o	circuit for open o	or short.		
B2554 ACC	POWER	CIRCU	IT			INFOID:0000000041593	
B2554 ACC pow • Though the po	ver supply c	ircuit moi switching	nitors the followir g control to ACC	ng 2 signals. position by pus	h-button ig	nition switch operation is per	
	iy, if there is	s no ACC	power supply in	put to the intelli	igent key u	nit, it judges that it is the mal	
formed normal function and di	splays the	DTC (Dia	anostic Trouble	Code)			

### TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT

				Condition		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	O
30	L/W	Ignition power supply (ACC)	ACC	Power supply position is in ACC position	Battery voltage	

Ν

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

				Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
42	Ρ	PDU wake up signal	LOCK	At sleep (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the power supply position is in the LOCK position)	Battery voltage
				At wake-up (Open driver door)	0

#### CONSULT-III DATA MONITOR STANDARD VALUE

Monitor item	Measuring condition	Reference value
ACC POS	Power supply position is in ACC position	ON
ACC FOS	Power supply position is in any position other than ACC	OFF

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes
B2554	ACC POWER CIRCUIT	<ul> <li>Though the changing control to ACC position by push-button ignition switch operation is performed normally, ACC position power supply to the Intelligent Key unit is not supplied</li> <li>The power supply position switching cannot be performed because the wake-up signal is not entered into PDU (Power Distribution Unit) during position changing control to ACC position by push-button ignition switch operation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Fuse</li> <li>Harness and connector (Open or shorted in the cir- cuit)</li> </ul>

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

1.CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT 1

#### With CONSULT-III

Check ("IGN ACC SW") in DATA MONITOR mode with CONSULT-III.

#### When ignition switch is turned to ACC ACC ON SW : ON

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

(+)		Ignition switch	Voltage (V)	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	(–)	condition	(Approx.)
M32	30	Ground	ACC	Battery voltage
10132	50	Ciouna	OFF	0



#### OK or NG

OK >> ACC power circuit is OK. Check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.

NG >> GO TO 2.

# 2. CHECK COMMUNICATION CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and power distribution unit connector.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and power distribution unit connector.

# BL-152

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



CONSULT-III DATA MONITOR STANDARD VALUE

Brake pedal released

0

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Monitor item	Monitor item Measuring condition	
STOPLAMP	Brake pedal is depressed	ON
	Brake pedal is released	OFF

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes
B2555	STOP LAMP CIRCUIT	5V or less is detected at both the stop lamp switch signal input circuit that is input to Intelligent Key unit and the monitor input before stop lamp switch	<ul> <li>10A fuse</li> <li>Harness and connector (Open in the circuit between the units)</li> </ul>

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

1.CHECK STOP LAMP SIGNAL

#### () With CONSULT-III

Check ("STOP LAMP SW") in DATA MONITOR mode with CONSULT-III.

# When depressing the break pedalSTOP LAMP SW: ON

### **Without CONSULT-III**

Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

(+	-)		Voltage (V)
Intelligent Key unit connector Terminal		()	(Approx.)
M32	63	Ground	Battery voltage

#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector, It is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.

NG >> Check the following.

- 10A fuse [No.20, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- · Harness for open or short between fuse block and Intelligent Key unit.

### B2556 ENG START SW

INFOID:000000004159389

PIIB8927E

### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

When the push-button ignition switch input, which inputs to the Intelligent Key unit, continues for 100 seconds or more, B2556 push-button ignition switch judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code)

### TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT

			Condition		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	ltem	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
39	BR/W	Push-button ignition switch	_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed Push-button ignition switch is released	0 Battery voltage

# SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes	1
B2556	ENG START SW	Input signal from push-button ignition switch to Intelli- gent Key unit continues for 100 seconds or more	<ul> <li>Harness and connector (Open in the circuit between the units)</li> <li>Push-button ignition switch</li> </ul>	E

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

# 1. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and push-button ignition switch connector.
- Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and push-button ignition switch connector. 3.

A		В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Push-button igni- tion switch connector	Terminal	Continuity
M32	39	M27	4	Yes

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and 4. ground.

Continuity			A
und	Ground	Terminal	Intelligent Key unit connector
No		39	M32



Н

D

Ε

F

ΒL

### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

# 2. CHECK PUSH-BUTTON IGNITION SWITCH

Check push-button ignition switch.

Tern	ninal	Push-button igni-	Continuity
Push-button i	Push-button ignition switch		Continuity
1	Λ	Pushed	Yes
I		Released	No

### OK or NG

- OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.
- NG >> Replace push-button ignition switch.

# **B2557 VEHICLE SPEED**

# DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

B2557 vehicle speed signal compares the vehicle speed input from the unified meter and A/C amp. and ABS Ρ via CAN communication and the vehicle signal (8 pulses) from the unified meter and A/C amp. If there is the difference between each vehicle speed input, it judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code).

TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT

Κ L Μ Ω PIIB6241E Ν

INFOID:000000004159390

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

				Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	ltem	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
35	LG	Vehicle speed signal	ON	At speedometer operation (vehicle speed approx. 40 km/h)	(V) 15 10 5 0 • • 20ms PKIA1935E

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes
B2557	VEHICLE SPEED	When comparing the vehicle speed signal, that is input to the Intelligent Key unit with power supply position ON and when one signal displays 10 km/h or more, the condition that another signal displays less than 5 km/h continues for 10 seconds or more	<ul> <li>Harness and connector (Open in the circuit between the units)</li> <li>Unified meter and A/C amp.</li> </ul>

# DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE 1.CHECK VEHICLE SPEED SIGNAL

Check the signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

	<del>.</del>				
Terminals					
(+	(+)		<b>A W</b>	Signal	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	Condition	(Reference value)	
M32	35	Ground	Speed meter operated [When vehi- cle speed is Approx. 40 km/h (25MPH)]	(V) 15 10 5 0 + 20ms 	PIIB6242E

### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.

# NG >> GO TO 2.

2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and unified meter and A/C amp. Connector.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and unified meter and A/C amp. Connector.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A		В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Unified meter and A/C amp. connector	Terminal	Continuity
M32	35	M64	28	Yes

4. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

А		Continuity	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M32	35		No

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >>• If the measured value is not waveform but 0V constant, the harness or connector between the using receiving the vehicle speed signal from unified meter and A/C amp. may be malfunctioning. Check these wirings.
  - If the measured value is not waveform but 5V or 12V constant, replace unified meter and A/C amp.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

### **B2558 SHIFT POSITION**

### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

B2558 shift position input system monitors the A/T selector lever position. If there is the difference between the input from A/T shift selector, the input from A/T assembly, and CAN communication input from A/T control unit, it judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code)

### TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT

				Condition		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	K
		A/T shift soloctor (Do-	LOCK	A/T selector lever is in P position	0	
27	V	tention switch)	ON	A/T selector lever is in any position other than P	Battery voltage	M
			ON	A/T selector lever is in N or P position	Battery voltage	
28	SB	Starter relay		Power supply position is in LOCK posi- tion or A/T selector lever is in any posi- tion other than N or P position	0	Ν
58	0	A/T shift selector (De- tention switch)	LOCK	At sleep (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the power supply position is in the LOCK position)	0	0
			—	At wake-up (Open driver door)	Battery voltage	Ρ

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

INFOID:000000004159391

PIIB6243E

В

А

В

D

Ε

F

ΒL

J

EE ) (CFF

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes
B2558	SHIFT POSITION	There is an input difference of A/T selector lever position input to Intelligent Key unit for 2 seconds or more	<ul> <li>Harness and connector (Open in the circuit between the units)</li> <li>A/T shift selector (detente switch)</li> <li>A/T assembly (control valve assembly)</li> </ul>

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

1.CHECK A/T SHIFT SELECTOR SIGNAL

- 1. Turn ignition switch ON.
- 2. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

	Terminals						
(+)			A/T shift selector	Voltage (V)			
Intelligent Key unit connector		()	position	(Approx.)			
			Р	0			
M32	27	Ground	Other than above	Battery voltage			
<u>OK or NG</u>							

OK >> GO TO 4. NG

>> GO TO 2.

2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 1

- Turn ignition switch OFF. 1.
- Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and A/T shift selector connector. 2.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and A/T shift selector connector.

A		В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	A/T shift selector connector	Terminal	Continuity
M32	27	M133	10	Voc
M33	58	WIT55	9	163

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and 4. ground.

А		Continuity	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M32	27	Ground	No
M33	58	-	INU

### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.



# 3. CHECK A/T SHIFT SELECTOR

Check A/T shift selector.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Tern	ninal	A/T shift selector	Continuity	
A/T shift	selector	position		
٥	10	Р	Yes	
9	10	Other than above	No	

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.

NG >> Replace A/T shift selector.

# **4.**CHECK TCM SIGNAL

Check Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

	Terminals	A 7 1 10		
(+)			A/I shift selector	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	()	position	
			N or P	Battery voltage
M32	28	Ground	Other than above	0

# 

5) ((ČF

Ω

PIIB6246E

А

В

D

Ε

F

Н

ΒL

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

P

R

PIIB6248E

INFOID:000000004159392

8

Ω

**x** Et (G

### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is

OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.

NG >> GO TO 5.

# 5. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 2

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and TCM connector.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and TCM connector.

А		В		
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	TCM connector	Terminal	Continuity
M32	28	F502	8	Yes
			•.	, ,

 Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.

A		Continuity	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M32	28		No

### OK or NG

OK >> Replace TCM.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

# B2559 PDU

# DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

B2559 PDU system that is Intelligent Key unit judges NG by self-detecting the PDU (Power Distribution Unit) internal malfunction.

If this DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code) is displayed, replace the PDU.





### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### **B2560 START POW SUP CIRC**

INFOID:000000004159393

#### DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION

B2560 starter power supply system monitors the power supply condition to the starter motor relay and the starter motor relay condition in IPDM E/R. If it detects the starter motor relay ON condition in IPDM E/R without the "Engine start" request from the Intelligent Key unit, it judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Diagnosis).

#### TERMINALS AND REFERENCE VALUE

Intelligent Key Unit

				Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
3	~	IPDM E/R current sig-	START	At starter motor cranking	5
5	I	nal	LOCK	Any condition other than above	2

#### PDU (Power Distribution Unit)

	er- inal color Item lo.			Condition	
Ter- minal No.			Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
13	ß	Starter relay	START	At starter motor cranking	Battery voltage
15	IX.	Starter relay	_	Any condition other than above	4

### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes
B2560	START POW SUP CIRC	It is detected that the power is supplied to the starter motor without the engine start request from the In- telligent Key unit	<ul> <li>Harness and connector (Open in the circuit between the units)</li> <li>PDU</li> <li>IPDM E/R</li> </ul>

### DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

# 1. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 1

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and power distribution unit connector.
- 3. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and power distribution unit connector.

	А			В		
Ir	Intelligent Key unit connector		Power distribution unit connector		Continuity I	
	M32	3	M30		11	Yes
4.	<ol> <li>Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.</li> </ol>					
	A					
	Intelligent Key un	it connector	Terminal	(	Ground	Continuity
-	M32		3	1		No



< SERVICE INFORMATION >

. Disc . Che	connect II ck contin	PDM E/R co nuity betweer	nnector. n power distr	bution unit cor	nnector and	PDM E/R cor	nnector.	
	A			В				
Power di unit co	istribution	Terminal	IPDM E/R connector	Terminal	Continuity		В	
M	131	13	E4	4	Yes	13		
3. Che grou	ck contir Ind.	uity betwee	n power distr	ibution unit co	nnector and			
Pov	ver distribu connect	ition unit	Terminal	Ground	Continuity		PII	B6250E
	M31		13		No			
<u>OK or N</u> OK NG 82562	<u>G</u> >> Repla >> Repa	ace IPDM E, air or replace VOLTAGE	/R. harness.				INFOID:000000	10004159
OK or N OK NG B2562 DIAGNO 32562 bi /oltage i DTC (Dia DTC (Dia FERMIN Standaro	G >> Repl: >> Repa LOW V OSIS DE attery low s 8.8V of agnostic NALS AN d is the m	ace IPDM E, air or replace VOLTAGE SCRIPTIO v voltage mo r less is dete Trouble Coo ND REFER neasured vol	/R. harness. N nitors the ba cted for 1.5 s le) ENCE VALU tage betweet	ttery voltage in seconds or mo JE FOR INTE n each termina	put to Intelliq re, it judges ELLIGENT I	jent Key unit. that it is the m (EY UNIT I	INFOID:00000 When the condition th nalfunction and displa	nat th ys th
OK or N OK NG 32562 DIAGN( 32562 ba /oltage ia DTC (Dia FERMIN Standarc	G >> Repl >> Repa LOW V OSIS DE attery lov s 8.8V of agnostic NALS AN d is the m	ace IPDM E, air or replace VOLTAGE SCRIPTIO v voltage mo r less is dete Trouble Coo ND REFER neasured vol	/R. harness. N nitors the banch cted for 1.5 s le) ENCE VALU tage between	ttery voltage in seconds or mo JE FOR INTE n each termina Condi	put to Intelliq re, it judges LLIGENT I I and ground	jent Key unit. that it is the m (EY UNIT I	When the condition thalfunction and displa	nat th ys th
OK or N OK NG 32562 DIAGN( 32562 b /oltage i DTC (Dia DTC (Dia TERMIN Standarc Termi- nal No.	G >> Repl: >> Repa LOW V OSIS DE attery low s 8.8V or agnostic NALS AN d is the m	ace IPDM E, air or replace VOLTAGE SCRIPTIO w voltage mc r less is dete Trouble Coc ND REFER heasured vol	/R. harness. N onitors the bar ected for 1.5 s le) ENCE VALU tage between Push- button ignition switch position	ttery voltage in seconds or mo JE FOR INTE n each termina Condi	put to Intelliq re, it judges LLIGENT I I and ground ition	gent Key unit. that it is the m (EY UNIT 1	When the condition the halfunction and displa	nat th iys th
OK or N OK NG 32562 DIAGN( 32562 b voltage i DTC (Dia FERMIN Standarc Termi- nal No.	G >> Repl: >> Repa LOW M OSIS DE attery low s 8.8V of agnostic NALS AN d is the m Wire color SB Pc	ace IPDM E, air or replace VOLTAGE SCRIPTIO v voltage mc r less is dete Trouble Coc ND REFER neasured vol	/R. harness. N onitors the bar icted for 1.5 s le) ENCE VALU tage between Push- button ignition switch positior se) —	ttery voltage in seconds or mo JE FOR INTE n each termina Condi	put to Intellig re, it judges ELLIGENT H I and ground ition	gent Key unit. that it is the n (EY UNIT	When the condition the halfunction and displa	אסני 159 1 אמנ th 1 איז
OK or N OK NG 32562 DIAGN( 32562 b /oltage i DTC (Dia DTC (Dia TERMIN Standarc Termi- nal No.	G >> Repl: >> Repl: >> Repa LOW M OSIS DE attery low s 8.8V or agnostic NALS AN d is the m Wire color SB Pc Y Pc	ace IPDM E, air or replace VOLTAGE SCRIPTIO v voltage mc r less is dete Trouble Coc ND REFER neasured vol	/R. harness. N nitors the bar icted for 1.5 s le) ENCE VALU tage between Push- button ignition switch positior se) — se) —	ttery voltage in seconds or mo JE FOR INTE n each termina Condi	put to Intellig re, it judges ELLIGENT I and ground ition on or condition	gent Key unit. that it is the m KEY UNIT	Voltage (V) (Approx.) Battery voltage	20004159 nat th lys th

DIO		Die deteeting condition		0
B2562	LOW VOLTAGE	It is detected for 1.5 seconds or more that the battery volt- age that is input to the Intelligent Key unit is 8.8V or less	<ul> <li>Fuse</li> <li>Harness and connector (Open in the circuit)</li> </ul>	P

# DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

**1.**CHECK BATTERY

Measure the battery output voltage. Make sure that it is 9V or more.

### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 2.

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### NG >> Charge or replace the battery.

# 2. CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground. 2.





# B2563 HI VOLTAGE

INFOID:000000004159395

PIIB62518

### **DIAGNOSIS DESCRIPTION**

B2563 battery high voltage monitors the battery voltage input to Intelligent Key unit. When the condition that the voltage is 18V or more is detected for 90 seconds or more, it judges that it is the malfunction and displays the DTC (Diagnostic Trouble Code)

#### TERMINAL AND REFERENCE VALUE FOR INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT Standard is the measured voltage between each terminal and ground

				Condition		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	
1	SB	Power source (fuse)	—		Battery voltage	
41	Y	Power source (fuse)	—	_	Battery voltage	
57	L	Power source (fuse)	—	_	Battery voltage	

# SELF-DIAGNOSTIC LOGIC

DTC	Self-diagnosis name	DTC detecting condition	Possible causes
B2563	HI VOLTAGE	It is detected for 90 seconds or more that the battery voltage that is input to the Intelligent Key unit is 18V or more	Alternator

# DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

# 1.CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Start engine.
- Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground. 2.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

(-	+)		Voltage (V)	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Intelligent Key unit connector Terminal		(Approx.)	
M32	1			
M33	41	Ground	Battery voltage	
NISS	57			

#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector. If it is OK, check the self-diagnosis results using CONSULT-III again.

NG >> Check alternator. Refer to



# **B2590 DISCORD BCM-I-KEY**

INFOID:000000004159396

INFOID:000000004159397

Н

ΒL

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ρ

Intelligent Key unit performs the ID verification with BCM that allows the engine to .BCM starts the engine if the ID is OK and prevents the engine from starting if the ID is not registered.

### **1.**PERFORM INITIALIZATION

Perform initialization with CONSULT-III. Re-register all mechanical keys. For initialization and registration of mechanical key. Refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/ NVIS".

Can the system be initialized and can the engine be started with re-registered mechanical key?

- YES >> ID was unregistered.
- NO >> BCM is malfunctioning.
  - Replace BCM
  - Perform initialization again

# **Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart 1**

Power supply switching operation cannot be operated with all Intelligent Keys. CAUTION:

- Follow Trouble Diagnosis Flowchart referring to "Diagnosis Procedure". Determine malfunctioning condition before performing this diagnosis.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis.
- Check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

### CONDITIONS OF VEHICLE (OPERATING CONDITIONS)

- Engine start function is ON when setting on CONSULT-III.
- Use Intelligent Key with registered Intelligent Key ID.
- One or more of Intelligent Keys with registered Intelligent Key ID is in the passenger room.

Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
1. Check push button ignition switch	<u>BL-165</u>
2. Check inside key antenna	BL-166
3. Check remote keyless entry receiver	BL-168
4. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart 2

INFOID:000000004159398

When performing the push-button ignition switch operation when the Intelligent Key is carried, there is a time difference in the power supply position switching (the power supply changes in approximately 3 seconds) **CAUTION:** 

- Follow Trouble Diagnosis Flowchart referring to "Diagnosis Procedure". Determine malfunctioning condition before performing this diagnosis.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis.
- Check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

#### CONDITIONS OF VEHICLE (OPERATING CONDITIONS)

• Another Intelligent Key or foreign materials are not inserted in the key slot.

#### NOTE:

If another Intelligent Key or foreign materials are inserted at push-button ignition switch operation, perform the immobilizer ID verification first. When the immobilizer ID verification cannot be performed, the system switches to the Intelligent Key ID verification. Therefore, there is the time difference in the push-button ignition switch operation.

Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
1. Check key switch built in key slot	<u>BL-169</u>
2. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	BL-113

### Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart 3

INFOID:000000004159399

When performing the push-button ignition switch operation when the Intelligent Key is inserted into the key slot, there is the time difference in the power supply position switching (the power supply changes in approximately 3 seconds)

#### **CAUTION:**

- Follow Trouble Diagnosis Flowchart referring to "Diagnosis Procedure". Determine malfunctioning condition before performing this diagnosis.
- Make sure that vehicle is under the condition shown in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diagnosis.
- Check systems shown in the "Diagnosis/service procedure" column in this order.

### CONDITIONS OF VEHICLE (OPERATING CONDITIONS)

- A device emitting electromagnetic signals such as a portable telephone or a radio is not used around the key slot.
- The Intelligent Key is inserted into the key slot until it clicks.

#### NOTE:

If another Intelligent Key is inserted at push-button ignition switch operation, perform the immobilizer ID verification first. When the immobilizer ID verification cannot be performed, the system switches to the Intelligent Key ID verification. Therefore, there is the time difference in the push-button ignition switch operation.

Diagnosis/service procedure	Reference page
1. Check NATS antenna amp. built in key slot	BL-170
2. Replace Intelligent Key unit.	<u>BL-113</u>

# Check CAN Communication System

INFOID:000000004159400

### **1.**CHECK SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

#### CAUTION:

If CONSULT-III is used with no connection of CONSULT-III CONVERTER, malfunctions might be detected in self-diagnosis depending on control unit which performs CAN communication.

#### () With CONSULT-III

- Connect CONSULT-III, and turn ignition switch ON.
- Touch "INTELLIGENT KEY" on "SELECT SYSTEM" screen.
- Touch "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" on "SELECT DIAG MODE" screen.
- Check display content in self-diagnostic results.

### **BL-164**

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	CONSULT-	III display item			DTC code	А
	NO DTC IS	S DETECTED				
	CAN COMM CIRCUIT				U1000	
	CONROL	UNIT (CAN)			U1010	В
OK or NG NO DTC IS DE CAN COMM CI	TECTED>> RCUIT [U10	INSPECTIO 00]>> After	N END printing "SE	ELF-DIAGNOS	IS RESULTS", go to "CAN SYSTEM",	С
CONTROL UNI	r to <u>LAN-10.</u> T(CAN) [U1(	<u>Precaution</u>	<u>is for Trouble</u> ace Intelligen	<u>Diagnosis"</u> It Kev unit		
Check Push-l	Button Igr	nition Swit	ch		INFOID:00000004159401	D
1.CHECK POW	ER SUPPYL					E
<ol> <li>Turn ignition</li> <li>Disconnect p</li> <li>Check voltage</li> </ol>	switch OFF. oush-button i ge between p	ignition switc bush-button	ch connector. ignition switc	h connector an	id ground.	F
	Terminals	S				l
(	+)			Voltogo (V)		G
push-button igni- tion switch connector	Termina	I	()	(Approx.)		H
M27	4	G	round	Battery voltage		I
OK or NG OK >> GO NG >> GO	TO 3. TO 2.					BL
2.CHECK HARI 1. Disconnect I 2. Check contin	NESS CONT	TINUITY	ctor. Key unit con	pector and pus	h-button ignition switch connector	J
	iaity bothoo	in intolligoni				K
A			В		P <sub>15</sub> • E\$ C6	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	push-button tion switcl connecto	igni- n Termir r	Continuity		L
M32	39	M27	4	Yes		1
3. Check conti ground.	nuity betwe	en Intelliger	it Key unit d	connector and		M
	А			Continuity	PIIB6240E	Ν
Intelligent Key un	it connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity		
M32		39		No		С
OK or NG OK >> GO <sup>-</sup> NG >> Repa	TO 3. air or replace	e harness.				
3.CHECK PUSH	H-BUTTON I	GNITION S	NITCH			Г
Check push-butte	on ignition sv	witch.				

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Term	ninal	Push-button igni-		
Push-button ignition switch		tion switch condi- tion	Continuity	
1	4	Pushed	Yes	
		Released	No	

#### <u>UN OF ING</u>

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Replace push-button ignition switch.

### 4.CHECK GROUND CIRCUIT

Check push-button ignition switch connector.

Push-button ignition switch con- nector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M27	1	-	Yes

#### OK or NG

- OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness.

# Check Inside Key Antenna

1. CHECK INSIDE KEY ANTENNA FUNCTION

#### () With CONSULT-III

- 1. Check the operation with ("ANTENNA") in the ACTIVE TEST.
- 2. Touch "ROOM ANT1" "ROOM ANT2" "ROOM ANT3" "LUG ANT" on screen.
- Carry the Intelligent Key into the antenna detection area. 3.

Test item	Corresponding antenna
ROOM ANT1	Inside key antenna instrument center
ROOM ANT2	Inside key antenna console
ROOM ANT3	Inside key antenna rear seat
LUG ANT1	Inside key antenna trunk room

Do the hazard lamps flash?

Yes >> Inside key antenna is OK.

```
No
      >> GO TO 2.
```

2.CHECK INSIDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 1

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope. 2.



ES)

Ω

INFOID:000000004159402

PIIB6241E

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



#### OK or NG

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> GO TO 3.

# **3.**CHECK INSIDE KEY ANTENNA CIRCUIT

- Disconnect Intelligent Key unit and inside key antenna connector. 1.
- 2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and inside key antenna connector.

А					
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Inside ke	ey antenna con- nector	Terminal	Continuity
Maa	47	M83	Instrument	1	Yes
	48	1000	center	2	
	49	M142	Console	1	
	50			2	
10135	51	B45	Rear seat	1	
	52			2	
	53	D 470	Trunk room	1	
	54	D473		2	



F

Н

J

Κ

Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground. 3.



#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between Intelligent Key unit and inside key antenna.

# **4.**CHECK INSIDE KEY ANTENNA INPUT SIGNAL 2

1. Replace inside key antenna. (New antenna or other antenna)

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- 2. Connect Intelligent Key unit and inside key antenna connector.
- 3. Check signal between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground with oscilloscope.



### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> Replace malfunction inside key antenna.
- NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

# Check Remote Keyless Entry Receiver

# 1. CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect remote keyless entry receiver connector.
- 3. Check voltage between Intelligent Key unit connector and ground.



OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> Replace Intelligent Key unit.

2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY

1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and remote keyless entry receiver connector.

INFOID:000000004159403

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

1. Disconnect Intelligent Key unit connector.

2. Check continuity between Intelligent Key unit connector and key slot connector.

A			В		
Intelligent Key connecto	y unit or	Terminal	Key slot connector	Terminal	Continuity
M32		19	M14	2	Yes
<ol> <li>Check ground.</li> </ol>	conti	nuity betwe	en Intelligent Ke	y unit conr	nector and

A		Continuity	
Intelligent Key unit connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M32	19		No



#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

۸

# 4.CHECK KEY SLOT

Check key slot.

Terminal Key slot		Condition	Continuity
1	2	Key slot inserted	Yes
	2	Key slot removed	No

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> Replace key slot.

# 5. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY 2

- 1. Disconnect BCM connector.
- 2. Check continuity between BCM connector and key slot connector.

A			В	Continuity		
BCM connec	tor	Terminal	Key slot connector	Terminal	Continuity	
M1		37	M14	2	Yes	
3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.						
		А			Continuity	

Terminal

37



#### OK or NG

OK >> Replace BCM. Refer to "C/U INITIALIZATION", and then perform the registration again after replacing BCM.

No

NG >> Repair or replace harness.

### Check NATS Antenna Amp. Built in Key Slot

For the circuit information of this diagnosis, refer to Engine Immobilizer System Circuit Diagram.

Ground

1.CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

BCM connector

M1

2009 M35/M45

INFOID:000000004159405

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### 2. Disconnect key slot connector.

3. Check voltage between key slot connector and ground.

(+	)	()	Voltage (V)	
Key slot connector Terminal		(-)	()	
M14	1	Ground	Battery voltage	
OK or NG				

OK >> GO TO 2.

NG >> Check key slot power supply circuit for open or short.

# 2. CHECK GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between key slot connector and ground.



# 3. CHECK KEY SLOT SIGNAL

1. Connect key slot connector.

2. Check voltage between key slot connector and ground.

	Terminals					J
(+)		Condition	Voltage (V)		k	
Key slot connector	Terminal	(–)		(Approx.)		
	6		Check the voltage just	-		L
M14	7	Ground	after the intelligent Key is inserted into the key slot and the ignition switch is turned to START.	I he pointer of the analog tester fluctu- ates.	PIIB6263E	N

### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Check the condition of harness and connector.

NG >> Repair or replace harness between BCM and key slot.



Ω

E) CA

Ε

F

Н

ΒL

Ν

Ρ

PIIB6262E

# < SERVICE INFORMATION > DOOR

# Fitting Adjustment

INFOID:000000004159406



Front fender
 Rear fender

# FRONT DOOR

Longitudinal Clearance and Surface Height Adjustment At Front End Loosen the hinge mounting bolts. Raise the front door at rear end to adjust.

### REAR DOOR

Longitudinal Clearance and Surface Height Adjustment At Front End

- 1. Remove the center pillar upper garnish and center pillar lower garnish. Refer to <u>EI-49, "Component Parts</u> <u>Location"</u>.
- 2. Accessing from inside the vehicle, loosen the mounting nuts. Open the rear door, and raise the rear door at rear end to adjust.

# BL-172

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### STRIKER ADJUSTMENT

Adjust the striker so that it becomes parallel with the lock insertion direction.





INFOID:000000004159407

А

Е

F

Н

ΒL

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Removal and Installation of Front Door

#### **CAUTION:**

- When removing and installing the front door assembly, support the door with a jack and cloth to protect the door and body.
- When removing and installing front door assembly, be sure to carry out the fitting adjustment. Refer to <u>BL-172, "Fitting Adjustment"</u>.
- After installing, apply touch-up paint (the body color) onto the head of the hinge mounting nuts.
- Check the hinge rotating part for poor lubrication. If necessary, apply "body grease".
- Operate with two workers, because of its heavy weight.
- Check rear door open/close operation after installation.

### REMOVAL

2.

1. Pull the lever and disconnect the door harness connector while removing tabs of door harness connector.

Remove the mounting bolts of the check link on the vehicle.





### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

3. Remove the door-side hinge mounting nuts, then remove the door assembly.



#### INSTALLATION

Install in the reverse order of removal.

Removal and Installation of Rear Door

INFOID:000000004159408

### **CAUTION:**

- When removing and installing the rear door assembly, support the door with a jack and cloth to protect the door and body.
- When removing and installing rear door assembly, be sure to carry out the fitting adjustment. Refer to <u>BL-172, "Fitting Adjustment"</u>.
- Check the hinge rotating part for poor lubrication. If necessary, apply "body grease".
- After installing, apply touch-up paint (the body color) onto the head of the hinge mounting nuts.
- Operate with two workers, because of its heavy weight.
- Check rear door open/close operation after installation.

#### REMOVAL

1. Pull out grommet and disconnect rear door harness connector.



2. Remove the mounting bolts of the check link on the vehicle.



# DOOR

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

3. Remove the door-side hinge mounting nuts, and remove the door assembly.



Ε

INFOID:000000004159409

INSTALLATION Install in the reverse order of removal.

### Door Weatherstrip

### FRONT DOOR



# REMOVAL

1. Remove the mounting bolts of the check link on the vehicle. Refer to <u>BL-173</u>, "Removal and Installation of <u>Front Door</u>" or <u>BL-174</u>, "Removal and Installation of Rear Door".

# BL-175

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Remove the weatherstrip clips and remove weatherstrip. CAUTION: After removal, do not pull strongly on the weatherstrip.

#### **INSTALLATION**

Install in the reverse order of removal.

Install the door weatherstrip (A) and along the arrow direction.

### REAR DOOR



1. Door weatherstrip

2. Rear door

3. Door sash molding

### REMOVAL

- 1. Remove the mounting bolts of the check link on the vehicle. Refer to <u>BL-173</u>, "Removal and Installation of <u>Front Door</u>" or <u>BL-174</u>, "Removal and Installation of Rear Door".
- 2. Remove the weatherstrip clips and remove weatherstrip. CAUTION:

#### After removal, do not pull strongly on the weatherstrip.

#### INSTALLATION

Install in the reverse order of removal. Install the door weatherstrip (A) and along the arrow direction.

### < SERVICE INFORMATION > FRONT DOOR LOCK

# Component Structure

INFOID:000000004159410

А



from the back side of the front door finisher.



3. Remove the front door window and front door module assembly. Refer to GW-54.

# BL-177

Ρ

# FRONT DOOR LOCK

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

 Remove door side grommet, and remove door key cylinder assembly (driver side) and outside handle escutcheon (passenger side) bolts from grommet hole.
 CAUTION:

Do not forcibly remove the TORX bolt.

5. Disconnect door antenna and door request switch connector and remove harness clamp. (Models with intelligent Key system)

- 6. Reach to separate the key cylinder rod connection (on the handle).
- 7. Disconnect door key cylinder switch harness connector.
- 8. While pulling the outside handle, remove door key cylinder assembly.



- 9. Disconnect front door request switch harness connector (with Intelligent Key system).
- 10. Slide toward rear of vehicle, and pull forward to remove the outside handle.







# FRONT DOOR LOCK

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

11. Remove the front gasket and rear gasket.



13. Remove the TORX bolt of the outside handle bracket.

14. While pulling outside handle bracket, slide toward rear of vehicle to remove outside handle bracket.

15. Disconnect the door lock actuator connector and remove the door lock assembly.

Ρ



А

# FRONT DOOR LOCK

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

16. Reach to separate the outside handle cable connection.



INSTALLATION Install in the reverse order of removal. CAUTION: To install each rod, be sure to rotate the rod holder until a click is felt.
### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### REAR DOOR LOCK

### **Component Structure**

INFOID:000000004159412

А



### Removal and Installation

#### REMOVAL

- 1. Remove the rear door finisher. Refer to EI-46, "Component Parts Location".
- 2. Disconnect the inside handle knob cable and lock knob cable from the back side of the rear door finisher.



- Remove the rear door sash. Refer to<u>GW-58</u>.
- 4. Remove the rear door window and rear door screen assembly. Refer to GW-58.
- 5. Remove door side grommet, and remove outside handle escutcheon bolt from grommet hole. **CAUTION:**

#### BL-181

INFOID:000000004159413

L

Μ

### **REAR DOOR LOCK**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Do not forcibly remove the TORX bolts.



6. While pulling the outside handle, remove outside handle escutcheon.



7. Slide toward rear of vehicle, and pull forward to remove the outside handle.



8. Remove the front gasket and rear gasket.



- 9. Remove the TORX bolts, remove the door lock assembly.

### **REAR DOOR LOCK**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

10. Remove the TORX bolt, and remove the outside handle bracket.



- 12. Disconnect the door lock actuator connector and remove the door lock assembly.
- 13. Reach to separate outside handle cable connection.







Μ

Н

J

Κ

L

Ν

0



# < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## **TRUNK LID**

**Fitting Adjustment** 

INFOID:000000004159414



Trunk lid assembly 1.

Rear bumper fascia

2. Rear fender Trunk lid hinge

5.

- 3. Rear combination lamp
- Bumper rubber 6.

Trunk lid striker 7.

4.

1. Check the clearance and the evenness between the trunk lid and each part by visual and tactile feeling. (Fitting standard dimension in the table below should be satisfied.)

Parts		Standard	Right/left clearance (MAX)	
	D	2.5 - 4.5 (0.098 - 0.177)	1.5 (0.059)	
A-A	E	-1.0 - 1.0 (-0.039 - 0.039)	1.5 (0.059)	
	F	2.5 – 5.5 (0.098 – 0.217)	2.0 (0.079)	
<b>D</b> – D	G	-1.5 <b>-</b> 1.5 (-0.059 <b>-</b> 0.059)	2.0 (0.079)	
C-C H		2.4 - 6.6 (0.094 - 0.260)	_	

\* Unit: mm (in)

- In case out of specification, adjust them according to the procedures shown below. 2.
  - Loosen the bumper rubber.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- Loosen the striker mounting bolts.
- Lift up the trunk lid approx. 100 150 mm (3.937 5.906 in) height then close it lightly and make sure it engaged firmly with the trunk lid closed.
- Check the clearance and evenness.
- Finally tighten the trunk lid striker.

#### Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Assembly



#### **CAUTION:**

- After installing, apply touch-up paint (the body color) onto the head of the hinge mounting bolts.
- After installing, check operation.
- After installing, perform fitting adjustment. Refer to **BL-184**, "Fitting Adjustment".

#### REMOVAL

- 1. Remove trunk lid finisher. Refer to EI-66. "Component Parts Location".
- 2. Disconnect the connectors in the trunk lid, and remove the harness clamps to pull the harness out of the trunk lid.
- 3. Insert flat-bladed screwdriver into the gap and remove holder.



В

J

Κ

L

INFOID:000000004159415

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- Remove trunk lid stay (gas stay).
   WARNING: Body injury may occur if no supporting rod is holding the trunk lid open when removing the damper stay.
- 5. Remove the mounting bolts, and remove the trunk lid assembly.



#### INSTALLATION

Install in the reverse order of removal.

Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Stay

INFOID:000000004159416

#### REMOVAL

1. Insert flat-bladed screwdriver into the gap and remove holder.



- 2. Remove trunk lid stay on the trunk lid.
- 3. Remove the stud balls, and trunk lid stay.

#### INSTALLATION

- 1. Install in the reverse order of removal.
- 2. After installing, check the operation.

Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Lock

INFOID:000000004159417

#### REMOVAL



- 4.
- 5. Trunk lid emergency opener lever
- Remove the trunk lid finisher. Refer to <u>EI-66, "Component Parts Location"</u>.
- 2. Remove the trunk lid emergency opener lever.
- 3. Disconnect the trunk lid opener cable.
- 4. Disconnect the trunk lid.

1.

5. Remove the mounting bolts, and remove the trunk lid lock.



#### INSTALLATION

- 1. Install in the reverse order of removal.
- Μ 2. After installing, close the trunk lid height. Perform the lock and surface height adjustment. Refer to BL-184, "Fitting Adjustment".
- 3. After installing, check the operation.

Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Striker

#### REMOVAL

Ν

Н

INFOID:000000004159418

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- 1. Remove the trunk rear plate and trunk rear finisher. Refer to <u>El-66, "Component Parts Location"</u>.
- 2. Remove the mounting bolts, and remove the striker from the trunk lock support.



#### INSTALLATION

- 1. Install in the reverse order of removal.
- 2. After installing, close the trunk lid height. Perform the lock and surface height adjustment. Refer to <u>BL-184, "Fitting Adjustment"</u>.
- 3. After installing, check the operation.

### Removal and Installation of Trunk Lid Weatherstrip

INFOID:000000004159419



1. Weatherstrip

2. Seam

#### REMOVAL

Pull up and remove engagement with body from weatherstrip joint. **CAUTION:** 

#### After removal, do not pull strongly on the weatherstrip.

#### INSTALLATION

- 1. Working from the lower section, align the weatherstrip seam with center of the striker and weatherstrip onto the vehicle.
- 2. After installation, pull the weatherstrip gently to ensure that there is no loose section. **NOTE:**

Make sure the weatherstrip is fit tightly at each corner and back door rear plate.

#### **BL-188**

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### TRUNK LID OPENER

### Component Parts and Harness Connector Location

INFOID:000000004159420

А



- to BCM terminal 52
- through body grounds M16 and M70.

When trunk lid opener cancel switch is ON and trunk lid opener switch is ON (pushed) Ground is supplied

#### Revision: 2009 Novemver

### BL-189

#### 2009 M35/M45

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- to BCM terminal 30
- through trunk lid opener switch terminals 1 and 2
- through trunk lid opener cancel switch terminals 1 and 3 and
- through body grounds M16 and M70.
- And power is supplied
- through BCM terminal 68
- to trunk lid opener actuator terminal 3.
- Ground is supplied
- to trunk lid opener actuator terminal 2
- through body grounds B402,B405.

Then BCM open trunk lid opener actuator.

#### TRUNK LID OPENER OPERATION

When trunk lid opener switch or trunk button of Intelligent Key is ON, BCM opens trunk opener actuator. BCM can open trunk lid opener actuator when

- vehicle speed is less than 5 km/h (3MPH)
- · vehicle security system is disarmed or pre-armed phase
- BCM does not open trunk lid opener actuator when
- trunk lid opener cancel switch is OFF (CANSEL)
- vehicle speed is more than 5 km/h (3MPH)
- · vehicle security system is armed or alarm phase
- Intelligent Key is inserted in key slot



#### **BL-TLID-02**



1100126195

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Terminal and Reference Value for BCM

Termi- nal	Wire color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Condition		Voltage (V) (Approx.)
		O Trunk lid opener switch		Dut Trunk lid opener cancel switch is ON position Trunk lid opener switch is ON position Trunk lid opener switch is OFF	Trunk lid opener switch is ON	0
30	0		Input		Battery voltage	
				Trunk lid opener cancel switch is OFF position		Battery voltage
39	L	CAN-H	Input/ Output	—		_
40	Р	CAN-L	Input/ Output	_		_
42	Р	Power source (Fuse)	Input	—		Battery voltage
52	В	Ground	_	—		0
55	W	Power source (Fusible link)	Input	—		Battery voltage
68	0	Trunk lid opener output signal	Output	When trunk lid opener cancel switch is ON po- sition, trunk lid opener switch is ON.		$0 \rightarrow \text{Battery voltage} \rightarrow 0$

### CONSULT-III Function (BCM-TRUNK)

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes shown following.

BCM diagnosis part	Inspection item, self-diagnosis mode	Content	
	DATA MONITOR	Displays the input data of BCM in real time basis.	
INDIK	ACTIVE TEST	Give a drive signals to load to check the operation check.	

#### DATA MONITOR

		n
Monitored Item	Description	
IGN ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ON position.	
KEY ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of Intelligent Key inserted in key slot.	L
I KEY TRUNK/HAT	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk lid open signal from Intelligent Key.	
TRUNK OPNR SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk lid opener switch.	
VEHICLE SPEED	This item displays vehicle speed.	IVI

#### ACTIVE TEST

Test item	Content
TRUNK/GLASS HATCH	This test is able to check trunk lid opener actuator open operation. This actuator opens when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

### **Trouble Diagnosis**

INFOID:000000004159425

Ν

0

Ρ

# TRUNK DOSE NOT OPEN WITH TRUNK LID OPENER SWITCH / WITH INTELLIGENT KEY 1. Check trunk Lid opener cancel switch

Check trunk lid opener cancel switch position.

Does trunk lid opener cancel switch turn OFF (CANCEL)?

Yes >> Turn on trunk lid opener cancel switch.

No >> GO TO 2.

INFOID:000000004159423

D:000000004159424

INFOID:000000004159424

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### 2. CHECK TRUNK LID OPEN INPUT SIGNAL

#### (I) With CONSULT-III

- Check trunk lid opener switch ("TRNK OPNR SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode with CONSULT-III.
- When trunk lid opener switch is turned to "ON".

#### **TRNK OPNR SW** : **ON**

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

- 1. Remove Intelligent Key from key slot.
- 2. Turn on trunk lid opener cancel switch.
- Check voltage between BCM connector and ground. 3.

	Terminals			
(+)			Condition of trunk lid	Voltage (V)
BCM connector	Terminal	()	opener switch	(Approx.)
M1	30	Ground	ON (push and hold)	0
		OFF (release)	Battery voltage	



OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3. NG >> GO TO 6.

### ${f 3.}$ CHECK TRUNK LID OPEN OUTPUT SIGNAL

Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.

	Terminals		<b>A</b> 1111 <b>A</b>	
(+)			trunk lid opener	Voltage (V)
BCM connector	Terminal	(-)	switch	(Approx.)
M3	68	Ground	$OFF\toON$	$0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$
<u>OK or NG</u>				



### OK

>> GO TO 4.

NG >> Replace BCM. Refer to BCS-14, "Removal and Installation of BCM".

### 4. CHECK TRUNK LID OPENER ACTUATOR CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect BCM connector and trunk lid opener actuator connector.
- Check continuity between BCM connector and trunk lid opener actuator connector. 2.

A		В			
BCM connector	Terminal	Trunk lid opener actuator connector	Terminal	Continuity	
M3	68	T106	3	Yes	
Charle continuity between DCM connector and ground					

Check continuity between BCM connector and ground. J.

А			Continuity	
BCM connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity	
M3	68		No	

В Ω PIIB8868E

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 5.

NG >> Repair harness or connector.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### 5.check trunk lid opener actuator ground circuit

#### Check continuity between trunk lid opener actuator connector and ground.

Trunk lid opener actuator connector	Terminal		Continuity
T106	2	Ground	Yes

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> Replace trunk lid opener actuator.
- NG >> Repair harness or connector.

•		В
-		С
		D
	T INDECOSE	E

### 6.CHECK TRUNK LID OPENER SWITCH

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect trunk lid opener switch connector.
- 3. Check continuity between trunk lid opener switch connector.

Terminal		Condition	Continuity	
Trunk lid opener switch		Condition	Continuity	
1	2	ON (push and hold)	Yes	
I	2	OFF (release)	No	

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 7.

NG >> Replace trunk lid opener switch.



### **7.**CHECK TRUNK LID OPENER CANCEL SWITCH

- 1. Disconnect trunk lid opener cancel switch connector.
- 2. Check continuity between trunk lid opener cancel switch connector.

Terminal			
Trunk lid op sw	ener cancel itch	Condition	Continuity
1	3	ON	Yes
I	5	OFF (cancel)	No

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 8.

NG >> Replace trunk lid opener cancel switch.

### 8. CHECK TRUNK LID OPENER SWITCH CIRCUIT

1. Disconnect BCM connector.

2. Check continuity between BCM connector and trunk lid opener switch connector.



Ρ

А

F

Н

ΒL

J

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Α			
Trunk lid opener cancel switch	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M99	3		Yes
<u>OK or NG</u>			
OK >> Check co	ndition of ha	arness and co	nnector.

NG >> Repair or replace harness.





Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



fender protector LH removed)

INFOID:000000004159427

System Description DESCRIPTION

grille removed)

(Trunk room lamp switch)

19. Horn (high) E64, E65 (View with front

1.

4.

7.

(Unlock switch)

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **Operation Flow**



Setting the Vehicle Security System

#### Initial condition

• Ignition switch is in OFF position.

#### **Disarmed phase**

- When hood, doors or trunk is open, the vehicle security system is set in the disarmed phase on the assumption that the owner is inside or near the vehicle.
- When the vehicle security system is in the disarmed phase, the security indicator lamp blinks every 2.4 seconds.

#### Pre-armed phase and armed phase

When the following operation 1 or 2 is performed, the vehicle security system turns into the "pre-armed" BL phase. (The security indicator lamp illuminates.)

- 1. BCM receives LOCK signal from front door key cylinder switch or Intelligent Key, after hood, trunk and all doors are closed.
- Hood, trunk and all doors are closed after front doors are locked by key or door lock and unlock switch. The security indicator lamp illuminates for 30 seconds. Then, the system automatically shifts into the "armed" phase.

#### Canceling the Set Vehicle Security System

When one of the following operations is performed, the armed phase is canceled.

- 1. Unlock the doors with the key or Intelligent Key.
- 2. Turn ignition switch "ON" or "ACC" position.

#### Canceling the Alarm Operation of the Vehicle Security System

When unlock the door with the key or Intelligent Key the alarm operation is canceled.

#### Activating the Alarm Operation of the Vehicle Security System

Make sure the system is in the armed phase. (The security indicator lamp brinks every 2.4 seconds.) When the following operation 1 or 2 is performed, the system sounds the horns and flashes the headlamps for about 50 seconds.

- 1. Hood, trunk or any door is opened during armed phase.
- 2. Disconnecting and connecting the battery connector before canceling armed phase.

#### POWER SUPPLY AND GROUND CIRCUIT

Power is supplied at all times

- through 50A fusible link (letter F, located in the fuse and fusible link box)
- to BCM terminal 55,
- through 10A fuse [No. 21, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- to BCM terminal 42,
- through 10A fuse [No. 71, located in the IPDM E/R]
- to IPDM E/R internal CPU,
- through 15A fuse [No. 78, located in the IPDM E/R]

#### **BL-199**

Н

Κ

L

M

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- to IPDM E/R internal CPU,
- through 15A fuse [No. 37, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- to multi-function switch (security indicator) terminal 1.

With the ignition switch in the ACC or ON position, power is supplied

- through 10A fuse [No. 6, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- to BCM terminal 11.

Ground is supplied

- to BCM terminal 52
- through body grounds M16 and M70.

#### INITIAL CONDITION TO ACTIVATE THE SYSTEM

The operation of the vehicle security system is controlled by the doors, hood and trunk.

To activate the vehicle security system, BCM must receive signals indicating the doors, hood and trunk are closed and the doors are locked by key fob.

When a door is open, terminal 12 (passenger side door), 13 (rear RH door), 62 (driver side door), 63 (rear LH door) receives a ground signal from each door switch.

When front door LH is unlocked by power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch), BCM terminal 22 receives an unlock signal from terminal 14 of power window main switch with power window serial link.

When front door RH is unlocked by power window sub-switch (passenger side) (door lock and unlock switch), BCM terminal 22 receives an unlock signal from terminal 16 of power window sub-switch (passenger side) with power window serial link.

When front door key cylinder switch is in LOCK position, ground is supplied

- to power window main switch terminal 4
- through front door key cylinder switch terminals 6 and 4
- through body grounds M16 and M70.
- When the hood is open, IPDM E/R receives a ground signal
- to IPDM E/R terminal 60
- through hood switch terminal 2
- through hood switch terminal 1
- through body grounds E22, and E43.

The IPDM E/R then sends a signal to BCM via CAN communication line.

When the trunk is open, ground is supplied

- to BCM terminal 57
- through trunk room lamp switch terminal 1
- through trunk room lamp switch terminal 2
- through body grounds B402 and B405.

#### VEHICLE SECURITY SYSTEM ALARM OPERATION

The vehicle security system is triggered by

- opening a door
- opening the trunk
- opening the hood
- detection of battery disconnect and connect.

The vehicle security system will be triggered once the system is in armed phase,

when BCM receives a ground signal at terminals 12 (passenger side door), 13 (rear RH door), 57 (trunk), 62 (driver side door), 63 (rear LH door), or receives a signal from the IPDM E/R (hood switch).

When the vehicle security system is triggered,

ground is supplied intermittently to both headlamp relay and horn relay.

When headlamp relay and horn relay are energized, then power is supplied to headlamps (LH and RH) and horns (HIGH and LOW).

The headlamps flash and the horn sounds intermittently.

The alarm automatically turns off after 50 seconds, but will reactivate if the vehicle is tampered with again.

#### VEHICLE SECURITY SYSTEM DEACTIVATION

To deactivate the vehicle security system, a door or the trunk must be unlocked with the key, Intelligent Key. When the key is used to unlock a door, BCM terminal 22 receives signal

• from the power window main switch (door lock and unlock switch) terminal 14.

When the BCM receives either one of these signals or unlock signal from key cylinder switch or Intelligent Key, the vehicle security system is deactivated. (Disarmed phase)

#### PANIC ALARM OPERATION

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Intelligent Key system may or may not operate vehicle security system (horn and headlamps) as required. When the Intelligent Key system is triggered, ground is supplied intermittently to both headlamp relay and horn A relay.

When headlamp relay and horn relay are energized, then power is supplied to headlamps (LH and RH) and horns (HIGH and LOW).

The headlamp flashes and the horn sounds intermittently.

The alarm automatically turns off after 25 seconds or when BCM receives any signal from Intelligent Key.

### CAN Communication System Description

CAN (Controller Area Network) is a serial communication line for real time application. It is an on-vehicle multiplex communication line with high data communication speed and excellent error detection ability. Many electronic control units are equipped onto a vehicle, and each control unit shares information and links with other control units during operation (not independent). In CAN communication, control units are connected with 2 communication lines (CAN H line, CAN L line) allowing a high rate of information transmission with less wiring. Each control unit transmits/receives data but selectively reads required data only.

#### CAN Communication Unit

Refer to LAN-29, "CAN System Specification Chart"

ΒL

Κ

L

M

Ν

Ρ

Н

В

С

F

INFOID:000000004159428

INFOID:000000004159429

Revision: 2009 Novemver

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Schematic

INFOID:000000004159430



TIWT2620E



< SERVICE INFORMATION >



#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Ρ

#### **BL-VEHSEC-04**





#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Ρ

**BL-VEHSEC-06** 





TIWT3149E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

### Terminal and Reference Value for BCM

INFOID:000000004159432

А

Termi- nal	Wire color	Item	Signal In- put/Out- put	Condition	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
11	V	Power supply (ACC)	Input	Ignition switch (ACC or ON position)	Battery voltage
12	Р	Front door switch passenger side signal	Input	$ON\ (Open) \to OFF\ (Closed)$	$0 \rightarrow$ Battery voltage
13	O/L	Rear door switch RH signal	Input	$ON\ (Open) \to OFF\ (Closed)$	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
22	G	Power window serial link	Input/ Output	Ignition switch ON or power window timer operating	(V) 15 10 5 0 200 ms → 200 ms → PIIA2344J
23	W/G	Security indicator lamp	Output	Goes off $\rightarrow$ Illuminates	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$
37	LG	Key switch signal	Input	Key inserted in key slot $\rightarrow$ key removed from key slot	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$
39	L	CAN-H	Input/ Output	—	_
40	Р	CAN-L	Input/ Output	—	_
42	Р	Power source (fuse)	Input	—	Battery voltage
52	В	Ground	_	—	0
55	W	Battery power supply (fusible link)	Input	_	Battery voltage
56	W	Trunk lid key cylinder switch	Input	$Neutral \to Unlock$	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$
57	SB	Trunk room lamp switch signal	Input	$ON\;(Open)\toOFF\;(Closed)$	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
62	V	Front door switch driver side signal	Input	$ON\;(Open)\toOFF\;(Closed)$	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$
63	R/G	Rear door switch LH signal	Input	$ON\ (Open) \to OFF\ (Closed)$	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$

### Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R

INFOID:000000004159433

						N
Terminal	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/Output	Condition	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	
38	В	Ground (power)	—	—	0	N
10	C	Horn roley control signal	Output	Panic alarm is operating	0	
40	G	Hom relay control signal	Output	Other than above	Battery voltage	
49	L	CAN-H	Input/Output	—	_	С
50	Р	CAN-L	Input/Output	—	_	
51	В	Ground (signal)	—	—	0	P
60	LG/B	Hood switch signal	Input	$ON\;(Open)\toOFF\;(closed)$	$0 \rightarrow Battery voltage$	

### CONSULT-III Function (BCM-THEFT ALM)

CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes shown following.

INFOID:000000004159434

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

BCM diagnosis position	Inspection items and diagnosis mode	Description
	DATA MONITOR	Displays the input data to BCM in real time basis.
THEFT ALM	ACTIVE TEST	Gives a drive signal to a load to check the operation.
	WORK SUPPORT	Changes setting of each function.

#### Work Support

Test Item	Description
SECURITY ALARM SET	This mode is able to confirm and change security alarm ON-OFF setting.
THEFT ALM TRG	The switch which triggered vehicle security alarm is recorded. This mode is able to confirm and erase the record of vehicle security alarm. The trigger data can be erased by touching "CLEAR" on CONSULT-III screen.

#### Data Monitor

Monitored Item	Description
IGN ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch.
ACC ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch in ACC position.
KEY ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.
I-KEY DR UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from driver side door request switch.
I-KEY AS UNLK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from passenger side door request switch.
I-KEY LOCK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of lock signal from Intelligent Key.
I-KEY UNLOCK	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from Intelligent Key.
I-KEY TRNK/HAT	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk opener signal from Intelligent Key.
TRUNK OPNR SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk lid opener switch.
TRUNK CYL SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk lid opener cancel switch.
TRUNK OPN MNTR	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of trunk room lamp switch.
HOOD SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of hood switch.
DOOR SW-DR	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of front door switch LH.
DOOR SW-AS	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of front door switch RH.
DOOR SW-RR	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of rear door switch RH.
DOOR SW-RL	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of rear door switch LH.
BACK DOOR SW	This is displayed even when it is not equipped.
KEY CYL LK-SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of lock signal from front door key cylinder switch.
KEY CYL UN-SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from front door key cylinder switch.
CDL LOCK SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of lock signal from door lock/unlock switch LH and RH.
CDL UNLOCK SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of unlock signal from door lock/unlock switch LH and RH.

#### Active Test

Test Item	Description
THEFT IND	This test is able to check security indicator lamp operation. The lamp will be turned on when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
VEHICLE SECURITY HORN	This test is able to check vehicle security horn operation. The horns will be activated for 0.5 sec- onds after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
HEADLAMP (HI)	This test is able to check vehicle security lamp operation. The headlamps will be activated for 0.5 seconds after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.
FLASHER	This test is able to check vehicle security hazard lamp operation. The hazard lamps will be activated after "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.

< SERVICE INFORMATION >	
Trouble Diagnosis Work Flow	INFOID:00000004159435
1.CHECK IN	
Listen to customer complaint.	
>> GO TO 2. 2 CHECK ELINCTION	
Do "Power door lock system" and "Intelligent Key system" work properly?	
Do Fower door lock system and intelligent key system work property?	
YES >> GO TO 3.	
NO >> Preform diagnosis and repair. Refer to <u>BL-42</u> .	
<b>3.</b> PERFORM DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE	
Perform diagnostic procedure according to the symptom chart. Refer to <u>BL-212, "</u>	Trouble Diagnosis Symptom
<u>onart</u> .	
>> GO TO 4.	
4.FINAL CHECK	
Confirm that the malfunction is completely fixed by operating the system.	
OK >> INSPECTION END	
Droliminary Chaole	-
Preliminary Check	INFOID:00000004159436
1.INSPECTION START	
Turn ignition switch "OFF" and pull out Intelligent Key from key slot.	
NOTE: Before starting operation check, open front windows	
bolore starting operation check, open none windows.	
>> GO TO 2.	
2. CHECK SECURITY INDICATOR LAMP	
1. Lock doors using Intelligent Key or mechanical key.	
2. Make sure security indicator lamp illuminate for 30 seconds.	
Security indicator lamp should illuminate.	
NG >> Perform diagnosis and repair. Refer to <u>BL-212, "Diagnosis Procedure</u>	e 1".
3. CHECK ALARM FUNCTION	
1. After 30 seconds, security indicator lamp will start blink.	
2. Open any door or hood before unlocking with Intelligent Key or mechanical l	key, or open trunk lid without
Intelligent Key or mechanical key.	
DO alarm function property.	
NG >> Check the following.	
<ul> <li>The vehicle security system does not phase in alarm mode. Refer t</li> </ul>	o <u>BL-217, "Diagnosis Proce-</u>
<ul> <li><u>dure 2</u>".</li> <li>Alarm (horn, headlamp and hazard lamp) do not operate. Refer to</li> </ul>	o BL-218, "Diagnosis Proce-
dure 3".	
4. CHECK ALARM CANCEL OPERATION	
Unlock any door or open trunk lid using Intelligent Key or mechanical key.	
Alarm (horn, headlamp and hazard lamp) should stop.	

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### OK >> INSPECTION END.

#### NG >> Perform diagnosis and repair. Refer to <u>BL-218, "Diagnosis Procedure 4"</u>.

### Trouble Diagnosis Symptom Chart

INFOID:000000004159437

Procedure		edure	Diagnostic procedure	Pofor to page	
	Sym	ptom		Refer to page	
		Door switch	Diagnostic Procedure 1 (Check door, hood and trunk switch)	BL-212	
	Vehicle security	Lock / unlock switch	Diagnostic Procedure 6 (Check door lock / unlock switch)	BL-219	
	system cannot be	Door outside key	Diagnostic Procedure 3 (Check door key cylinder switch)	BL-218	
1	set by ····	Intelligent Key	Check Intelligent Key.	<u>BL-113</u>	
		—	If the above systems are "OK", replace BCM.	BCS-14	
	Socurity indicator d	loop pot turp "ON"	Diagnostic Procedure 2 (Check security indicator lamp)	BL-217	
	Security indicator of	ides not turn on .	e above systems are "OK", replace BCM.BCS-14nostic Procedure 2 (Check security indicator lamp)BL-217e above systems are "OK", replace BCM.BCS-14nostic Procedure 1 (Check door, hood and trunk switch)BL-212e above systems are "OK", replace BCM.BCS-14nostic Procedure 4 (Check vehicle security horn alarm)BL-218e above systems are "OK", replace BCM.BCS-14		
	* Vehicle security		Diagnostic Procedure 1 (Check door, hood and trunk switch)	BL-212	
2	system does not alarm when ····	Any door is opened.	If the above systems are "OK", replace BCM.	BCS-14	
	Vehicle security	Horn alarm	Diagnostic Procedure 4 (Check vehicle security horn alarm)	<u>BL-218</u>	
			If the above systems are "OK", replace BCM.	BCS-14	
2			Diagnostic Procedure 5 (Check head lamp alarm)	<u>BL-219</u>	
3	tivate.	neau lamp alaini	If the above systems are "OK", replace BCM.	BCS-14	
		Hezerdlemp	Diagnostic Procedure 7 (Check hazard lamp alarm)	BL-219	
		nazaru lamp	If the above systems are "OK", replace BCM.	BCS-14	
			Diagnostic Procedure 3 (Check door key cylinder switch)	BL-218	
4	Vehicle security system cannot be	ecurity Door outside key	If the above systems are "OK", replace power window main switch.	<u>EI-46</u>	
	canceled by	Intelligent Koy	Check remote keyless entry function.	<u>BL-42</u>	
		intelligent Key	If the above systems are "OK", replace BCM.	BCS-14	

\*: Make sure the system is in the armed phase.

#### **Diagnosis Procedure 1**

INFOID:000000004159438

#### CHECK DOOR SWITCH

1. CHECK DOOR SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check door switches ("DOOR SW-DR", "DOOR SW-AS", "DOOR SW-RL" and "DOOR SW-RR") in "DATA MONITOR" mode with CONSULT-III.

Monitor item	Condition
DOOR SW-DR	
DOOR SW-AS	
DOOR SW-RL	$CLOSE \rightarrow OFEN. OFF \rightarrow ON$
DOOR SW-RR	

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Terminals						H.S (				
(+)		(+)		ondition	Voltage (V)					
BCM connector	Terminal	()			(Approx.)					
			Front	OPEN	0					
M1	12		passenger side	CLOSE	Battery voltage					
	10	13 Ground	Rear RH side	OPEN	0					
	13			CLOSE	Battery voltage					
M3	60					Driver side	D :	OPEN	0	
	02		Rear LH	CLOSE	Battery voltage					
	<b>C</b> 2			OPEN	0					
	03		side	CLOSE	Battery voltage					

>> Door switch circuit is OK. OK

NG >> GO TO 2.

### 2. CHECK DOOR SWITCH

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- Disconnect door switch connector. 2.
- Check door switch. 3.

Terminal Door switch		Door switch	Continuity
		Door Switch	Continuity
2	Ground part of	Pushed	No
2	door switch	Released	Yes

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

NG >> Replace malfunction door switch.

## 3. CHECK DOOR SWITCH CIRCUIT

1. Disconnect BCM connector.

2. Check continuity between BCM connector and door switch connector.



12, 13





Μ

J

А

В

С

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A		В		
BCM connector	Terminal	Door switch connector	Terminal	Continuity
M1	12	B424		
	13	B403	2	Voc
М3	62	B11	2	165
	63	B53		

3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground.

A		Continuity		
BCM connector	Terminal		Continuity	
	12	- Ground		
IVII	13		No	
	62			
IM3	63			

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> GO TO 4.
- NG >> Repair or replace harness between BCM and door switch.

#### **4.**CHECK BCM OUTPUT SIGNAL

- 1. Connect BCM connector.
- 2. Check voltage between BCM connector and ground.



### CHECK HOOD SWITCH

### 1. CHECK HOOD SWITCH

Check hood switch and hood fitting condition. OK or NG

- OK >> GO TO 2.
- NG >> Adjust installation of hood switch.



62,63

PIIB6324E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## 2. CHECK HOOD SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### (I) With CONSULT-III

Check ("HOOD SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode with CONSULT-III.

: **ON** 

• When hood is opened:

#### HOOD SW

• When hood is closed:

#### HOOD SW : OFF

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

Check voltage between IPDM E/R connector and ground.

IPDM E/R con-	Terminals		Condition of bood	Voltage (V)
nector	(+)	(-)		(Approx.)
E0 60	Ground	OPEN	0	
E3	9 00 0	Crodina	CLOSE	Battery voltage

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Hood switch is OK, and go to "TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH CHECK".

NG >> GO TO 3.

## 3. CHECK HOOD SWITCH

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect hood switch connector.
- 3. Check continuity between hood switch terminals 1 and 2.

Hood switch	Terminals		Condition of hood switch	Continuity
E44 1	1 2		Pressed	No
	2	Released	Yes	

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Replace hood switch.

#### **4.**CHECK HOOD SWITCH CIRCUIT

- 1. Disconnect IPDM E/R connector.
- 2. Check continuity between hood switch connector and IPDM E/R connector.

А		В		
Hood switch connector	Terminal	IPDM E/R connector	Terminal	Continuity
E44	2	E9	60	Yes

3. Check continuity between hood switch connector and ground.

A			Continuity
Hood switch connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
E44	2		No





А

В

D

ΒL

Κ

L

PIIB6215E



OK >> GO TO 5.

Yes

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### NG >> Repair or replace hood switch harness.

#### CHECK HOOD SWITCH GROUND CIRCUIT

Check continuity between hood switch connector and ground.

Hood switch	Terminal	Ground	
E44	1	Ground	

#### OK or NG

OK >> Check condition of harness and connector.

NG >> Repair or replace hood switch harness.



#### CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH

1. CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH INPUT SIGNAL

#### With CONSULT-III

Check ("TRUNK SW") in "DATA MONITOR" mode with CONSULT-III.

Monitor item	Condition		
	OPEN	: ON	
INOUN SW	CLOSE	: OFF	

#### **Without CONSULT-III**

1. Turn ignition switch OFF.

Check voltage between BCM connector and ground. 2.

Terminals			- ·	
(+)			I runk condition	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
BCM connector	Terminal	(-)		, , ,
M3	57	Ground	OPEN	0
WI3	57	Giouna	CLOSE	Battery voltage

#### OK or NG

OK >> Trunk room lamp switch circuit is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

### 2. CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH

- Turn ignition switch OFF. 1.
- Disconnect trunk lid lock assembly connector. 2.
- Check trunk room lamp switch. 3.

Terminal Trunk room lamp switch		Trunk condition	Continuity
			Continuity
1	2	OPEN	Yes
I		CLOSE	No

#### OK or NG

>> GO TO 3. OK

NG >> Replace trunk room lamp switch.

### **3.**CHECK TRUNK ROOM LAMP SWITCH CIRCUIT

1. Disconnect BCM connector.

Check continuity between BCM connector and trunk lid lock assembly connector. 2.




## **VEHICLE SECURITY (THEFT WARNING) SYSTEM**

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



CHECK SECURITY INDICATOR LAMP

1.SECURITY INDICATOR LAMP ACTIVE TEST

#### (P) With CONSULT-III

Check ("THEFT IND") in "ACTIVE TEST" mode with CONSULT-III.

Perform operation shown on display indicator lamp should illuminate.

#### OK or NG

Ρ

## VEHICLE SECURITY (THEFT WARNING) SYSTEM

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

OK >> Security indicator lamp is OK.

NG >> GO TO 2.

2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect security indicator lamp connector.
- Check voltage between multi-function switch (security indicator lamp) connector and ground.

(+	-)		Voltage (V)
Security indicator lamp connector	Terminal	()	(Approx.)
M69	1	Ground	Battery voltage

#### <u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> Check the following.
  - Harness for open or short between BCM and multi-function switch (security indicator lamp)
  - Security indicator lamp condition
- NG >> Check the following.
  - 15A fuse [No.37, located in fuse block (J/B)]
  - Harness for open or short between multi-function switch (security indicator lamp) and fuse

#### **Diagnosis Procedure 3**

CHECK FRONT DOOR KEY CYLINDER SWITCH

**1.**CHECK KEY CYLINDER SWITCH OPERATION

Check if door key cylinder switch using mechanical key.

Do doors lock / unlock when using the mechanical key?

YES >> Front door key cylinder switch operation is OK.

NO >> Check door key cylinder switch circuit. Refer to <u>BL-40, "Door Key Cylinder Switch Check"</u>.

#### **Diagnosis Procedure 4**

CHECK VEHICLE SECURITY HORN ALARM

First perform the "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" of "BCM" with CONSULT-III, then perform the trouble diagnosis of malfunction system indicated in "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" of "BCM". Refer to <u>BCS-11, "CON-</u> <u>SULT-III Function (BCM)"</u>.

**1.**CHECK HORN OPERATION

Check if horn sounds with horn switch.

#### Does horn operate?

Yes >> GO TO 2.

No >> Check horn circuit. Refer to  $\underline{WW-42}$ .

2.check ipdm e/r input signal

Check voltage between IPDM E/R connector and ground.



INFOID:000000004159441

## VEHICLE SECURITY (THEFT WARNING) SYSTEM

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	Terminal	S					
(	+)		Vo	oltage (V)			
IPDM E/R connector	Termina	II ()	(–) (Approx.)		(–) (Approx.)		
E9	48	Ground	ery voltage	<b>P</b>			
OK or NG			- H				
OK >> Repl	ace IPDM E	/R.					
NG >> GO	TO 3.				PIIB6219E		
3.CHECK HOR	N RELAY CI	IRCUIT					
1. Turn ignition	switch OFF						
2. Disconnect I	PDM E/R ar	nd horn relay conr	nector.				
3. Check contir	nuity betwee	n IPDM E/R conn	ector and h	orn relay c	onnector.		
		<u> </u>			(C) E) 🖗 E) 🍡		
		B		Continuity			
connector	Terminal	connector	Terminal	Continuity	A B		
E9	48	E20	1	Yes			
OK or NG							
OK >> Che	ck harness o	connection.					
NG >> Repa	air or replace	e harness.					
<b>D</b> D					PIIB6220E		
Diagnosis Pro	oceaure o	)			INFOID:000000004159442		
			/ (L/ (I (IV)				
Check if headlan	np operate b	y lighting switch.	" <b>ONI</b> "O				
Does headlamp	<u>come on wh</u>	en turning switch	<u>"ON"?</u>				
NO >> Che	ciamp circui ck headlamr	t IS UK. System Refer to	T-6 or T	-35			
	aadura 6		<u></u> 0. <u></u>	<u>.</u>			
Diagnosis Pro		)			INFOID:000000004159443		
CHECK DOOR		UNI OCK SWI	тсн				
		D UNLOCK SWIT		SIGNAL			
Check if power d	oor lock ope	erated by door loc	k and unloc	k switch.			
Do doors lock / u	nlock when	using each door l	ock and un	lock switch	<u>28?</u>		
YES >> Dool	r lock and ur	and unlock switch is OK	Refer to l	BL-35 "Che	eck Door Lock and Unlock Switch"		
					Jer Boor Lock and Onlock Owner		
Diagnosis Pro	cedure /	, ,			INFOID:00000004159444		
				× 1			
I.CHECK HAZA	ARD WARNI						
Does hazard war	rning lamp fl	ash with hazard s	witch?				
YES or NO							
YES >> Haza	ard warning	lamp circuit is OK					
NO >> Che	ck hazard ci	rcuit. Refer to <u>LT-</u>	<u>152</u> .				

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

## IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS)

**Component Parts and Harness Connector Location** 

INFOID:000000004159445



- 1. Fuse block (J/B) fuse layout
- 4. Intelligent key unit M32, M33 (View with dash side finisher LH removed)
- 7. ECM M71 (View with instrument low- 8. er panel RH removed)
- 2. Fuse and fusible link box
- 5. PDU M30, M31 (View with combina- 6. tion meter removed)
  - Push-button ignition switch M27
- 3. BCM M1, M2, M3 (View with instrument lower panel RH removed)
  - IPDM E/R E4, E9 (Engine room)
- 9. Stop lamp switch E124

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



10. Unified meter and A / C amp M64, M65  $\,$  11. Combination meter M52  $\,$ 

12. Multifunction switch M69 (Security indicator)

Κ

L

P

INFOID:000000004159446

ΒL

#### NOTE: If customer reports a "No start" condition, request ALL KEYS to be brought to an INFINITI dealer to check for an IVIS (NATS) malfunction.

#### System Description

13. Steering lock unit M35 (Steering column)

#### DESCRIPTION

- The IVIS (NATS) is an anti-theft system by registering an Intelligent Key ID in to the vehicle and prevents the engine being started by an unregistered Intelligent Key. It has a higher protection against auto thefts that duplicates mechanical key.
- It performs the ID verification when starting the engine in the same way as the Intelligent Key system. But, it performs the IVIS (NATS) ID verification when inserting the Intelligent Key and performs the Intelligent Key ID verification when carrying the Intelligent Key.
- The Intelligent Key system of FUGA (Y50) is not the same as the conventional models. The mechanical key integrated in the Intelligent Key cannot start the engine. When the Intelligent Key battery is discharged, the IVIS (NATS) ID verification memorized to the transponder integrated with Intelligent Key is performed by inserting the Intelligent Key into the key slot. If the verification results are OK, the engine start operation can be performed by the push-button ignition switch operation.
- Locate the security indicator and apply the anti-theft system equipment sticker, forewarn that the IVIS (NATS) is onboard with the model.
- The security indicator always blinks when the Intelligent Key is removed from the key slot and when the power supply position is in LOCK position.
- Intelligent Key can be registered up to 4 keys (Including the standard ignition key) on request from the owner.
- The specified registration is required when replacing ECM, BCM or Intelligent Key. The registrations procedure for IVIS (NATS) and registration procedure for Intelligent Key when installing the Intelligent Key unit, refer to CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- Possible symptom of IVIS (NATS) malfunction is "Engine cannot start". In FUGA (Y50), the engine can be started with the Intelligent Key system and IVIS (NATS). Identify the possible causes according to "Work Flow", Refer to <u>BL-241, "Work Flow"</u>.
- If ECM other than Genuine NISSAN is installed, the engine cannot be started. For ECM replacement procedure, refer to <u>BL-224, "ECM Re-Communicating Function"</u>.

#### PRECAUTIONS FOR KEY REGISTRATION

- The key registration is a procedure that erases the current IVIS (NATS) ID once, and then re register a new ID operation. Therefore the registered Intelligent Key is necessary for this procedure. Before starting the registration operation collect all registered Intelligent Key from the customer
- When registering the Intelligent Key, 2 registration procedures [IVIS (NATS) ID registration and Intelligent Key ID registration] should be performed. The IVIS (NATS) ID registration is the procedure that registers the ID stored into the transponder (integrated into Intelligent Key) to the BCM. The Intelligent Key ID registration is the procedure that registers the ID to the Intelligent Key unit. Each registration procedure should be done separated.
- When performing the Intelligent Key system registration only, the engine cannot be started by inserting the key into the key slot. When performing the IVIS (NATS) registration only, the engine cannot be started by the operation when carrying the key. The registrations of both systems should be performed.

#### SECURITY INDICATOR

- Warn the outside that the vehicle is the model with IVIS (NATS).
- The security indicator always blinks when the Intelligent Key is removed from the key slot and when the ignition switch is in LOCK position.

#### NOTE:

Because security indicator is highly efficient, the battery is barely affected.

#### **Operation Description**

INFOID:000000004159447

#### SYSTEM DIAGRAM



#### OPERATION WHEN INSERTING TO KEY SLOT

- 1. When inserting the Intelligent Key (with transponder) into the key slot, the key switch in the key slot turns ON, and then it is detected that the Intelligent Key is inserted.
- When pressing the push-button ignition switch at that time, BCM starts the IVIS (NATS) antenna amplifier integrated with the key slot and starts the IVIS (NATS) ID communication with the transponder integrated with the Intelligent Key.
- 3. BCM sends the IVIS (NATS) ID verification result to ECM via CAN communication and performs the ID verification.
- 4. If the IVIS (NATS) ID verification result is OK, BCM sends the key ID verification OK signal to Intelligent Key unit via CAN communication line.
- 5. The Intelligent Key unit sends the steering unlock signal to the steering lock unit when receiving the signal. Then, it sends each power supply request signal to PDU (Power Distribution Unit) after unlocking the steering lock.

Revision: 2009 Novemver

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- 6. If the Intelligent Key unit judges that the engine start condition is satisfied, it sends the starter request signal via CAN communication to IPDM E/R and turns the starter motor relay ON.
- 7. The steering lock unit unlocks the latch when receiving the signal. PDU starts the power distribution according to the power supply position when receiving the signal.

#### NOTE:

If it is not in the engine start condition<sup>\*</sup>, the starter motor relay is turned OFF. Therefore, the engine cannot be started and the power distributions of ACC, ON, and LOCK are performed only according to the push-button ignition switch operation.

\*. For the engine start condition, refer to "PUSH-BUTTON IGNITION SWITCH OPERATION PROCEDURE".

#### **OPERATION WHEN INTELLIGENT KEY IS CARRIED**

By carrying the Intelligent Key, the engine start/stop operation can be performed only when pushing the pushbutton ignition switch.

For the details of the function, refer to <u>BL-115</u>.

#### PUSH-BUTTON IGNITION SWITCH OPERATION PROCEDURE

The power supply position changing operation can be performed with the following operation. **NOTE:** 

- When an Intelligent Key is carried and when it is inserted to the key slot, the following operation is the same.
- When starting the engine, the Intelligent Key unit monitors the engine start conditions (brake pedal operation, A/T selector lever position, vehicle speed, and steering lock condition).
- Unless each start condition is fulfilled, the engine will not response regardless of how many times the pushbutton ignition switch is pushed. At that time, illumination repeats the position in the order of LOCK → ACC → ON → LOCK.

Power cupply position	Engine start/	stop condition	Engine switch operation fre-	Н
Power supply position	Brake pedal	A/T selector lever position	quency	
$LOCK \rightarrow ACC$	Not depressed (When A/T selector lever is in any position other than P or N, there will be no effect even if it is depressed.)	Any position other than P or N (When the brake pedal is not depressed, there will be no ef- fect even if the A/T selector le- ver is in P or N position.)	1	BL
$LOCK\toACC\toON$	Not depressed (When A/T selector lever is in any position other than P or N, there will be no effect even if it is depressed.)	Any position other than P or N (When the brake pedal is not depressed, there will be no ef- fect even if the A/T selector le- ver is in P or N position.)	2	K
$LOCK\toACC\toON\toLOCK$	Not depressed (When A/T selector lever is in any position other than P or N, there will be no effect even if it is depressed.)	Any position other than P or N (When the brake pedal is not depressed, there will be no ef- fect even if the A/T selector le- ver is in P or N position.)	3	L
LOCK $\rightarrow$ START ACC $\rightarrow$ START ON $\rightarrow$ START (Engine start)	Depressed	P or N position (*1)	1 [If the switch is pushed once, the engine starts from any pow- er supply position (LOCK, ACC, and ON)]	M
Engine start condition $\rightarrow$ LOCK (Engine stop)	_	P position	1	
Engine start condition $\rightarrow$ ACC (Engine stop)	_	Any position other than P (*2)	1	0
Engine stall return operation while driving	_	N position	1	Ρ

\*1: When the A/T selector lever position is N position, the engine start condition is different according to the vehicle speed.

• At vehicle speed of 5 km/h or less, the engine can start only when the brake pedal is depressed.

• At vehicle speed of 5 km/h or more, the engine can start even if the brake pedal is not depressed. (It is the same as "Engine stall return operation while driving".)

\*2: When the A/T selector lever position is in any position other than P position and when the vehicle speed is 5 km/h or more, the engine stop condition is different.



А

В

Е

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- Press and hold the push-button ignition switch for 2 seconds or more. (When the push-button ignition switch is pressed for too short a time, the operation may be invalid, so properly press and hold to prevent the incorrect operation.)
- Press the push-button ignition switch 3 times within 1.5 seconds. (Emergency stop operation)

## ECM Re-Communicating Function

INFOID:000000004159448

Performing following procedure can automatically perform re-communication of ECM and BCM or Intelligent Key unit, but only when the ECM has been replaced with a new one (\*1).

\*1: New one means a virgin ECM which has never been energized on-board.

(In this step, initialization procedure by CONSULT-III is not necessary)

#### NOTE:

- When registering new Key IDs or replacing the ECM other than brand new, refer to CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.
- If multiple keys are attached to the key holder, separate them before work.
- Distinguish keys with unregistered key ID from those with registered ID.
- 1. Install ECM.
- Insert the registered Intelligent Key (\*2), turn ignition switch to "ON".
   \*2: To perform this step, use the key that has been used before performing ECM replacement.
- 3. Maintain ignition switch in "ON" position for at least 5 seconds.
- 4. Turn ignition switch to "OFF".
- 5. Start engine.

If engine can be started, procedure is completed.

If engine cannot be started, refer to CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS and initialize control unit.

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

## Schematic



# IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS) < SERVICE INFORMATION >





# IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS) < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT2031E

## IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS) < SERVICE INFORMATION >



## IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS) < SERVICE INFORMATION >



TIWT3153E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Р

## IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS) < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **BL-NATS-06** : DATA LINE **VQ**: WITH VQ ENGINE INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT **VK**: WITH VK ENGINE (M32) 5A: WITH 5-SPEED AUTOMATIC TRANSMISSION SHIFT N/P 28 (7A): WITH 7-SPEED AUTOMATIC TRANSMISSION SB \*1 2: VQ 1 : VK TO AT-MMSW 🗬 R/B R/B (M72) (45H) (F102) PRECEDING PAGE ► ■ GR/R ■ ★1 ■ GR/R ■ 7A**>**O= 5A (F1): (VQ) (E10): (VQ) F68 : VK E73 : VK **A** W/R GR/R GR/R GR/F 9 9 9 ļ 90 STARTER RELAY IPDM E/R (INTELLIGENT POWER G Ĩ (F521) 8 TCM (TRANSMISSION CONTROL MODULE) DISTRIBUTION MODULE ENGINE ROOM) START -RLY STAR RLY TCM (TRANSMISSION CONTROL STARTER CPU E4, E9 MODULE) (F502) CAN-H CAN-L 49 50 3 A/T ASSEMBLY A/T ASSEMBLY (F42): (7A) (F42): (5A) B/Y 8 TO SC-START B/Y \_\_\_\_L∎62P PRECEDING PAGE (M66) (B418) (B437) (B67) ■\_\_\_\_\_ P ■63P ■ P \_\_\_\_\_\_ P REFER TO THE FOLLOWING. (B418), (F102) -SUPER MULTIPLE JUNCTION (SMJ) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 (M32 3 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 25 26 27 ¢, 4 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 (F1) GR E4 W F42 G (E9) 1 678910 6 10 W 1 2 3 4 5 6 **—** 7 8 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 (B3), (B437) W BB (F521) (F68) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (F502) 10 9 16 8. GB

TIWT3155E

\*: THIS CONNECTOR IS NOT SHOWN IN "HARNESS LAYOUT", PG SECTION

## IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS) < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Ρ

#### **IVIS (INFINITI VEHICLE IMMOBILIZER SYSTEM-NATS)** < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### IGNITION SWITCH ON OR START (via PDU) BATTERY REFER TO PG-POWER & PDU. FUSE BLOCK (J/B) ð ð 10A 14 10A 19 (M4) 8A 5A w/G BR TO BL-NATS-01 W/G W/G w/G 54 53 UNIFIED METER AND A/C AMP. IGN BATT RX (COMB METER) TX (COMB METER) GND (POWER) (M64), (M65) GND 55 71 27 В В G R 15 W/G BR 23 16 Ŧ BUZZER KEY COMBINATION METER (M52) UNIFIED METER CONTROL UNIT (WITH DOT MATRIX LCD) 9 11 10 В В R В B M70 (M16) REFER TO THE FOLLOWING. M4 -FUSE BLOCK-JUNCTION BOX (J/B) 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 23 22 21 20 19 18 17 16 15 14 13 12 (M52) W $\square$ / 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 5 (M64) W (M65) W 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72

**BL-NATS-08** 

TIWT3157E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## Terminal and Reference Value for Intelligent Key Unit

INFOID:000000004159451

А

					Condition		-		
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	B		
1	SB	Power source (fuse)	Input	—		Battery voltage	_		
3	v	IPDM E/R current sig-	Input	START	At starter motor cranking	5	_ D		
5		nal	mput	LOCK	Any condition other than above	2			
8	W	Push-button ignition	Output	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK position	0	E		
		switch LOCK indicator	Output	_	Power supply position is in any po- sition other than LOCK	1.2			
9		Push-button ignition	Output	ACC	Power supply position is in ACC position	0	F		
		switch ACC indicator	Output	_	Power supply position is in any po- sition other than ACC	1.2	_ G		
10	V	Push-button ignition	Output	ON	Power supply position is in ON po- sition	0			
10	v	switch ON indicator	switch ON indicator	switch ON indicator	Output		Power supply position is in any po- sition other than ON	1.2	Н
40	10/5		Output		Driver door is opened under the condition that the Intelligent Key is inserted into the key slot	$0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$	BL		
13	LG/B	Key slot illumination		LOCK	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot (when key slot illumination is turned off)	0	J		
15	LG	Steering lock unit pow- er source	Output	LOCK	_	Battery voltage	_		
		Steering lock unit sig-	Innut/	LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	K		
16	P/B	nal	Output	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock (Unlocked moment)	0	_		
10	BR/V	Key switch	Input	IOCK	Intelligent Key is inserted into key slot	Battery voltage	- L		
15	DIN/1	Ney Switch	input	LOOK	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot	0	M		
20	В	Ground				0	_		
		Control device (Deten-		LOCK	A/T selector lever is in P position	0	N		
27	V	tion switch)	Input	ON	A/T selector lever is in any position other than P	Battery voltage			
				ON	A/T selector lever is in N or P position	Battery voltage	0		
28	SB	Starter relay	Input	_	Power supply position is in LOCK position or A/T selector lever is in any position other than N or P po- sition	0	P		
20	\//P	Stop Jamp switch	Innut		Brake pedal depressed	Battery voltage			
23	V/IX		input		Brake pedal released	0			
30	L/W	Ignition power supply (ACC)	Input	ACC	Power supply position is in ACC position	Battery voltage			

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

					Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
31	GR	Ignition power supply (ON)	Input	ON	Power supply position is in ON po- sition	Battery voltage
22	0	<b>DDLL signal</b>	Incut	LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0
33	0	PD0 signal	input	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	8
34	R	PDU feed back signal	Input	LOCK	At wake-up (Open driver door)	0
35	LG	Vehicle speed signal	Input	ON	At speedometer operation (vehicle speed approx. 40 km/h)	(V) 15 10 5 0 • • • 20ms PKIA1935E
37	Ρ	CAN L	Input/ Output	—	_	_
38	L	CAN H	Input/ Output	—	_	_
39	BR/W	Push-button ignition	Input	_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed	0
		SWITCH			Push-button ignition switch is re- leased	Battery voltage
40	В	Ground	—	_	—	0
41	Y	Power source (fuse)	Input	_	_	Battery voltage
42	Ρ	PDU wake up signal	Output	LOCK	At sleep (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the con- dition that the power supply posi- tion is in the LOCK position)	Battery voltage
				—	At wake-up (Open driver door)	0
43	G	Starter signal	Output	ON	At starter motor cranking	0
				—	Other than above	Battery voltage
46	V	PDU signal	Output	—	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage
				LOCK	Steering lock: Unlocked moment	0
56	В	Ground		_	_	0
57	L	Power source (fuse)	Input			Battery voltage
58	0	Control device (Deten- tion switch)	Input	LOCK	At sleep (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the con- dition that the power supply posi- tion is in the LOCK position)	0
				—	At wake-up (Open driver door)	Battery voltage
63	P	Stop Jamp switch	Innut	_	Brake pedal depressed	Battery voltage
			mput		Brake pedal released	Battery voltage
					Push-button ignition switch illumi- nation is turned on	2.6
64	L/R	Push-button ignition switch illumination	Output	_	Push-button ignition switch illumi- nation is turned off (15 seconds or more after the driv- er door is closed)	0

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

	Termi- nal Wire Item No. Color				Condition		
Termi- nal No.			Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	B
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0	-
69	69 O Steering lock unit con-	Input	ACC Steering look: Uplook	Battery voltage	С		
			ON	ON ON	Battery voltage	-	
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	-
70	L/Y	Steering lock unit con- dition signal-2	Input	ACC		0	- D
				ON	Steering lock. Onlock	0	-
71	IG	PDI L signal	Output	LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	E
71	10	F DO SIGNAL	Output	ACC	Steering lock: Unlocked moment	0	-
72	В	Ground	—	—	_	0	

## Terminal and Reference Value for Steering Lock Unit

					Condition		G									
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Push-but- ton ignition switch posi- tion	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)	Н									
1	GR	PDU signal	Input/ Output	LOCK	Press push-button ignition switch with Intelligent Key in- side vehicle	$0 \rightarrow$ Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$ (Battery voltage is detected when pressing the push-button ignition switch)	BL									
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	0	J									
3 O Condition signal	Condition signal-1	Input	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	Battery voltage											
			ON	Steering lock. Onlock	Battery voltage											
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage	K									
4	P/B	Intelligent Key unit signal	Input	ACC	Stooring lock: Unlock	0										
		3		ON	Steering lock. Onlock	0	L									
5	В	Ground		_	—	0										
6	В	Ground	_	_	_	0										
7	LG	Power source	Input	_	_	Battery voltage	M									
				LOCK	Steering lock: Lock	Battery voltage										
8	L/Y	Condition signal-2	Input	ACC	Steering lock: Unlock	0	N									
													ON	Oleening lock. Onlock	0	1.4

0

INFOID:000000004159452

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## Terminal and Reference Value for BCM

INFOID:000000004159453

					Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Wire color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Push-but- ton igni- tion switch po- sition	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
21	GR	NATS antenna amp. (Built-in key slot)	Input/ Output	LOCK	Ignition switch is pressed while inserting the Intelligent Key into the key slot	Just after pressing ignition switch. Pointer of tester should move
23	W/V	Security indicator	Output	LOCK	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot and power sup- ply position is in LOCK posi- tion	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0$ (Every 2.4 seconds)
25	W/R	NATS antenna amp. (Built-in key slot)	Input/ Output	LOCK	Ignition switch is pressed while inserting the Intelligent Key into the key slot	Just after pressing ignition switch. Pointer of tester should move
37		Key slot	Innut	LOCK	Intelligent Key is removed from key slot	0
57	LG	(Key switch signal)	input	LOCK	Intelligent Key is inserted into key slot	Battery voltage
38	W	Ignition power sup- ply (ON or START)	Input	ON	Power supply position is in ON position	Battery voltage
39	L	CAN H	Input/ Output	_	_	_
40	Р	CAN L	Input/ Output	—	_	_
42	Р	Power source (fuse)	Input	—	_	Battery voltage
52	В	Ground	—	—	—	0
55	W	Power source (Fus- ible link)	Input	_	_	Battery voltage

## Terminal and Reference Value for IPDM E/R

INFOID:000000004159454

			Signal		Condition	
Termi- nal No.	Termi- Wire Item nal No. Color		Input/ Output	Push-button ignition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
1	\\//P	Starter motor power	Output	LOCK		0
4	4 W/K supply	supply	Output	START	Starter motor is activating	Battery voltage
49	L	CAN H	Input/ Output	—	_	—
50	Р	CAN L	Input/ Output	_	_	—
53	GP/P	A/T Shift position sig-	Input	ON	A/T shift position is P/ N position	Battery voltage
53 GR/R		nal	input	LOCK	Other than above	0

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## Terminal and Reference Value for PDU

INFOID:000000004159455

А

					Condition			
Ter- minal No.	Wire color	Item	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)		
1	Ρ	Wake up signal	Input	LOCK	Sleep condition (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the power supply posi- tion is in the LOCK position)	Battery voltage		
				_	Wake-up condition (Open driver door)	0		
0	0	0	1	ON	At starter motor cranking	0		
2	G	Starter control signal	Input	_	Any condition other than above	Battery voltage		
3	GR	Steering lock unit power source	Output	LOCK	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that In- telligent Key is in the vehicle or Intel- ligent Key is inserted	$0 \rightarrow Battery \ voltage \rightarrow 0$		
				_	Any condition other than above	0		
		Steering lock control signal-1	Steering lock control	Steering lock control		_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that In- telligent Key is in the vehicle or Intel- ligent Key is inserted	Battery voltage
6	V		Input	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK position (Steering lock activated)	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0 \rightarrow$ Battery voltage (Battery voltage is detected when activating the steering lock)		
		Staaring look aantrol		_	Push-button ignition switch is pressed under the condition that In- telligent Key is in the vehicle or Intel- ligent Key is inserted	Battery voltage		
7	LG	signal-2	Input	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK position (Steering lock activated)	Battery voltage $\rightarrow 0 \rightarrow$ Battery voltage (Battery voltage is detected when activating the steering lock)		
		Otenning leads (and			Power supply position is in ACC or ON position	0		
9	0	Steering lock feed back signal	Input	LOCK	Power supply position is in LOCK position	$0 \rightarrow 8 \rightarrow 0$ (0V is detected when activating the steering lock)		
10	В	Ground	—	-	—	0		
11	v	IPDM E/R current	Innut	START	At starter motor cranking	5		
11	1	signal	input	LOCK	Any condition other than above	2		
12	R	Feed back signal	Input	LOCK	Sleep condition (30 seconds or more after all doors are closed under the condition that the power supply posi- tion is in the LOCK position)	1		
				_	Wake-up condition (any condition other than above)	0		
13	R	Starter relay	Outout	START	At starter motor cranking	Battery voltage		
.0			Caiput		Any condition other than above	4		

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Ter- minal No.	Wire color	ltem	Signal Input/ Output	Push- button ig- nition switch position	Operation or conditions	Voltage (V) (Approx.)
14	SB	Power source (fuse)	Input	—	_	Battery voltage
15	L	Power source (fus- ible link)	Input	_	_	Battery voltage
17	G	Power source (fus- ible link)	Input	—	_	Battery voltage

## CONSULT-III Functions (ECM)

INFOID:000000004159456

#### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS ITEM CHART

Suspect Systems	Description	Possible malfunction	Action to take/Reference page	
LOCK MODE [P1610]	The immobilizer switches to the mode that prevents the engine from being started. If the ID ver- ification between BCM and ECM is NG, the ID verification malfunction between remote control starter and BCM may be detected 5 times or more.	_	BL-246	
ID DISCORD, IMM-ECM	P1611 has the same meaning	Registration of ECM is not completed.	BL-245	
	as bz 192.	ECM malfunction	Replace ECM.	
		Short circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM to power supply line.		
CHAIN OF ECM-IMMU	P1612 has the same meaning	Open circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM.	BL-244	
[F 1012]	d5 D2 193.	Short circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM to ground.	-	
		ECM malfunction		
CHAIN OF IMMU-KEY	Inactive communication be- tween key slot.	Short circuit in harness.	BL-246	
[P1614]	BCM Malfunction	BCM malfunction	<u>BCS-14</u>	

## CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)

INFOID:000000004159457

#### CONSULT-III can display each diagnostic item using the diagnostic test modes as shown below.

Part to be diagnosed	Test item, Diagnosis mode	Description	
	SELF-DIAG RESULTS	Intelligent Key unit performs CAN communication diagnosis.	
IMMU	DATA MONITOR	Displays Intelligent Key unit input data in real time.	
	ACTIVE TEST	Operation of electrical loads can be checked by sending driving signal to then.	

#### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS ITEM CHART

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Suspect Systems	Description	Possible malfunction	Action to take/Reference page
NO DTC	NO DTC	—	_
ID DISCORD BCM-ECM	The ID verification results be- tween BCM and ECM are NG.	Registration of ECM is not com- pleted.	<u>BL-245</u>
	The registration is necessary.	ECM malfunction	Replace ECM.
CHAIN OF BCM-ECM [B2193]	Inactive communication be- tween ECM and BCM.	Short circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM to power supply line.	<u>BL-244</u>
		Open circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM.	
		Short circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM to ground.	
		ECM malfunction	Replace ECM.
DISCORD IMMU-I-KEY [B2194]	B2194 has the same meaning as B2590.	Short circuit in communication line between BCM and Intelli- gent Key unit to power supply line.	BL-245.
		Short circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM to ground.	
		Intelligent Key unit malfunction	<u>BL-113</u>

#### DATA MONITOR

Monitor item	Content	BL
IGN ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of ignition switch.	
KEY ON SW	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of key switch.	
ENGINE START	Indicates [ON/OFF] condition of push-button ignition switch.	J

#### ACTIVE TEST

		K
Test item	Description	
THEFT IND	This test is able to check security indicator lamp operation. The lamp will be turned on when "ON" on CONSULT-III screen is touched.	L

## CONSULT-III Functions (INTELLIGENT KEY)

#### SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS ITEM CHART

Suspect Systems	Description	Possible malfunction	Action to take/Reference page	
NO DTC	NO DTC	—	_	N
DISCORD BCM-I-KEY [B2590]	The ID verification results be-	Short circuit in communication line between BCM and Intelli- gent Key unit to power supply line.	<u>BL-245</u> .	0
	tween Intelligent Key unit and BCM are NG.	Short circuit in communication line between BCM and ECM to ground.		Ρ
		BCM malfunction	BCS-14	

## Work Flow

INFOID:000000004159459

INFOID:000000004159458

Μ

## 1.CHECK IN

Listen to customer complaints or request (Get symptoms).

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### NOTE:

In rare case, "CHAIN of ECM-IMMU" might be stored as a self-diagnostic result during key registration procedure, even if the system is not malfunction.

malfunction>> GO TO 2.

Key service request>>Perform Initialization. Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

2.START ENGINE WITH INTELLIGENT KEY

Check if the engine could be started by all registered Intelligent Keys.

Is the inspection result normal?

The engine can be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 3.

The engine cannot be started by some Intelligent Keys>> Perform Initialization. Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

The engine cannot be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 4.

3.START ENGINE WITH INTELLIGENT KEY INTO KEY SLOT

Check if the engine could be started by all Intelligent Keys into key slot.

Is the inspection result normal?

The engine can be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 5.

The engine cannot be started by some Intelligent Keys>> Perform Initialization. Refer to CONSULT-III operation manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS.

The engine cannot be started by all Intelligent Keys>> GO TO 4.

**4.**CHECK "KEY" WARNING LAMP ILLUMINATION

1. Intelligent key into key slot.

2. When pushing the push-button ignition switch, check if "KEY" warning lamp in combination meter illuminates.

Does "KEY" warning lamp illuminate?

YES >> GO TO 7.

NO >> Check function of intelligent key system. Refer to <u>BL-44. "System Description"</u>

**5.**CHECK SECURITY INDICATOR LIGHTING

Check security indicator lights up when ignition switch is in ON position.

Does security indicator illuminate?

YES >> GO TO 7. NO >> GO TO 6.

6.CHECK SECURITY INDICATOR OPERATION

Check security indicator blinks when ignition switch is in OFF position.

Is the inspection result normal?

YES >> GO TO 7.

NO >> Repair security indicator. Refer to <u>BL-243. "Symptom Chart for Security Indicator"</u>.

**1**.INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT SELF DIAGNOSIS

Perform Intelligent Key unit SELF-DIAGNOSIS using CONSULT-III.

Is DTC displayed?

YES >> GO TO 8.

NO >> GO TO 9.

8. PERFORM INTELLIGENT KEY UNIT TROUBLE DIAGNOSIS

Check Intelligent Key unit self-diagnostic results item chart. Refer to <u>BL-241, "CONSULT-III Functions (INTEL-LIGENT KEY)"</u>.

Is the inspection result normal?

YES >> GO TO 7.

NO >> Perform intelligent key trouble diagnosis again.

**9.**BCM SELF DIAGNOSIS

< SERVICE INFORMATION >	
Perform BCM SELF-DIAGNOSIS using CONSULT-III.	Λ
$\frac{15 \text{ DTC displayed?}}{15 \text{ CO TO 10}}$	T
NO >> GO TO 11.	
10. PERFORM BCM TROUBLE DIAGNOSIS	E
Check BCM self-diagnostic results item chart. Refer to	BL-240. "CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)".
Is the inspection result normal?	<u>_</u>
YES >> GO TO 9.	
11.ECM SELF DIAGNOSIS	Г
Perform ECM SELE-DIAGNOSIS using CONSULT-III	
Is DTC displayed?	
P1610-P1615 is displayed>> GO TO 12.	E
No DTC is displayed>> GO TO 2.	
Another code different from (P1610-P1615) is displaye	ed.>> Go to EC section.
12.PERFORM ECM TROUBLE DIAGNOSIS	1
Check ECM self-diagnostic results item chart. Refer to	BL-240, "CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)".
Is the inspection result normal?	G
YES >> GO TO 11.	
NO >> Perform ECM trouble diagnosis again.	
Symptom Chart for Security Indicator	INFOID:000000004159460
<ul> <li>CAUTION:</li> <li>Follow Trouble Diagnosis Flowchart referring to before performing this diagnosis.</li> <li>Make sure that vehicle is under the condition sho nosis.</li> <li>Check systems shown in the "Action" column in the terminal systems and the terminal systems are shown in the terminal systems and the terminal systems are systems are systems and terminal systems are systems are systems.</li> </ul>	"Work Flow". Determine malfunctioning condition wn in "Conditions of vehicle" before starting diag-
CONDITIONS OF VEHICLE (OPERATING CONDI • Intelligent Key is not inserted into key slot.	TIONS)
<ul> <li>Engine switch is not depressed.</li> </ul>	
Action	Reference page
1. Check security indicator harness	<u>BL-243</u>
2. Replace BCM	BCS-14
Check Security Indicator Harness	INFOID:00000004159461
<b>1.</b> SECURITY INDICATOR LAMP ACTIVE TEST	Ν
With CONSULT-III     Check ("THEFT IND") in "ACTIVE TEST" mode with CO	DNSULT-III.
Perform operation shown on display indicate should illuminate.	or lamp
OK or NG	F
OK >> Security indicator lamp is OK. NG >> GO TO 2.	
2. CHECK HARNESS CONTINUITY	
1. Turn ignition switch OFF.	

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

3. Check voltage between multifunction switch (security indicator) connector and ground.

(+	-)		Voltage (V)
Multifunction switch (security indicator) Terminal connector		()	(Approx.)
M69	1	Ground	Battery voltage



#### <u>OK or NG</u>

OK >> Check the following.

- Harness for open or short between BCM and multifunction switch (security indicator)
- Security indicator lamp condition
- NG >> Check the following.
  - 15A fuse [No.37, located in fuse block (J/B)]
  - · Harness for open or short between multifunction switch (security indicator) and fuse

### B2193 CHAIN OF BCM-ECM

INFOID:000000004159462

Self-diagnostic results:

"CHAIN OF BCM-ECM" displayed on CONSULT-III screen

First perform the "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" in "BCM" with CONSULT-III, then perform the trouble diagnosis of malfunction system indicated "SELF-DIAG RESULTS" of "BCM". Refer to <u>BL-240, "CONSULT-</u> <u>III Functions (BCM-IMMU)"</u>.

**1.**CONFIRM SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

Confirm SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS "CHAIN OF BCM-ECM" displayed on CONSULT-III screen.

In rare case, "CHAIN OF BCM-ECM" might be stored during key registration procedure, even if the system is not malfunctioning.

Is CONSULT-III screen displayed?

Yes >> GO TO 2.

No >> Refer to <u>BL-240, "CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)"</u>.

2. CHECK POWER SUPPLY CIRCUIT FOR BCM



#### <u>OK or NG</u>

NG

OK >> GO TO 3.

>> Check the following.

- 50A fusible link (letter F, located in the fuse and fusible link box)
- 10A fuse [No.21, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- 15A fuse [No. 1, located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- Harness for open or short between fusible link and BCM
- Harness for open or short between fuse and BCM

 ${\bf 3.}$  Check ground circuit for BCM

- 1. Turn ignition switch OFF.
- 2. Disconnect BCM connector.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

3. Check continuity between BCM connector and ground. E ( ( CFF А BCM connector Terminal Continuity Ground M2 52 Yes В OK or NG >> GO TO 4. OK NG >> Repair or replace harness. PIIB5935E D **4.**REPLACE BCM **Replace BCM** 1. Perform initialization with CONSULT-III. 2. For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS". Does the engine start? Yes >> BCM is malfunctioning. Replace BCM. Perform initialization with CONSULT-III For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS" No >> ECM is malfunctioning. · Replace ECM. Perform initialization or re-communicating function For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS" Н For re-communicating function, refer to BL-224, "ECM Re-Communicating Function" B2192 ID DISCORD, BCM-ECM INFOID:000000004159463 ΒL Self-diagnostic results: "ID DISCORD, BCM-ECM" displayed on CONSULT-III screen 1.CONFIRM SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS Confirm SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS "ID DISCORD BCM-ECM" displayed on CONSULT-III screen. NOTE: "ID DISCORD IMM-ECM": Κ Registered ID of BCM is in discord with that of ECM. Is CONSULT-III screen displayed? Yes >> GO TO 2. L No >> Refer to <u>BL-240, "CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)"</u>. 2.PERFORM INITIALIZATION WITH CONSULT-III M Perform initialization with CONSULT-III. Re-register all NATS ignition key IDs. For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS". NOTE: If the initialization is not completed or malfunctions, CONSULT-III shows message on the screen. Ν Can the system be initialized? Yes >> • Start engine. (END) (System initialization had not been completed.) No >> ECM is malfunctioning. • Replace ECM. Perform initialization with CONSULT-III Ρ For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS" B2590 DISCORD BCM-I-KEY INFOID:000000004159464 Self-diagnostic results: "DISCORD, BCM-I-KEY" displayed on CONSULT-III screen **1.**PERFORM INITIALIZATION

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Perform initialization with CONSULT-III. Refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS". Can the system be initialized and can the engine be started with re-registered mechanical key?

YES >> ID was unregistered. NO

- >> BCM is malfunctioning.
  - Replace BCM
  - Perform initialization again

P1610 LOCK MODE

INFOID:000000004159465

#### Self-diagnostic results: "LOCK MODE" displayed on CONSULT-III screen

1 CONFIRM SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

Confirm SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS "LOCK MODE" is displayed on CONSULT-III screen.

Is CONSULT-III screen displayed?

Yes >> GO TO 2.

>> Refer to BL-240, "CONSULT-III Functions (BCM-IMMU)". No

2.ESCAPE FROM LOCK MODE

- Turn ignition switch OFF. 1.
- Turn ignition switch ON with registered key. (Do not start engine.) Wait 5 seconds. 2.
- Return the key to OFF position. Wait 5 seconds. 3.
- Repeat steps 2 and 3 twice (total of three cycles). 4.
- 5. Start the engine.

#### Does engine start?

Yes >> System is OK (Now system is escaped from "LOCK MODE").

No >> GO TO 3.

3.perform initialization with consult-iii

Perform initialization with CONSULT-III.

For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS".

NOTE:

If the initialization is not completed or malfunctions, CONSULT-III shows the message on the screen.

Can the system be initialized?

Yes >> System is OK.

>> GO TO 4. No

**4.**PERFORM INITIALIZATION WITH CONSULT-III AGAIN

1. Replace BCM.

Perform initialization with CONSULT-III. 2

For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS".

#### NOTE:

No

If the initialization is not completed or malfunctions, CONSULT-III shows the message on the screen.

Can the system be initialized?

- >> System is OK. (BCM is malfunctioning.) Yes
  - >> ECM is malfunctioning.
    - Replace ECM.
    - Perform initialization with CONSULT-III
    - For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS"

#### P1614 CHAIN OF IMMU-KEY

INFOID:000000004159466

#### Self-diagnostic results: "CHAIN OF IMMU-KEY" displayed on CONSULT-III screen

1.CONFIRM SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS

Confirm SELF-DIAGNOSTIC RESULTS "CHAIN OF IMMU-KEY" displayed on CONSULT-III screen. Is CONSULT-III screen displayed?

>> GO TO 2. Yes

No >> Refer to <u>BL-240, "CONSULT-III Functions (ECM)"</u> .	
2. CHECK KEY SLOT. INSTALLATION	A
Check key slot. installation. Refer to <u>BL-248, "Removal and Installation of Key Slot"</u> .	
OK or NG	В
OK >> GO TO 3.	
NG >> Reinstall NATS antenna amp. correctly.	
3. CHECK MECHANICAL KEY ID CHIP	С
Start engine with another registered.	
Does the engine start?	
<ul> <li>Yes &gt;&gt; Ignition key ID chip is malfunctioning.</li> <li>Replace the mechanical key</li> <li>Perform initialization with CONSULT-III</li> <li>For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NV/IS"</li> </ul>	E
No $>>$ GO TO 4. 4 CHECK POWER SUPPLY FOR KEY SLOT	L

1. Turn ignition switch "OFF".

2. Check voltage between key slot. connector and ground.

Key slot	Terr	Voltage (V)	
Rey Slot	(+)	(-)	(Approx.)
M14	1	Ground	Battery voltage

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 5. NG

>> Check the following Harness for open or short between fuse and key slot.



F

Н

J

Κ

L

Ν

Ρ

## 5. CHECK KEY SLOT SIGNAL LINE- 1

Check voltage between Key slot. connector and ground with analogue tester.

Key slot	Terminal		Conditions	Status of
	(+)	(-)	Conditions	Voltage and tester
			Before tuning igni- tion switch to ON	Approx. 0 V
M14	2	Ground	Right after tuning ignition switch to ON	Pointer of tester should move



#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 6.

NG >> • Check harness for open or short between Key slot and

BCM.

NOTE:

If harness is OK, replace BCM, perform initialization with CONSULT-III. For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/NVIS".

#### 6.CHECK KEY SLOT SIGNAL LINE- 2

Check voltage between KEY SLOT. connector and ground with analogue tester.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Key slot	Terminal		Conditions	Status of
	(+)	(—)	Conditions	Voltage and tester
			Before tuning igni- tion switch to ON	Approx. 0 V
M14	3	Ground	Right after tuning ignition switch to ON	Pointer of tester should move



#### OK or NG

NG

```
OK
      >> GO TO 7.
```

>> • Check harness for open or short between key slot and

BCM. NOTE:

If harness is OK, replace BCM, perform initialization with CONSULT-III. For initialization, refer to "CONSULT-III Operation Manual NATS-IVIS/EVIS".

## 7. CHECK KEY SLOT GROUND LINE CIRCUIT

- 1. Turn ignition switch "OFF".
- 2. Disconnect key slot connector.
- 3. Check continuity between key slot connector and ground.

Key slot	Terr	Continuity	
Ney Slot	(+) (-)		
M14	8	Ground	Yes

#### OK or NG

- OK >> Key slot is malfunctioning.Refer to <u>BL-248</u>, "Removal and Installation of Key Slot"
- NG >> Repair or replace key slot ground circuit.

## Removal and Installation of Key Slot

#### REMOVAL

- 1. Remove instrument driver lower panel. Refer to <u>IP-12</u>.
- 2. Disconnect key slot connector.
- 3. Remove key slot mounting screw, and then remove key slot.



**INSTALLATION** Installation is in the reverse order of removal.



PIIB65928

#### INTEGRATED HOMELINK TRANSMITTER

< SERVICE INFORMATION >

## INTEGRATED HOMELINK TRANSMITTER

Wiring Diagram - TRNSCV -



**Trouble Diagnosis** 

DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURE

(M187) B

SYMPTOM: Transmitter does not activate receiver.

2009 M35/M45

INFOID:000000004159469

А

INFOID:000000004159468

## INTEGRATED HOMELINK TRANSMITTER

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Before conducting the procedure given below, make sure that system receiver (garage door opener, etc.) operates with original, hand-held transmitter. If NG, receiver or hand-held transmitter is malfunctioning, not vehicle related.

## **1.**ILLUMINATE CHECK

- 1. Turn ignition switch "OFF".
- Does red light (1) of transmitter illuminate when any transmitter button (2) is pressed?

#### YES or NO

- YES >> GO TO 2.
- NO >> GO TO 3.



## 2.TRANSMITTER CHECK

Check transmitter with Tool\*.

\*: For details, refer to Technical Service Bulletin.

<u>OK or NG</u>

- OK >> Receiver or hand-held transmitter malfunction, not vehicle related.
- NG >> Replace auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (homelink universal transceiver).

### **3.**CHECK POWER SUPPLY

- 1. Disconnect auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (homelink universal transceiver) connector.
- 2. Check voltage between auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (home link universal transceiver) harness connector and ground.

(+)				
Auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (Homelink universal transceiver) connector	Auto anti-dazzling inside mirror Homelink universal transceiver) connector		Voltage (V) (Approx.)	
M187	10	Ground	Battery voltage	



E) 🖒

#### OK or NG

OK >> GO TO 4.

NG >> Check the following.

- 10A fuse [No. 19 located in the fuse block (J/B)]
- Harness for open or short between fuse and auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (homelink universal transceiver).

#### **4.**GROUND CIRCUIT CHECK

Check continuity between auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (homelink universal transceiver) harness connector and ground.

т			
Auto anti-dazzling inside mirror (Homelink universal transceiver) connector	Terminal	Ground	Continuity
M187	8		Yes



PIIB6279E

## INTEGRATED HOMELINK TRANSMITTER

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

OK	>> Replace auto anti-dazzling inside mirror	(homelink universal transceiver).
----	---	-----------------------------------

NG >> Repair harness.

ŀ	ł

ΒL

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

А

В

С

D

Е

F

G

Revision: 2009 Novemver

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

## BODY REPAIR

## Body Exterior Paint Color

INFOID:000000004159470





SIIA2451E

Component		Color code	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	BKH3	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA	
		Description	Blue	Beige	Brown- ish Gray	Black	Silver	Gray	Dark Gray	White	
		Component Paint type note		М	ТМ	ТМ	2S	М	М	PM	3P
		Anti scratch advanced paint	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
1	1 Bumper fascia		Body color	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	BKH3	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA
2	2 Front grille		Chromium plate	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P
3	Door out- side mirror	Cover	Body color	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	BKH3	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA
4	4 Side guard molding		Body color	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	BKH3	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA
5	5 Center mudguard		Body color	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	BKH3	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA
6	Door outside handle		Chromium plate	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P
			Body color	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	BKH3	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA
7	Trunk lid Mu finisher Fi	Molding	Chromium plate	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P	Cr2P
		Finisher	Body color	BB30	BHAA	BKAC	ВКНЗ	BK23	BK51	BK52	BQAA

NOTE:

- 2S: Solid + Clear
- M: Metallic
- P: 2-Coat pearl
- 3P: 3-Coat pearl
- FPM: Iron oxide pearl
- RPM: Multi flex color
- TPM: Titanium pearl metallic
- TM: Micro titanium metallic
- PM: Pearl metallic
# **Body Component Parts**

А

В

С

D

Ε

F

G

Н

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

## UNDERBODY COMPONENT PARTS



- 1. Front strut housing
- 2. Upper front hoodledge
- 3. Upper rear hoodledge

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19. 20.

21.

22.

23.

24. 25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

- Hoodledge reinforcement Upper dash assembly Upper dash crossmember assembly Harness clamp bracket Cowl top Lower center dash crossmember reinforcement Lower dash crossmember reinforcement Lower dash crossmember assembly (LH) Lower dash crossmember (RH) Front crossmember center Steering column mounting reinforcement Lower dash Front floor center Front floor Inner sill Rear seat crossmember reinforcement assembly Front carpet bracket Rear floor front Rear floor seat belt anchor reinforcement Rear seat reclining device bracket Rear floor rear Differential mounting bracket assembly Rear floor side assembly Rear bumper side stay Front side member assembly Front side member front extension Front side member closing plate assembly Front side member front closing plate Front side member center closing plate Front suspension mounting bracket Front side member rear extension Front side member rear reinforcement Front side member outrigger assembly Rear seat crossmember 2ND rear crossmember Rear crossmember Rear side member assembly
- 41. Rear side member extension

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION > BODY COMPONENT PARTS



- 1. Hood
- 2. Front fender (RH&LH)
- 3. Side body assembly (RH&LH)
- 4. Outer front pillar reinforcement (RH&LH)
- 5. Center pillar reinforcement (RH&LH)

# < SERVICE INFORMATION ~

SERVI	CE INFORMATION >
6.	Outer roof side rail reinforcement (RH&LH)
7.	Outer sill reinforcement (RH&LH)
8.	Inner roof side rail (RH&LH)
9.	Inner center pillar (RH&LH)
10.	Front roof rail brace (RH&LH)
11.	Outer sill (RH&LH)
12.	Inner rear pillar assembly (RH&LH)
13.	Inner rear pillar rear (RH&LH)
14.	Inner rear pillar reinforcement (RH&LH)
15.	Outer rear wheelhouse (RH&LH)
16.	Outer rear wheelhouse extension (RH&LH)
17.	Inner rear wheelhouse (RH&LH)
18.	Side parcel shelf assembly (RH&LH)
19.	Seat back support (RH&LH)
20.	Parcel shelf assembly
21.	Rear waist
22.	Roof assembly
23.	Front roof rail
24.	Front roof bow
25.	Rear roof bow
26.	Rear roof rail
27.	Rear fender assembly (RH&LH)
28.	Rear fender extension (RH&LH)
29.	Rear bumper side bracket
30.	Fuel filler lid (RH)
31.	Rear panel assembly
32.	Upper rear bumper retainer
33.	Lower rear bumper retainer
34.	Front door assembly (RH&LH)
35.	Outer front door panel (RH&LH)
36.	Rear door assembly (RH&LH)
37.	Outer rear door panel (RH&LH)
38.	Trunk lid
39.	Front bumper reinforcement
40.	Rear bumper stay

41. Rear bumper reinforcement

## **Corrosion Protection**

#### DESCRIPTION

To provide improved corrosion prevention, the following anti-corrosive measures have been implemented in NISSAN production plants. When repairing or replacing body panels, it is necessary to use the same anti-corrosive measures.

Anti-corrosive Precoated Steel (Galvannealed Steel)

INFOID:000000004159472

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

To improve repairability and corrosion resistance, a new type of anticorrosive precoated steel sheet has been adopted replacing conventional zinc-coated steel sheet.

Galvannealed steel is electroplated and heated to form Zinc-iron alloy, which provides excellent and long term corrosion resistance with cationic electrodeposition primer.

Zn rich 7////////////////////////////////////	A
Steel sheet(Fe)	В
Zn rich Both sided precoated	С
SIIA2294E	

Nissan Genuine Service Parts are fabricated from galvannealed steel. Therefore, it is recommended that GENUINE NISSAN PARTS or equivalent be used for panel replacement to maintain the anti-corrosive performance built into the vehicle at the factory.

Phosphate Coating Treatment and Cationic Electrodeposition Primer

A phosphate coating treatment and a cationic electrodeposition primer, which provide excellent corrosion protection, are employed on all body components.

#### **CAUTION:**

Confine paint removal during welding operations to an absolute minimum.



Nissan Genuine Service Parts are also treated in the same manner. Therefore, it is recommended that GENU-INE NISSAN PARTS or equivalent be used for panel replacement to maintain anti-corrosive performance built into the vehicle at the factory.

#### UNDERCOATING

The underside of the floor and wheelhouse are undercoated to prevent rust, vibration, noise and stone chipping. Therefore, when such a panel is replaced or repaired, apply undercoating to that part. Use an undercoating which is rust preventive, soundproof, vibration-proof, shock-resistant, adhesive, and durable.

#### Precautions in Undercoating

- Do not apply undercoating to any place unless specified (such as the areas above the muffler and three way catalyst which are subjected to heat).
- 2. Do not undercoat the exhaust pipe or other parts which become hot.
- 3. Do not undercoat rotating parts.
- 4. Apply bitumen wax after applying undercoating.

Ν

Κ

Е

F

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### 5. After putting seal on the vehicle, put undercoating on it.

Indicates undercoated portions.
 Indicates sealed portions.



SIIA2735E

Body Sealing

INFOID:0000000004159473

DESCRIPTION

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

The following figure shows the areas which are sealed at the factory. Sealant which has been applied to these areas should be smooth and free from cuts or gaps. Care should be taken not to apply an excess amount of sealant and not to allow other unaffected parts to come into contact with the sealant.





SIIA2734E

А

В

С

D

Е

F

G

Н

ΒL

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



SIIA2456E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



SIIA2457E

Ρ

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

# **Body Construction**

INFOID:000000004159474

## BODY CONSTRUCTION



Section A-A	Section B-B	Section C-C	Section D-D
Section E-E	Section F-F	Section G-G	Section H-H
Section I-I	Section J-J	Section K-K	Section L-L

SIIA2458E

INFOID:000000004159475

# BODY CENTER MARKS

Body Alignment

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A mark has been placed on each part of the body to indicate the vehicle center. When repairing parts damaged by an accident which might affect the vehicle frame (members, pillars, etc.), more accurate and effective repair will be possible by using these marks together with body alignment specifications.



PANEL PARTS MATCHING MARKS

Ρ

А

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

A mark has been placed on each body panel to indicate the parts matching positions. When repairing parts damaged by an accident which might affect the vehicle structure (members, pillars, etc.), more accurate and effective repair will be possible by using these marks together with body alignment specifications.



SIIA2460E

#### DESCRIPTION

- All dimensions indicated in the figures are actual.
- When using a tracking gauge, adjust both pointers to equal length. Then check the pointers and gauge itself to make sure there is no free play.
- When a measuring tape is used, check to be sure there is no elongation, twisting or bending.
- Measurements should be taken at the center of the mounting holes.
- An asterisk (\*) following the value at the measuring point indicates that the measuring point on the other side is symmetrically the same value.
- The coordinates of the measurement points are the distances measured from the standard line of "X", "Y" and "Z".

## **BL-264**



ENGINE COMPARTMENT

BL

Н

F

G

J

Κ

L

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Measurement

Figures marked with a (\*) indicate symmetrically identical dimensions on both right and left hand sides of the vehicle.

2:2WD 4: AWD

Unit : mm



<b>OO</b>	2	886*	<b>%~</b> ©	567
<b>()~</b> (9)	4	888*	<b>K~</b> ©	607
(J)(b)	2	903	K~®	869
~	4	906	<b>K~</b> 0	911
<b>K~</b> B		738	<b>K~</b> F	1,005
<b>K~</b> b		796	<b>K~</b> (f)	1,028

SIIA2461E

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **Measurement Points**



#### UNDERBODY

SIIA2462E

Μ

Ν

Ο

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Measurement



SIIA2792E

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **Measurement Points**



PASSENGER COMPARTMENT

511A2793E

Ρ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### Measurement

Figures marked with a (\*) indicate symmetrically identical dimensions on both right and left hand sides of the vehicle.

Unit : mm



Point	Dimension	Point	Dimension	Point	Dimension
<b>E~</b> @	1,221	<b>K~</b> m	1,551*	@~@	923*
<b>E~</b> 9	1,722*	<b>K~</b> n	1,376*	Q~H	1,114*
<b>E~</b> h	1,322*	<b>K~</b> P	1,667*	<b>@~</b> ①	959*
<b>E~</b> (j)	1,566*	(∟~@	1,490	<b>@~</b> J	808*
<b>F~</b> (f)	1,446	L~0	1,642*	<b>®~</b> K	1,004*
<b>€~</b> (i)	1,673*	M~m	1,482	<b>®~</b> U	880*
G~9	1,491	<b>M~</b> n	1,680*	<b>₿~</b> ₪	797*
<b>G~</b> h	1,896*	<b>M~</b> P	1,576*	<b>®~N</b>	1,092*
<b>G~</b> (j)	1,715*	<b>N~</b> n	1,181	<b>®~</b> 0	937*
<b>H~</b> h	1,307	N~P	1,624*	<b>B~</b> P	780*
<b>H~</b> (j)	1,568*	<b>0~</b> 0	1,448	\$~U	1,193*
( <b>I</b> ~(i)	1,488	<b>P~P</b>	1,496	\$~V	1,186*
J~(j	1,495	@~E	1,043*	<b>T~U</b>	1,254*
(K)~(k)	1.304	<b>Q~</b> (F)	1.001*	(₸)~(♡)	1.164*

SIIA2465E

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### **Measurement Points**



## REAR BODY

#### Measurement

Dimensions marked with "\*" indicate symmetrically identical dimensions on both the right and left hand of the vehicle.



JSKIA0519GB

Unit: mm (in)

**Measurement Points** 



JSKIA0520ZZ

#### M

## C: Vehicle front

Point	Material	Point	Material	N
А	Roof flange end of center positioning mark	E, e	Rear fender corner extension joggle	
B, b	Rear fender joggle	F, f	Rear combination lamp base joggle	
С, с	Rear fender extension joggle	G	Upper rear panel flange end of center positioning mark	0
D	Rear waist flange end of center positioning mark			

## Handling Precaution for Plastics

## HANDLING PRECAUTIONS FOR PLASTICS

INFOID:000000004159476

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

Abbre- viation	Material name	Heatresisting temperature °C(°F)	Resistance to gasoline and solvents	Other cautions
PE	Polyethylene	60(140)	Gasoline and most solvents are harmless if applied for a very short time (wipe up quickly).	Flammable
PVC	Poly Vinyl Chloride	80(176)	Same as above.	Poison gas is emitted when burned.
EPM/ EPDM	Ethylene Propylene (Diene) co- polymer	80(176)	Same as above.	Flammable
TPO	Thermoplastic Olefine	80(176)	Same as above.	Flammable
PP	Polypropylene	90(194)	Same as above.	Flammable, avoid bat- tery acid.
UP	Unsaturated Polyester	90(194)	Same as above.	Flammable
PS	Polystyrene	80(176)	Avoid solvents.	Flammable
ABS	Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene	80(176)	Avoid gasoline and solvents.	
AES	Acrylonitrile Ethylene Styrene	80(176)	Same as above.	
PMMA	Poly Methyl Methacrylate	85(185)	Same as above.	
EVAC	Ethylene Vinyl Acetate	90(194)	Same as above.	
ASA	Acrylonitrile Styrene Acrylate	100(222)	Same as above.	Flammable
PPE	Poly Phenylene Ether	110(230)	Same as above.	
PC	Polycarbonate	120(248)	Same as above.	
PAR	Polyarylate	180(356)	Same as above.	
PUR	Polyurethane	90(194)	Same as above.	
POM	Poly Oxymethylene	120(248)	Same as above.	Avoid battery acid.
PBT+ PC	Poly Butylene Terephthalate + Polycarbonate	120(248)	Same as above.	Flammable
PA	Polyamide	140(284)	Same as above.	Avoid immersing in wa- ter.
PBT	Poly Butylene Terephthalate	140(284)	Same as above.	
PET	Polyester	180(356)	Same as above.	
PEI	Polyetherimide	200(392)	Same as above.	

1. When repairing and painting a portion of the body adjacent to plastic parts, consider their characteristics (influence of heat and solvent) and remove them if necessary or take suitable measures to protect them.

2. Plastic parts should be repaired and painted using methods suiting the materials' characteristics.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

#### LOCATION OF PLASTIC PARTS



SIIA2737E

Ρ

А



SIIA2470E

# Precaution in Repairing High Strength Steel

INFOID:000000004159477

High strength steel is used for body panels in order to reduce vehicle weight. Accordingly, precautions in repairing automotive bodies made of high strength steel are described below:

#### HIGH STRENGTH STEEL (HSS) USED IN NISSAN VEHICLES

Tensile strength	Nissan/Infiniti designation	Major applicable parts
373 N/mm <sup>2</sup> (38kg/mm <sup>2</sup> ,54klb/sq in)	SP130	<ul> <li>Front &amp; rear side member assembly</li> <li>Front side member closing plate assembly</li> <li>Front strut housing</li> <li>Lower dash</li> <li>Rear seat crossmember</li> <li>Other reinforcements</li> </ul>
785-1350 N/mm <sup>2</sup> (80-138kg/mm <sup>2</sup> , 114-196klb/sq in)	SP150	<ul> <li>Center pillar reinforcement (Component part)</li> <li>Outer roof side rail reinforcement (Component part)</li> </ul>

SP130 is the most commonly used HSS.

SP150 HSS is used only on parts that require much more strength.

Read the Following Precautions When Repairing HSS:

1. Additional points to consider

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

 The repair of reinforcements (such as side members) by heating is not recommended since it may weaken the component. When heating is unavoidable, do not heat HSS parts above 550°C (1,022°F).

Verify heating temperature with a thermometer.

(Crayon-type and other similar type thermometer are appropriate.)



Traction direction:

-Rear side member

N.G.

GOOD

 When straightening body panels, use caution in pulling any HSS panel. Because HSS is very strong, pulling may cause deformation in adjacent portions of the body. In this case, increase the number of measuring points, and carefully pull the HSS panel.

 When cutting HSS panels, avoid gas (torch) cutting if possible. Instead, use a saw to avoid weakening surrounding areas due to heat. If gas (torch) cutting is unavoidable, allow a minimum margin of 50 mm (1.97in).

• When welding HSS panels, use spot welding whenever possible in order to minimize weakening surrounding areas due to heat.

If spot welding is impossible, use M.I.G. welding. Do not use gas (torch) welding because it is inferior in welding strength.





Μ

А

В

D

Ε

F

Н

ΒL

J

Κ

PIIA0116E

PIIA0117E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

• The spot weld on HSS panels is harder than that of an ordinary steel panel.

Therefore, when cutting spot welds on a HSS panel, use a low speed high torque drill (1,000 to 1,200 rpm) to increase drill bit durability and facilitate the operation.



- Precautions in spot welding HSS This work should be performed under standard working conditions. Always note the following when spot welding HSS:
  - The electrode tip diameter must be sized properly according to the metal thickness.



• The panel surfaces must fit flush to each other, leaving no gaps.



• Follow the specifications for the proper welding pitch.

Thickness (t)	Minimum pitch (I)
0.6 (0.024)	10 (0.39) or over
0.8 (0.031)	12 (0.47) or over
1.0 (0.039)	18 (0.71) or over
1.2 (0.047)	20 (0.79) or over
1.6 (0.063)	27 (1.06) or over
1.8 (0.071)	31 (1.22) or over



Rear fender hemming process

- 1. A wheel arch is to be installed and hemmed over left and right outer wheel house.
- In order to hem the wheel arch, it is necessary to repair any damaged or defaced parts around outer wheel house.
   CAUTION:

#### Ensure that the area that is to be glued around outer wheelhouse is undamaged or defaced.

Procedure of the hemming process

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- · Peel off old bonding material on the surface of outer wheelhouse and clean thoroughly.
- · Peel off a primer coat in the specified area where new adhesive is to be applied on rear fender (the replacing part).
- Apply new adhesive to both specified areas of outer wheelhouse and rear fender.

#### <Adhesive> 3M automix panel bond 8115, or any equivalents

- Attach rear fender to the body of the car, and weld the required part except the hemming part.
- Bend the welded part starting from the center of the wheel arch gradually with a hammer and a dolly. (Also hem the end of the flange.)
- Hemming with a hammer is conducted to an approximate angle of 80 degrees.

 Starting from the center, hem the wheel arch gradually, using slight back and forth motion with a hemming tool.

Seal up the area around the hemmed end of the flange.

URETHANE FOAM APPLICATIONS

instructions on product for fill procedures.

Fill procedures after installation of service part.

Clean area in which foam was removed.

Remove foam material remaining on vehicle side.

Foam Repair

1.

vehicle. Use the following procedure(s) to replace any factory-installed foam insulators.



Seal up



Rear fender

11mm

Apply adhesive

20<sub>mm</sub>

The gluing area





Use commercially available spray foam for sealant (foam material) repair of material used on vehicle. Read

А В

D

F

L

Μ

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

- Install service part.
- Insert nozzle into hole near fill area and fill foam material or fill in enough to close gap with the service part.



- 2. Fill procedures before installation of service part.
- Remove foam material remaining on vehicle side.
- Clean area in which foam was removed.
- Fill foam material on wheelhouse outer side.

#### NOTE:

Fill in enough to close gap with service part while avoiding flange area.

Install service part.

#### NOTE:

Refer to label for information on working times.



#### INFOID:000000004159479

# DESCRIPTION

**Replacement Operation** 

This section is prepared for technicians who have attained a high level of skill and experience in repairing collision-damaged vehicles and also use modern service tools and equipment. Persons unfamiliar with body repair techniques should not attempt to repair collision-damaged vehicles by using this section.

Technicians are also encouraged to read Body Repair Manual (Fundamentals) in order to ensure that the original functions and quality of the vehicle can be maintained. The Body Repair Manual (Fundamentals) contains additional information, including cautions and warning, that are not including in this manual. Technicians should refer to both manuals to ensure proper repairs.

Please note that these information are prepared for worldwide usage, and as such, certain procedures might not apply in some regions or countries.

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

The symbols used in this section for cutting and welding / brazing operations are shown below.



**CAUTION:** 

A steel plate using ultra high strength steel plate is below welding with strength falling by adding heat, and not doing a limit patch.

Ρ

PIIA0149E

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >

• Front pillar butt joint can be determined anywhere within shaded area as shown in the figure. The best location for the butt joint is at position A due to the construction of the vehicle. Refer to the front pillar section.









 Determine cutting position and record distance from the locating indent. Use this distance when cutting the service part. Cut outer front pillar over 60 mm above inner front pillar cut position.

 Prepare a cutting jig to make outer pillar easier to cut. Also, this will permit service part to be accurately cut at joint position.

- An example of cutting operation using a cutting jig is as follows.
- 1. Mark cutting lines.
  - A: Cut position of outer pillar
  - B: Cut position of inner pillar
- 2. Align cutting line with notch on jig. Clamp jig to pillar.
- 3. Cut outer pillar along groove of jig. (At position A)
- 4. Remove jig and cut remaining portions.
- 5. Cut inner pillar at position B in same manner.

HOODLEDGE





- Front strut housing (LH)
- Upper front hoodledge (LH)
- Hoodledge reinforcement (LH)

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



FRONT SIDE MEMBER (2WD)

• Work after hoodledge has been removed.



Change parts

- Front side member assembly (LH)
- Front side member closing plate assembly (LH)
- Front side member outrigger assembly (LH)
- Front side member rear reinforcement (LH)



FRONT SIDE MEMBER (AWD)

• Work after hoodledge has been removed.



Change parts

- Front side member assembly (LH)
- Front side member closing plate assembly (LH)
- Front side member outrigger assembly (LH)
- Front side member rear reinforcement (LH)



FRONT SIDE MEMBER (2WD) (PARTIAL REPLACEMENT)
## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



FRONT SIDE MEMBER (AWD) (PARTIAL REPLACEMENT)

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Change parts

- Front side member front extension (RH) F
  - Front side member front closing plate (RH)

#### FRONT PILLAR

• Work after hoodledge reinforcement has been removed.



Revision: 2009 Novemver

#### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



**CENTER PILLAR** 

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Change parts

• Side body assembly (LH)

• Inner center pillar (LH)

## OUTER SILL

### < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Outer sill (LH)

•

Outer sill reinforcement (LH)

• Outer rear wheelhouse extension (LH)

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Ρ

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



**REAR FENDER** 



Change parts

• Rear fender assembly (LH)

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



**REAR PANEL** 



Change parts

• Rear panel assembly

#### REAR FLOOR REAR

• Work after rear panel has been removed.



Change parts

• Rear floor rear

Differential mounting bracket assembly

#### REAR SIDE MEMBER EXTENSION

• Work after rear panel has been removed.

## < SERVICE INFORMATION >



Change parts

• Rear side member extension (LH)